
 
 
Democratic Services Section    
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Belfast City Council 
City Hall 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS 
 
 
 
 
 
REMOTE MEETING OF CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Dear Alderman/Councillor, 

 

A meeting of the Members of the City Growth and Regeneration Committee will meet via 

Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 9th June, 2021 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the 

business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
SUZANNE WYLIE 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine Matters   
 
 (a) Apologies   

 
 (b) Chief Executive's decisions taken under Delegated Authority   

 
 (c) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Request to Present   
 
 (a) Translink, Belfast Transport Hub - Weavers Cross update  (Pages 1 - 2) 

 
3. Regenerating Places & Improving Infrastructure   
 
 (a) DfC Housing Supply Strategy: Call for Evidence  (Pages 3 - 8) 

 
 (b) A Bolder Vision Update  (Pages 9 - 12) 

 
 (c) DfI - Roads Presentation to Special Committee  (Pages 13 - 40) 

 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
- 2 - 

4. Growing Business & the Economy   
 
 (a) Sunday Opening Hours  (Pages 41 - 46) 

 
 (b) Just Eat Belfast Bikes Strategic Review  (Pages 47 - 126) 

 
 (c) Employability NI Update  (Pages 127 - 132) 

 
5. Positioning Belfast to Compete   
 
 (a) Conference Support Scheme  (Pages 133 - 138) 

 
 (b) Update on City Events Programme  (Pages 139 - 146) 

 
 (c) Update on Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor  (Pages 147 - 150) 

 
 (d) Economic Strategy Approach  (Pages 151 - 156) 

 
 (e) Renewed Ambition Programme and Social, Economic and Environmental 

Impact of Real Estate and Regeneration Investment.  (Pages 157 - 162) 
 

6. Strategic & Operational Issues   
 
 (a) Committee Plan 21-22  (Pages 163 - 180) 

 
 (b) Community Planning Update: City Development and Job, Skills and 

Economic Development Boards  (Pages 181 - 318) 
 

7. Issues Raised in Advance by Members   
 
 (a) Closure of Donegal Street for Belfast Pride (Cllr O'Hara to raise)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Request to Present - Translink, Belfast Transport Hub – Weavers 
Cross update 

 
Date: 9 June 2021 

Reporting Officer: 
 
Cathy Reynolds, Director, City Regeneration & Development 
 

 
Contact Officer: 

 
Adrian Ferguson, Development Manager  
 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Committee to receive a 

Presentation from the Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company on the Belfast 

Transport Hub and wider Weavers Cross Regeneration Scheme at its meeting on 11th 

August 2021. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority for 

Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company to present to the next meeting of the 

Committee on 11th August 2021 on the Belfast Transport Hub and the wider Weavers 

Cross Regeneration Scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2a



3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

Members may recall that Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company presented to a 

Special meeting of the City Growth and Regeneration Committee in August 2019 which 

included an update on the Belfast Transport Hub and wider Weavers Cross Regeneration 

Scheme. 

 

Members will be aware of the ongoing work to deliver the Belfast City Centre Regeneration 

and Investment Strategy (BCCRIS).  

 

The Belfast Transport Hub and wider Weavers Cross Regeneration Scheme supports the 

Belfast Agenda growth aspirations and is identified in BCCRIS as one of the key 

transformative interventions for the city centre within the Linen Quarter Special Action Area. 

DfI granted planning permission for the new integrated Transport Hub in March 2019. The 

hub forms part of the wider proposed 20 acre Weavers Cross regeneration project and is a 

flagship project prioritised by the NI Executive. The Transport Hub will become the main 

gateway for Belfast, with rail and bus connections to all parts of Northern Ireland, and the 

main rail and coach link to Dublin, with direct connections to major airports. The wider 

Weavers Cross Regeneration Scheme aims to regenerate a significant area of land 

adjoining the Transport Hub and it will be a key feature in efforts to meet the Belfast 

Agenda and BCCRIS targets.  

 

Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company are working in collaboration with the 

Department for International Trade, the Northern Ireland Strategic Investment Board and 

Invest Northern Ireland to showcase the development opportunities Weavers Cross has to 

offer. Market engagement has commenced to identify the preferred method of appointing a 

potential private sector development partner for Weavers Cross regeneration scheme, with 

an online Developer Market Day Event taking place in November 2020. NITHC have 

commenced a PAD for outline planning for mixed use development proposals at the 

Weavers Cross Regeneration Scheme and would like to attend the next meeting of the 

Committee on 11th August 2021 in order update Members on its proposals. 

3.5 Financial & Resource Implications 

None 

3.6 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None  

4.0 Appendices - Documents attached  

 None 

 

Page 2



 

 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Subject: DfC Housing Supply Strategy – ‘Call for Evidence’  

   

Date:  9th June 2021 

 

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director, City Regeneration & Development 

 

Contact Officer: 

Adrian Ferguson, Development Manager 

 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes 
 

No 
 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision  
 

  

After Council Decision  
 

  

Sometime in the future  
 

  

Never  
 

  

     

 

Call-in     

 

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  

 

Yes 
 

No 
 

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members of a DfC Housing ‘Call for Evidence’ 

exercise that has recently been launched to gather evidence, data and views on a wide 

range of high level issues to in developing a Housing Supply Strategy. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

 Agree that officers develop initial responses to the questions posed in the recent 

Housing Supply Strategy: Call for Evidence document that has been launched by DfC 

 Agree that the draft response will subsequently be brought via Party Group Leaders 

given the closing date of 16 July for responses, with the final response brought back 

retrospectively to CGR Committee in August. 

 Note the ongoing work in respect of the city-wide strategic site assessment work and 

the proposal for a collaborative approach via the Community Planning Partnership City 

Development Board for a focused cross agency Delivery Group to co-ordinate the 

identification and collation of information on public sector lands suitable for housing 

development.  

3.0 Main Report 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Supply Strategy: Call for Evidence 

Members will be aware that the Communities Minister announced in her statement to the 

Assembly on 3rd November 2020 that officials were to commence work on the 

development of a fundamental Housing Supply Strategy (HSS), as a key part of the 

housing programme to help meet Programme for Government commitments to reduce 

housing stress and increase housing supply.  

 

On 19th May 2021, the Minister launched a public Call for Evidence to inform this new 

Housing Supply Strategy. A link to the Call for Evidence document is enclosed at Appendix 

1.  

 

It is intended that the Housing Supply Strategy will provide a framework for delivery of the 

right volume and types of homes to meet changing patterns of demand, in the context of 

societal, environmental, and demographic change, and deliver on objective housing need.  

 

The following objectives of the Housing Supply Strategy have been identified: 

- Increase housing supply and affordable options across all tenures to meet current and 

future demand; 

- Reduce housing stress, homelessness and improve housing solutions for the most 

vulnerable; 

- Improve housing quality and sustainability; 

- Ensure the provision of housing options that contribute to the building and maintaining 

of thriving and inclusive communities; and 

Page 4



 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

- Support the transition to carbon neutrality by reducing whole-life carbon emissions from 

both new homes and existing homes. 

 

In total the project is to be delivered in six phases as follows: 

Phase 1 - Pre-development work (completed) 

Phase 2 - Call for Evidence and Research Review 

Phase 3 - Engagement  

Phase 4 - Data synthesis  

Phase 5 - Triangulation of Evidence/Policy Options 

Phase 6 - Consultation on Draft Housing Supply Strategy  

 

This second and current stage of the Call for Evidence process involves the gathering of 

robust evidence and views along with the identification of data gaps to assist in developing 

the direction of a Housing Supply Strategy. The Call for Evidence document considers a 

‘whole system’ approach and sets out a number of questions across the theme of supply 

including land, planning and finance etc; place shaping; building communities; equality; 

poverty; climate change and sustainability; skills; innovation etc. 

 

There is an 8 week consultation period with a closing date of 16th July 2021. It is open for 

anyone to respond with responses sought from a wide range of bodies both from within the 

housing and related sectors and more generally across society. A series of online 

workshops are also to run throughout the duration of the consultation.  

 

Subject to Member’s agreement, it is proposed that officers develop draft responses to the 

questions posed in the document and given that there are no July Committees, it is 

proposed that the draft response is brought via Party Group Leaders at a date to be 

confirmed. A final copy of the response will be brought back retrospectively to August 

CG&R  Committee. Members can of course separately make their own submissions. In 

addition, it is understood that DfC intend to work with NILGA to organise information 

sessions for Members and Council Officers as appropriate. 

 

City Wide Strategic Site Assessments 

Aligned with the Department’s work in developing a Housing Supply Strategy, Members will 

be aware that officers have been undertaking work to develop an approach for city wide 

strategic site assessments of public sector lands that may be suitable for housing. To date 

this work has included the collation of various data sets and the mapping of BCC lands, 

Page 5



 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

together with DfC and NIHE lands and an analysis of this as against the LDP Urban 

Capacity Study which identifies potential housing sites across the city. This has been 

further considered in the context of the annual Housing Monitor which includes residential 

planning approvals and sites zoned for housing or identified in the Urban Capacity Study.      

 

In addition, officers have been linking in with LPS who are undertaking a comprehensive 

Government Land & Property Register exercise to map and record all public sector lands 

across the province. Officers have also been working closely with NIHE to coalesce around 

site identification that they have been undertaking. DfC are also actively looking at lands 

suitable for housing development, including the potential for compulsory acquisition, and 

again officers have been liaising closely with DfC on this. Members will be aware that the 

recent Development Brief process for the city centre INW lands involved a joint BCC/DfC 

approach involving lands in the ownership of BCC and DfC – and potential for further joint 

working and site identification at other locations is being progressed.   

 

Whilst undertaking this city-wide strategic site assessment work it has however become 

apparent of the need to co-ordinate with various parties given the parallel work being 

undertaken by LPS, DfC, NIHE and other bodies, in order to avoid duplication of effort.  

Aside from the public sector led exercises there is other similar work being progressed by 

third parties including for example a ‘Gentle Densities Mapping’ exercise via QUB.   

 

It must be highlighted however that mapping of land ownership and site identification on its 

own does not necessarily translate into lands that are suitable for housing development.    

There are a number of additional factors to be considered including access, ground 

conditions, title restrictions, potential for additional site assembly to scale up development 

etc. All of these would need to be considered on a site by site basis.   

 

Members are aware that housing led regeneration has been identified as one of the 

priorities of the recently restructured Community Planning Partnership: City Development 

Board. A separate report is going to this Committee with a summary in relation to the 

recent Board. This includes a brief update in relation to a subsequent agreement with the 

NIHE Chief Executive that a delivery task and finish subgroup would bring forward a 

collaborative approach to the collation and identification of public sector lands for housing. 

Given the synergies with work underway by other CPP partners and the linkages across 

community planning it is felt this approach will maximise efforts across partners and build 

on the body of work that officers have progressed to date, alongside the work being 

Page 6



 

 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

3.17 

separately undertaken by LPS, NIHE and DfC. It is proposed that this delivery group 

includes representation from BCC, NIHE, DfC, LPS and would be co-ordinated through 

governance of the Community Planning Partnership – City Development Board.  NIHE 

have volunteered to chair this delivery group.   

 

Co-ordination of this work will help to create momentum and focus with partners that can 

seek to unlock greater potential through evaluation of specific sites and land assembly that 

maximises opportunities and delivers better overall outcomes, for example in terms of 

housing mix, health & wellbeing, employment, skills, energy efficiency. 

 

This work will also be very useful to inform the wider Housing Supply Strategy work as 

referenced above.   

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

There are no finance or resource implications associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no Equality, Good Relations or Rural Needs implications associated with this 

report. 

4.0 Appendices  

 Housing Supply Strategy – ‘Call for Evidence’ consultation document 

https://www.communities-ni.gov.uk/consultations/consultation-new-housing-supply-

strategy-call-evidence 

 

Page 7

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/DajZCVQNXHxpJlgIGVBIX?domain=communities-ni.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/DajZCVQNXHxpJlgIGVBIX?domain=communities-ni.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: A Bolder Vision Update  

 
Date: 9 June 2021 

Reporting Officer: 
 
Cathy Reynolds, Director, City Regeneration & Development 
 

 
Contact Officer: 

 
Callie Persic, Connectivity Programme Lead  
 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 To update Members on the progress of the next Phases of A Bolder Vision, City Centre 

Connectivity Study, including programme timeline, key milestones and activities.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

 Note the appointment of a multi-disciplinary team and the timeline for the 

development of Phases 2 and 3 of the Bolder Vision Connectivity Study for Belfast. 

This work will include co-design workshops, the development of scenarios and 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3b



interventions to bring forward the principles of the Bolder Vision, and the 

completion of the draft Strategy for public consultation in the autumn of 2021.  

 Note that Members will be invited to engage in the Stakeholder and Planning 

Workshops as outlined within this report.  

3.0 Main report 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background 

The CG&R Committee have received regular updates and provided approvals relating to 

the progression of the next phases of A Bolder Vision City Centre Connectivity Study. At 

the CG&R Committee in April 2021 Members received an update on the completion of a 

tender completion process that resulted in the appointment of a multidisciplinary team, led 

by the Jacobs Belfast office.   

 

Members will recall that the Phase 1 work, A Bolder Vision for Belfast, was ratified by 

Council in March 2020 and subsequently approved by the DfC and DfI Ministers.  The 

Vision is ambitious and transformational and involves a fundamental rethink of how streets 

and places are used to make them attractive, inclusive, accessible, healthy, and vibrant 

places. There were four agreed Visioning Principles to inform future city centre 

development and infrastructure delivery.  

 Creating a healthy, shared, vibrant and sustainable environment that promotes well-

being for all, inclusive growth and innovation   

 Fundamentally changing the centre of Belfast to prioritise integrated walking, 

cycling and public transport and end the dominance of the car 

 Providing lively, safe, and green streets linking inclusive shared spaces to promote 

resilience and enhance our built heritage  

 Removing severance and barriers to movement between the centre of Belfast and 

the surrounding communities to improve access for all  

 

The increased emphasis on public health and well-being, access to quality open space, 

sustainable transport and connections to services and access to amenities are key issues 

that came to the fore throughout COVID. There is an urgency therefore to respond to this 

changing landscape and it is intended that the next Phases of the Study will seek to seize 

these new opportunities and changes in public policy and citizen behaviours that will help 

drive change and enable the diversification of the city centre.   

 

Page 10



3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

Phases 2 and 3 of the Study will roll out over the next 12 months. Initial work is underway 

for Phase 2 which will take place between May-September 2021 and will create the 

documentation for the public consultation in Phase 3.  Key outputs in Phase 2 consist of: 

 Baseline and Vision Review; Benchmarking  

 Stakeholder Engagement and Public Awareness Communications Plan  

 Scenario planning and development of interventions, including the development of a 

multi-criteria assessment framework to assess the scenarios and the initial 

identification of short, medium and long tern interventions for our streets and places  

 Draft Monitoring Strategy, Business Case and Strategic Environmental Assessment 

 Draft Strategy for public consultation 

 

The scenario planning will help prioritise and align major infrastructure projects and identify 

packages of potential initiatives that will continue the re-imagination streets and spaces in 

the short term and support longer term changes. The scenario planning will look at our 

current infrastructure networks, and test methods for better use of these spaces in line with 

the emerging diversification of the City Centre and the Future City Centre Programme. This 

will include provision for access and service requirements, for public transportation, 

improved connections to communities, and developing a more sustainable streetscape for 

pedestrians, cycles, residents and visitors while addressing issues related to the 

dominance of road space.  

 

In advance of the public consultation, there will be focused co-design sessions consisting 

of a Visioning workshop and thematic workshops with cross-sector stakeholders including 

Council Members between mid-June to mid-July to shape the scenarios and interventions. 

Members will be notified as dates for these are confirmed. The purpose of these initial 

sessions is to shape the draft Strategy document prior to the public consultation in the 

autumn. This early engagement may take a hybrid approach and take place online via an 

interactive platform, such as Mural or via webinars and Virtual Rooms.  Subject to COVID 

guidelines, there may also be the opportunity to hold face-to-face sessions that are pre-

booked and will consist of a blend of virtual information and in-person interaction.   

 

A Stakeholder Engagement and Public Awareness Communication Plan is being 

developed and will be supported by both the Jacobs team and BCC, DfC and DfI Corporate 

Communications. Plans are underway for a shared launch of the Study that will take place 

in the coming weeks and will highlight the cooperative approach among BCC, DfI and DfC 

Page 11



 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

in setting out the need and the ambition for change, as well as setting out a timeline, 

including when the public consultation period will begin. 

 

This work will link in with key Council strategies including the Resilience Strategy, the 

Cultural Strategy and the Clean, Green, Inclusive and Safe Programme as well as major 

capital programmes including the Belfast Streets Ahead, Belfast Rapid Transport Phase 2, 

and the Junctions Improvements work strands to ensure an holistic approach to addressing 

our issues through adequate infrastructure planning and provision. It will also consider 

major development planned for the city centre, as well as the criticality of connections with 

communities. 

 

Phase 3 is scheduled to take place between September 2021-May 2022 and the key 

activity is the 12-week public consultation programme which is envisaged to take place 

between September-December 2021. An update report will be presented to Committee in 

advance of the public consultation that will set out key dates and activities. Following the 

consultation programme the final Strategy and Delivery Plan, Monitoring Strategy and 

Business Case will be completed and presented to Committee and to the DfC and DfI 

Ministers for approval.  

3.10 Financial & Resource Implications 

None directly associated with this report.  

3.11 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None associated with the report, however, an EQIA Screening will be carried out on the 

Strategy. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 N/A 

 

Page 12



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH & REGENERATION COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: DfI – Roads Presentation to Special CGR Committee 

 
Date: 9th June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration & Development  

 
Contact Officer: 

Martin O’Neill, Regeneration Project Officer, City Regeneration & 
Development  

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1  

 

  

To provide a brief update to Members in advance of the DfI Spring 2021 Update 

presentation to the CG&R Committee which will be delivered to the Special Meeting of the 

CG&R Committee on the 23rd June 2021. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1   The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

1) Note the issues raised at the previous Committee in May, as well as in previous 

committees, that Members wish DfI representatives to address or respond to 





 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3c



during, or in advance of, the Department’s attendance at Special Committee on 

23rd June; and,  

2) Note that a letter has been issued to the Minister for Infrastructure setting out a list 

of issues and requests that Members had asked to be addressed or responded to 

during, or in advance of, the Department’s attendance at Special Committee on 

23rd June. 

3.0 Main report 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background  

At the May 2021 Meeting of the City Growth & Regeneration Committee, Members 

received a report entitled ‘Request to Present - Department for Infrastructure and 

Translink’. DfI (Roads) had contacted the Council to seek a date to present their Spring 

2021 update to Members at a Special Meeting, currently scheduled for Wednesday, 23rd 

June.  

 

Key Issues 

At the meeting of the City Growth & Regeneration Committee on 12th May, Members 

agreed to receive the presentations from DfI and Translink, and agreed to write to the 

Minister to pick up the following points ahead of the presentations:  

 

York Street Interchange Independent Assurance Review.  

Members requested that the Minister forward a copy of the Independent Assurance 

Review Report for dissemination to Members and to also advise on opportunities for the 

Council to contribute to the implementation of the review recommendations. 

 

Safe Cycle Network;  

At the meeting of the 12th May Members were provided with correspondence from the DfI 

Eastern Division Manager providing details of the total meterage of cycle lane provision 

installed by the Department since 2016. In response to this Members agreed to write to 

the Minister to: 

 Convey that Belfast is missing a key opportunity given the total meterage of pop-up 

cycle lanes delivered during the pandemic at a time when other cities were making 

significant strides in capturing & seizing the uptake and shift in travel patterns.  

The Committee called for an enhanced programme of safe cycling infrastructure, 

including pop-up provision to be brought forward at pace, while simultaneously 

ensuring that local issues and requirements are captured and incorporated within the 

design process; 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Request that DfI provide their presentation & details of discussion in advance of the 

Special Committee; 

 Request that DfI have to hand for the Committee the relevant data, including the total 

meterage of safe cycle network delivered since 2016, and information on the planned 

roll out of future schemes; 

 Request the attendance of Liz Loughran & Andrew Grieve at the Special Committee 

in anticipation of questions from Members on Walking and Cycling infrastructure 

provision; 

 Request an update on the current status of e-scooter legislation.  

 

It should also be noted that the draft Belfast Cycling Network is due for finalisation in the 

near future. Member discussions on the 12th May raised various concerns regarding the 

current lack of provision of adequate cycling provision, particularly in North and West 

Belfast, but also across large sections of East and South Belfast. Outstanding queries 

remain in relation to the finalisation of the Belfast Cycling Network, along with the 

proposed capital expenditure and prioritisation of the Cycling Network. 

 

In March 2021 the CG&R Committee agreed to receive a future presentation on the 

emerging Belfast Rapid Transport (BRT) Phase 2 proposals. Members raised issues 

relating to the safety of cycling provision in Bus Lanes and requested that the BRT 

presentation includes an update on how the Belfast Cycling Network will be incorporated 

or impacted by the BRT Phase 2 proposals.  

 

Junctions Working Group Update 

At previous meetings of the CG&R Committee Members were provided with updates on 

the status of the DfC led Junctions Working Group. This group, which includes 

membership from DfI, DfC, BCC, University of Ulster, Translink and North Belfast 

Community Representation has overseen the concept design work of key Inner Ring 

Junctions including Fredrick St/Great Patrick St Junction, the Clifton Gateway and the 

Shankill Gateway. Although these schemes are at Concept Design Stage a number of 

significant improvements have been in made in terms of ensuring alignment with the 

Principles of the Bolder Vision for Belfast, including improving connections to communities 

and providing better place-making and Sustainable and Active Travel provision while 

ensuring adequate provision for the road network through a co-designed infrastructure 

provision. The impetus remains with the DfI and DfC to bring these schemes forward to 

detailed design and delivery stage as a matter of priority. 

Page 15



3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DfC Covid-19 Revitalisation Programme 

The CG&R Committee have received regular updates on the DfC Covid-19 Revitalisation 

Programme through 2020 & 2021. These updates provided details of significant areas of 

collaborative work with DfI to bring forward innovative and transformational projects 

across the city centre to encourage a safe reopening of the city centre aimed at 

supporting the retail and hospitality sectors, while addressing and challenging how we 

better use our public spaces to enhance safety and cleanliness, to attract visitors and 

investors and to support our Future City Centre Programme. While this work has 

developed collaboratively with the Department the focus needs to remain on ensuring 

delivery of the agreed schemes within the timelines set out within the funding agreement. 

To ensure the achievement of the end of September 2021 deadline, and critically to 

support the reopening of the city centre, these outstanding actions include: 

 Delivery of the necessary legislation and permits / license for works at Castle 

Place, Adelaide St, Linenhall St, Union St, Bedford St, Church Lane and 

Brunswick St; 

 Delivery of the agreed Civils works at Castle Place, Adelaide St & Brunswick St 

 

Maintenance of the Existing Public Realm  

Council officers have previously raised with DfI and DfC on various occasions the issue of 

the standard of reinstatement of the public realm following utilities and maintenance 

works. Increasingly these works are not reinstated to the agreed specification or 

reinstated to match the existing surfacing in the area, but rather are patched with 

tarmacadam with little control or post works inspections. This approach has led to a 

gradual degradation of our public spaces and has a significant impact on the overall 

attractiveness of the city centre.  

 

By way of example, Council also received recent correspondence from businesses within 

the Cathedral Quarter area following a recent audit which identified over 80 reinstatement 

patches that were completed in tarmacadam as included within Appendix 1 of this report. 

As highlighted in the correspondence received, this standard of reinstatement is in 

contrary to the cobbleset reinstatement which provides a unique character to an area with 

significant cultural and heritage value for the city. Members are asked to note the impact 

that this approach has on the overall attractiveness of the city centre and the need for 

better curation of the city’s assets.  

 

 

Page 16



3.11 Financial & Resource Implications 

There are no finance or resource implications associated with this report. 

3.12 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no Equality, Good Relations or Rural Needs implications associated with this 

report. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 Appendix 1 Letter re. Cathedral Quarter Public Realm defects & condition survey  

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Sunday opening hours for large retailers 
 
Date: 9 June 2021  

 
Reporting Officer: Alistair Reid, Strategic Director, Place and Economy 

 
Contact Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an update to members on feedback from businesses 

regarding the March 2021 decision by this Committee to support extended Sunday opening 

hours.  That decision was subject to relevant Northern Ireland Executive guidance and was 

to operate on a temporary basis, to be reviewed on 5th July 2021, as part of the efforts to 

manage shopper volume and support social distancing. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercises her delegated authority to:  

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4a



 Approve a request from city business organisations to extend the current approach 

to Sunday opening for large retailers until 5 September 2021 in order to allow the 

businesses to bed in the operating restrictions following the re-opening and to re-

establish the vitality of the city centre, given the shorter opening hours on a Sunday. 

 Or alternatively: 

 Reject the request from city business organisations, and cease the current relaxation 

for large retailers regarding Sunday trading on the 5th July 2021 as per the standing 

council decision. 

 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

At its meeting on 3 March 2021, the City Growth and Regeneration Committee agreed a 

request from large retailers to support extended Sunday opening hours (in line with Northern 

Ireland Executive guidance) on a temporary basis, to 5 July 2021, as part of the efforts to 

manage shopper volume and support social distancing.  The committee asked that officers 

consult with Trade Unions, retail organisations and relevant stakeholders on the matter and 

report back on findings at the April meeting of the Committee.  

 

Following the March meeting, officers sought to engage with a range of stakeholders 

including representatives from USDAW, Retail NI, Northern Ireland Retail Consortium, 

Belfast Chamber, BCCM, Destination CQ BID, Linen Quarter BID, Belfast One BID, Victoria 

Square, CastleCourt Shopping Centre, the Kennedy Centre, Sainsbury, Tesco and Lidl.   

 

Each of the BID representatives welcomed the temporary extension of additional opening 

hours on a Sunday.  They noted that, with the increased footfall patterns over the last re-

opening, extended hours had a positive impact on smoothing out potential peaks and troughs 

at specific pinch points across the city.  The BIDs viewed the extended opening hours as just 

one of a number of interventions that will be needed to address the 80% drop in footfall that 

the city centre has experienced over the last year.  They were supportive of additional 

investment including targeted promotional campaigns, focusing on shop safe messaging and 

encouraging visitors to avoid the traditional peak trading hours in order to ensure that they 

have a pleasant experience of the city centre and its unique offer. 

 

The large retailers and shopping centres including CastleCourt, Victoria Square and the 

Kennedy Centre were also supportive of the decision, noting that the extension supports 

demand management and avoids any queuing at 1pm.  They also offered customer 

feedback, suggesting that shoppers feel safe and comfortable to visit the retail outlets at a 

Page 42



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

quieter time and that the extended trading hours on a Sunday make this possible.  The 

Northern Ireland Retail Consortium’s view was that the extension is needed while the 

lockdown and the effects of the pandemic continue in order to enable social distancing and 

to keep shoppers and staff safe. Their view was that, in the busiest stores, this makes a huge 

difference while making a noticeable difference in all retail premises that avail of the extended 

operating hours.  

 

The response from USDAW confirmed that, while they have been understanding and 

pragmatic around the decisions that local authorities have taken regarding the enforcement 

of Sunday trading restrictions, their opposition to extended Sunday trading hours has not 

changed.  They feel that it does not offer businesses any real benefits and that it has a 

detrimental impact on retail workers, their families and their local communities. USDAW 

considers that social distancing in stores can be best supported by putting in measures such 

as queuing systems, and deploying marshals to direct and support customers and that longer 

opening hours on Sundays are not the solution to keeping shops safe.  

 

Members will be aware that, in line with the Northern Ireland Executive’s approach as set out 

in the document “Moving Forward: the Executive’s Pathway out of Restrictions”, all non-

essential retail was permitted to open from 30 April 2021, with indoor hospitality permitted 

from 24 May 2021.  While most businesses are now operational, they are still required to put 

in place additional measures to support social distancing and manage the spread of the virus.  

These include mandatory wearing of face coverings, tracking and tracing hospitality 

customers, limits on in-store numbers and social distancing measures to be introduced and 

managed.  The businesses have had to invest quite significantly to ensure compliance 

including additional staffing to oversee compliance and additional equipment and materials 

to provide an enhanced cleansing regime.  In line with the pathway and in keeping with 

current guidance, it is likely that restrictions on capacity within retail and services will remain 

in place for some time in order to maintain some level of social distancing in indoor premises.     

 

While footfall in the city centre had dropped significantly during lockdown, recent reports 

suggest that the weekend days – Saturdays and Sundays in particular – have seen increases 

in footfall when compared to pre-pandemic figures.  As set out in the report on city events, 

footfall earlier in the week has been slower in bouncing back.   

 

In line with the re-opening of retail and hospitality, officers have again had some preliminary 

engagement with businesses and business representative organisations.  Many have 

Page 43



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

3.13 

expressed their support for a continuation of the current approach.  The purpose for this was 

not so much about driving footfall in the first instance, but rather about smoothing out peaks 

and reducing the need for queues.  There is a view from businesses that the move has, 

overall, boosted trade.  BID One has capitalised on the additional opening hours by delivering 

a “Sundays in the City” digital media campaign which draws attention to the extended 

opening hours and the range of services and activities available, and encourages people to 

come into the city centre early on a Sunday to avoid queues and large crowds.  Translink 

have also indicated that they have seen a significant and sustained increase in public 

transport use into the city centre on a Sunday morning.  Given how recent the re-opening 

has been, officers have not yet completed a full consultation exercise on re-opening but 

further engagement with relevant parties can be undertaken in the coming weeks to secure 

a more rounded perspective on the impact of the current council decision and any potential 

extension to this. 

 

Officers are also seeking to build a picture of the plans that other councils may have in place 

to proceed with non-enforcement of the current Sunday trading rules on a temporary basis.  

We are aware that, currently, a number of councils – including those adjacent to Belfast 

(Antrim and Newtownabbey Borough Council and Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council) - 

are not enforcing the current Sunday trading rules.  Derry City and Strabane District Council 

and Newry, Mourne and Down District Council have also confirmed that they are not 

enforcing the current Sunday trading rules at this point. 

 

An initial request from the business organisations has been made to extend the current 

approach until the end of the Summer in order to allow the businesses to bed in the operating 

restrictions following the re-opening and to re-establish the vitality of the city centre, given 

the shorter opening hours on a Sunday.  This would involve extending the current approach 

until 5 September 2021.   

 

We understand that the current restrictions on Sunday opening times do not have an impact 

on home deliveries. This means that retailers can carry out deliveries outside of the standard 

Sunday opening hours (1pm-6pm).   

  

Financial & Resource Implications 

No specific financial or resource implications for council. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

Page 44



 

 

No specific equality implications. 

 

4.0 Appendices 

 N/A. 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH & REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Just Eat Belfast Bikes Strategic Review  

 
Date: 9 June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development  

 
Contact Officer: Eimear Henry, Senior Manager, Culture and Tourism 

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 To update Members on the outcomes of the Belfast Bikes strategic review process and 

provide a summary of the main recommendations. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercises her delegated authority to:  

- Approve the recommendations from the strategic review and priority actions 

including proposed phased expansion of docking stations. Specifically, 8 docking 

stations in 2022 and seven in 2023.  

 

 

 

 

 

x  

x 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4b



- Agree in principle to the recommended expansion and recommend that the 

associated £525k investment is considered as part the year end finance report 

which is due to be considered at the next meeting of the Strategic Policy & 

Resources Committee. 

- Note the update of the Just Eat Belfast Bikes performance for Year 6 as outlined 

in Appendix D. 

 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2  

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The scheme was launched in 2015 as part Belfast City Council’s physical investment 

programme. The Department for Regional Development provided initial capital funding for 

the scheme as part of their Active Travel Demonstration Projects budget. The scheme 

launched with a network of 30 docking stations and 300 bikes. The scheme has been 

operated by NSL continually since inception using bikes and supporting infrastructure from 

Nextbike GmbH.  The scheme currently operates with 400 bikes and 48 docking stations. 

 

Performance 

A breakdown of historic rental and associated revenue is contained at Appendix D. In 

summary the Belfast Bikes had 65,000 rentals in the financial year 20/21, 137,000 in F/Y 

19/20 and 180,000 in F/Y 18/19. Members may be aware that in March 2021 the Belfast 

Bikes had a record month with 28,903 rentals.  Rental forecast for May is 18,491 based on 

daily average. 

 

Members will be aware that City Growth and Regeneration Committee agreed to undertake 

a comprehensive strategic review of the Just Eat Belfast Bikes scheme and make 

recommendations for the future management, operation and potential expansion of the 

scheme. Intelligent Transport Services were commissioned in May 2019 to carry out the 

strategic review of the scheme and a summary of the methodology is outlined below. 

 

Stages  Methodology & Approach  

Assessment of 
the current 
network 

Detailed analysis of the current scale, coverage and density of the network. 
Factors to be considered: 

 Station Location; 

 Usage of each station – Rentals and returns;  

 Capacity of the station too big or too small;  

 Network of stations (distance between stations); 

 Access to quality bicycle infrastructure; 

 Customer and operational feedback;  

 Contribution to the Belfast Agenda objectives. 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

Review of the 
Scheme 
Objectives 

The review will carry out analysis to measure if the scheme is meeting the 
objectives set at project initiation.  

Review of 
operations  
 

The review will consider the following: 

 The current operation and management system;  

 Distribution and maintenance activities;  

 Infrastructure specification – terminals, bikes and docking points;   

 Security and vandalism including innovation in security and asset 
tracking;  

 Marketing of the scheme; and  

 App / website.  
 

Future Expansion  
 

The review will consider: 

 Existing scheme coverage and identify options for potential expansion  

 Risks and barriers to expansion  

 A business model for any future expansion (capital and revenue) 
 
Production of a prioritised, fully costed and phased expansion plan based 
on an assessment of options. 
 

Financial 
sustainability 

 A review of the procurement options for sponsorship and advertising in 
order to maximise income and streamline the process;  

 Review of the subscription and/or usage fees; 

 Consider alternative revenue sources - public funds & private 
investment;  

 Marketing of the scheme to promote growth in membership and usage. 

 

 

Active Travel Infrastructure 

The consultant made several recommendations regarding the prioritisation of certain routes 

contained in Draft Belfast Bicycle Network Strategy that was published for consultation in 

January 2017. These are. 

- Route 6 - CASTLE JUNCTION (BELFAST) TO WHITEROCK ROAD 

(BELFAST) – 5.5KM; AND SHAW’S ROAD (BELFAST) – 7.7KM 

- Route 7 - CASTLE JUNCTION (BELFAST) TO FORTHRIVER ROAD 

(BELFAST) – 4.5KM; AND BALLYSILLAN ROAD (4.5KM) 

- Route 8 - CITY HALL (BELFAST) TO GRAY’S LANE (BELFAST) – 6.3KM; AND 

WHITEABBEY (NEWTOWNABBEY) – 10KM. 

 

Members will be aware that the Belfast Bicycle Network Strategy has not been finalised 

yet. 

 

Page 49



3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

In May 2017 the Council agreed a response to the DFI consultation on the Draft Belfast 

Bicycle Network Strategy, this response is contained at Appendix C. In summary Council 

agreed, 

` The Council would request consideration is given to including a number of the main 

arterial route in city which service high density residential areas as part of the primary 

network. In particular, the Lisburn and Ormeau Roads suffer from heavy traffic 

congestion and the opportunity to develop high quality cycle infrastructure along these 

routes to encourage modal shift is paramount. In addition, the south and north of the 

city will not benefit from the Phase 1 of Belfast Rapid Transit therefore, it is considered 

that priority should be given to promoting other sustainable modes such as walking 

and cycling routes. 

 

The Council would also propose the creation of a community greenway to the south 

west of the City from the City Centre along the M1 Motorway to connect with the 

Lagan Towpath and Sir Thomas and Lady Dixon Park. The proposed southern arm of 

the West Route extends from the Bog Meadows along the M1 motorway to Kennedy 

Way where it then travels west towards Andersonstown Leisure Centre. It is 

suggested that a new community greenway is developed so the route continues south 

alongside the motorway to connect with the Lagan Towpath.’ 

 

Stakeholder engagement and a public survey was carried out in August/September 2019 

and an elected member’s workshop was held on the 27th August 2019. Further 

engagement with Members on the outcomes of the review were scheduled for March 2020 

but were cancelled due to the Covid 19 lockdown.  

The scope of the review considered the following steps: 

- Assessment of the current network 

- Review of scheme objectives 

- Review of operations 

- Future expansion 

- Financial sustainability. 

 

Key Findings  

Assessment of the current network  

The main findings from the assessment of the current network are as follows: 

- The scheme is generally meeting expectations of users, however the reliability of 

the service and maintenance of bikes are not considered consistent. 

Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Network coverage is an issue for existing and potentially new users. There are 

gaps in the network and demand for expansion of the scheme is supported by the 

public survey and through elected member/stakeholder consultation. 

- Some stations experience low usage particularly in some parts of the north, west 

and east of the city. Developing a safe, convenient, and coherent cycling 

infrastructure should be a priority along with cycle promotion activities in these 

areas. Further detail of usage by station is available within the appended Strategic 

Review.  

- Low usage of stations may also be a result of an unsuitable location and should be 

considered for relocation or a reduction in size.  

- Vandalism is a widespread issue and various actions are proposed to tackle the 

issue such as CCTV, station relocation and continued PSNI/Community 

engagement.  Detail of the cost of vandalism is contained within Appendix E. 

 

Review of scheme objectives  

The review concluded that the scheme was generally meeting objectives offering a low 

cost, sustainable option for travel in the city. However, there is a need to expand the 

network and promote cycling to ensure social inclusion and equality throughout the city. 

This must be considered as part of a wider active travel approach including supporting 

infrastructure. 

 

Review of operations 

- The general set up of operational facilities is good and is large enough to allow 

scheme expansion.  

- The maintenance of the bikes and docking stations is a major issue that needs to 

be addressed. At the time of the review, most of the bikes had been in service for 

over 5 years with investment in new stock required. Additional investment in stock 

has been made over the last 12 months.  

- Distribution of the bikes in the system needs to be improved, however it is 

recognised that this is difficult to achieve during peak hour traffic congestion.  

- Consideration should be given to newer technology and security improvements 

from Nextbike to ensure infrastructure and user experience can be improved in the 

future. Members will be aware that our bike stock was recently replaced via DfI 

funding. 

Page 51



 

 

 

 

3.12  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Potentially explore a change to how the scheme is operated on the ground (such as 

floating bike engineer who could maintain bikes/stations in a more flexible way; for 

example in cooperation with local social enterprises) 

 

Future expansion 

The expansion of the scheme and its findings are the result of extensive stakeholder 

engagement, public survey and engagement with elected members. A summary of findings 

is below. 

- There are gaps in the network along arterial routes and local centres in the North, 

West, South and East of the city. Investment in new stations should be carried out 

to increase network coverage and ensure social inclusion.  

- Additional capacity is needed in the northern section of the city centre to service 

the new Belfast UU campus and the Tribeca development and in the east to 

service the Sirocco development. This should be funded through developer 

contributions. 

- An assessment of the current network identified a number of existing stations 

which are under used and should be either relocated or reduced in size and used 

for expansion of new stations.  

- Requests have been made from neighbouring councils and expansion into 

adjoining areas should be considered through partnership funding.  

 

A recommendation is also made within the report relating to a matrix for the selection of 

new docking stations. The criteria for contained within the Site Expansion Matrix are 

detailed below. 

- Employment Destinations 

- Residential 

- Public Transport 

- Public Amenities 

- Resident Requests 

- Existing Usage at nearby stations 

- Gaps in Network 

- Survey Feedback 

- Cycle Infrastructure 

- Land that is either owned or managed by Belfast City Council or where express 

permission to situate a biking dock in already in place. 

 

Page 52



3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A summary of future expansion, potential relocations and complementary measures are 

outlined by area and included below. Areas for expansion have been selected by 

identifying gaps in the network along with feedback from the public survey and elected 

member/stakeholder consultation. Further work will be needed to determine exact locations 

and consider those against the Site Expansion Matrix and it is proposed that this should be 

discussed and agreed through the Area Working Groups meetings. These proposals have 

been phased over a two-year period to take account of the significant lead time and 

resource requirement required for an expansion. The costs are based on analogous 

estimates from our previous expansions of the network. In some instances, site specific 

conditions can result in savings or additional expense. The cost of relocating docking 

stations is approximately £5,000, again this is subject to site specific variations. If docking 

stations can be relocated from low use areas this will result in significant savings.  

 

Members will also be aware that at is meeting on 12th May 2021 it was agreed that an 

additional four Belfast bikes docking stations would be deployed using DFI Active Travel 

funding. This expansion highlighted the following four sites 

- Antrim Road, Waterworks 

- Lisnasharragh Leisure Centre 

- Olympia Leisure Centre 

- Kennedy Shopping Centre, 

 

Expansion – Timetable & Costs 

North  

There are currently four stations servicing the area located at Carlisle Circus, Mater 

Hospital, Girdwood community hub and Duncairn Centre.  

New stations - It is proposed to expand the scheme to locate new stations along the Antrim 

Road, Shore Road, York Gate shopping Centre and the Duncrue estate. Translink have 

also been asked to include a new station as part of the York Street station redevelopment.  

Phasing 

- 2022 Yorkgate, Shore Road  

- 2023 Antrim Road, Duncrue 

Costing (North) 

Year Capital Revenue Total 

2022 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

2023 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

 

Page 53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Relocation of station - The station at Girdwood Hub has very low usage and high levels of 

vandalism. It is proposed that the station is relocated to one of the main arterial routes in 

the area.  

Complementary Measures - There are also a number of stations in the area which have 

relatively low use therefore it is essential to develop safe, convenient and coherent cycling 

infrastructure as a priority such as Route 8 (identified in the draft Belfast Bicycle Network 

Plan) along with cycle promotion activities in these areas.  

 

West  

There are currently four stations serving the west located at Servia Street, Twin Spires, 

Royal Hospital (Broadway entrance) and the Shankill Leisure Centre. 

New Stations - It is proposed to expand the scheme to locate new stations along the Falls 

Road (St Marys College/Culturlann), Andersonstown Road, Springfield Road, Whiterock 

Road and Shankill Road/Woodvale Road.  

Phasing 

2022 – St. Mary’s College, Shankill Road 

2023 – Springfield Road, Whiterock Road 

Costing (West) 

Year Capital Revenue Total 

2022 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

2023 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

 

Relocation - The station located at the Royal Victoria Hospital, Broadway entrance 

experiences very low usage. It is proposed to relocate this station within the hospital 

grounds to the entrance at Grosvenor Road. This was originally the preferred location, 

however it was ruled out as this entrance closes between 10pm to 6am daily and would 

prevent customers from returning the bikes securely to the docking station during these 

hours. There is now a close alternative in the area to return the bikes at Twin Spires.  The 

station at Servia Street also experiences very low use and high vandalism. It is proposed to 

move this station to the main arterial route along the Falls Road.  

Complementary Measures - it is essential to develop safe, convenient and coherent cycling 

infrastructure as a priority such as Route 6 & 7 (identified in the draft Belfast Bicycle 

Network Plan) along with cycle promotion activities. The Glider route and the temporary 

cycle route on the Grosvenor have provided some initial improvements.   

 

Page 54



3.18 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.19 

 

 

 

 

 

3.20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South  

There are currently 5 stations located along main arterial routes at the City Hospital, 

Lisburn Road, Stranmillis Roundabout, Ormeau Park, mid Ormeau and Rosetta 

roundabout.  

New Stations - Gaps in the network exist and there is a strong demand indicated through 

the public survey. New stations are proposed for the following roads Lisburn Road, Malone 

Road, and upper Ormeau Road.  

Phasing 

2022 – Lisburn Road, Malone Road 

2023 – Upper Ormeau Road 

Costing (South) 

Year Capital Revenue Total 

2022 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

2023 £30,000 £5,000 £35,000 

 

Complementary Measures – The river provides good cycle infrastructure but linkages to 

the outer areas are required such as the Gasworks Bridge and Route 4. The draft Belfast 

Bicycle Network Plan ignores the main arterial routes in the south, however consideration 

should be given to dedicated cycling infrastructure along the main arterial routes to build 

on the cycling culture in these areas. 

 

East  

There are currently 4 stations located Connswater Shopping centre, CS Lewis Square, 

Skainos, and Fraser Pass.  

New Stations - Gaps in the network exist and there is a strong demand indicated through 

the public survey. New stations are proposed for the following areas Ravenhill road, 

Cregagh road, Ulster Rugby grounds, Castlereagh Road, Holywood Road, Belmont Road 

and Upper N’Ards Road.  

Phasing 

2022 – Castlereagh Road, Upper Newtownards Road 

2023 – Creagh Road, Holywood Road 

Costing (East) 

Year Capital Revenue Total 

2022 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

2023 £60,000 £10,000 £70,000 

Page 55



 

 

 

 

3.21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.22 

 

 

 

 

3.23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.24 

 

 

 

Complementary Measures – The stations at Skainos and Fraser Pass experience low 

usage. Cycle promotion initiatives and better linkages to cycle infrastructure would be 

beneficial.   

 

City centre, Queens Quarter and Titanic Quarter.  

This area contains 30 docking station installed as part of Phase 1 with the addition of a 

station at All State.  

New Stations – It is proposed to provide new stations at the Belfast UU campus, the 

Tribeca development and in the east to service the Sirocco development. This should be 

funded through developer contributions. 

Relocation of Stations - The assessment of the network highlighted a number of these 

stations which are currently under used and could be considered for relocation. They are 

as follows: Cromac Square/St Georges Market – close alternative at the Waterfront and 

Alfred Street. Millfield – although the station is located outside the Belfast Met college it 

has low usage probably due to the poor cycling infrastructure in this area and the 

dominance of the road infrastructure. Carrick Hill also has low usage and should be kept 

under review.  

 

Cost Summary 

Year North West South East City 

Centre 

Total 

Revenue 

Total 

Capital 

2022 £70,000 £70,000 £70,000 £70,000 DC £40,000 £240,000 

2023 £70,000 £70,000 £35,000 £70,000 DC £35,000 £210,000 

 

Financial sustainability 

The Belfast Bikes scheme receives income from the hire of bikes and sponsorship revenue. 

Based on the historic revenue from bike hire and the expected revenue from sponsors it is 

it is estimated for the financial year 21/22 that the Belfast Bikes scheme will require a 

subvention of £244,280 to cover its cost of operation. This forecasted subvention was 

accounted for during the FY 21/22 rate setting process and is within Place & Economy 

Departmental annual budgets. 

 

A full list of the proposals is outlined in Section 5 of Appendix A and it provides more detail 

on the recommendations, timetable and the costs. This includes a 5-year programme of 

growth assuming funding availability with an estimation of the expected revenue derived 

Page 56



 

 

 

3.25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.28 

 

 

3.29 

 

 

 

3.30 

 

 

 

from station expansion. It should be noted that the capital cost could be reduced if 

underused stations are relocated and used for further expansion.  

 

Revenue 

The additional revenue that is received through the new docking stations is estimated at 

15 X £5,548 - £83,220 (based on a 10 bike docking station). This revenue is offset by an 

additional management cost that ranges per station between £2,500 - £4,000 per annum, 

15 x £4,000 - £60,000. Based on our experience an increase in docking stations and bikes 

will also have an associated increase in damage and theft costs.   

 

Vandalism 

As highlighted through the Strategic Review vandalism has been a challenge for the Belfast 

Bikes Scheme. It should be noted that all public bike share schemes experience some 

levels of vandalism. For this reason, within the management contract a provision is made 

to cover the costs of vandalism. Unfortunately, that provision within the contract has been 

regularly exceeded with gross costs relating to damage and loss resulting from vandalism 

in the F/Y 20/21 being over £13,000. 

 

Sponsorship - The council has been successful in attracting two high profile sponsorship 

packages for 3 year terms since the launch of the scheme. The process to secure a sponsor 

has been carried out through a tender process on e-sourcing. It is recommended to use a 

lighter touch approach to tender for future renewal of the sponsorship contract. Resources 

should be allocated to warming up the market, communication activities and producing a 

high quality sponsorship pack.  

 

Developer contributions - Developer contributions should be considered where 

appropriate through planning agreements.  

 

Partnership funding - Joint funding bids should be considered with DfI and other 

government departments to expand the scheme as part of infrastructure, public realm and 

regeneration projects.   

 

Marketing - Improved marketing of the scheme and offering new products such as 

corporate accounts and membership benefits should be implemented.  

 

Page 57



3.31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.32 

 

 

 

 

3.33 

 

 

 

3.34 

 

 

 

 

 

3.35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.36 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tariff Review - It is not proposed to increase the subscription for annual users at present. 

The pay as you go level is also similar to other cities. It is proposed to offer free annual 

subscriptions to under 25’s in order to encourage cycling among the youth however this 

requires further analysis and consideration as to how compliance can be monitored given 

current operational model.  

 

Notice of Motion – Update 

Rolloe 

At the Council meeting on 2nd November 2020, Councillor Baker proposed a motion which 

was seconded by Councillor McLaughlin `to explore a pilot scheme to use Rolloe on Belfast 

bikes’ 

 

Officers are working with the company on the viability of pilot scheme and are awaiting 

further information from the company. Regular updates will be brought back to committee 

as this work develops.  

 

Free Access to under 25 users  

Following a Notice of Motion from Councillor O’Hara the Committee agreed on 4th March 

2020 to, to investigate. `as part of the current strategic review of the Belfast Bikes Scheme, 

consideration be given to granting free access to young people 25 years of age and under 

to the scheme.’ 

 

Officers continue to investigate how this proposal might be brought forward. A number of 

technical constraints, listed below, have restricted progress. 

- The current system and payment gateway used by the operator does not collect 

information on the users age. As a result, there is currently no mechanism to 

distinguish the age of the user.  

- GDPR  

 

Officers will continue to work with the operator to understand if these barriers can be 

overcome, or if other incentive-based alternatives can be developed. Anecdotally the 

operator and our consultants ITS have flagged other considerations about providing free 

provision. 

- Vandalism and theft can rise when bikes are free of charge, this has been a 

consistent finding from dockless bike share schemes. 

Page 58



 

 

 

 

 

3.37 

 

 

 

3.38 

 

 

 

 

3.39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.40 

- The provision of free access is likely to negatively impact revenue and require an 

increased subvention 

- If free access increases the use of the bikes which is of course a positive, it could 

also reduce availability of bike stock  

 

Officers will continue to investigate options and further reports on progress will be brought 

back to committee.  

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

Based on the historic revenue from bike hire and the expected revenue from sponsors it is 

it is estimated for the financial year 21/22 that the Belfast Bikes scheme will require a 

subvention of £244,280 to cover its cost of operation. This subvention was included in 

Place & Economy departmental estimates for the financial year 21/22.  

 

An investment of approximately £525,000 is required to fund the recommended expansion 

of the network. If the Committee is minded to agree in principle to the recommended 

expansion, the Committee will need to recommend to the Strategic Policy and Resources 

Committee that £450k of capital costs  is considered as part the year end finance report 

which is due to be considered at its June meeting. The revenue consequences of the 

expansion (£75k) will need to be provided for as part of the 2022/23 rate setting process.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None 

 

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached  

 APPENDIX A: STRATEGIC REVIEW OF BELFAST BIKES 

APPENDIX B: PROPOSAL TABLE 

APPENDIX C: DRAFT BELFAST BICYCLE NETWORK – CONSULTATION REPONSE 

APPENDIX D: HISTORIC PERFORMANCE 

APPENDIX E: BELFAST BIKES HISTORIC VANDALISM 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

 

Document Control Record  

Just Eat Belfast Bikes Strategic Review  

  

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Client 

Belfast City Council 

 

   July 2020 

 

Page 61



  

 

 

 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

The document has been prepared in accordance with the instructions from Belfast City 

Council. Intelligent Transport Services (ITS) shall not be liable for the use of any information 

contained herein for any purpose other than the sole and specific use for which it was 

prepared. 

INTELLIGENT TRASPORT SERVICES 

Report Reference Issue Version Checked Authorised for Issue 

70/1093 Final 

 

03 

 

F.Fernandes 

13.08.20 

M.Sexton 

17.08.20 

 

  

Page 62



  

 

 

 

CONTENTS PAGE PAGE NO. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 1 

2. REVIEW OF NETWORK 6 

3. OPERATIONAL REVIEW 21 

4. FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 32 

5. THE FUTURE 41 

6. PROGRAMME FOR IMPLEMENTATION 48 

7. CONCLUSION 49 

APPENDIX A - BELFAST BIKES PROPOSAL TABLE  

APPENDIX B - BIKE SHARE STATION REVIEW SHEETS 

APPENDIX C - PUBLIC QUESTIONNAIRE TABLE 

APPENDIX D – STATION DECISION MATRIX 

 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-001 – TOTAL RENTALS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-002 – VANDALISM 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-003 – BARRIERS TO CYCLING 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-004 – PUBLIC TRANSPORT 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-005 - DRAFT PROPOSALS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-006 – INDICATIVE SCHEME BOUNDARY 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-007 – TOP TWO STATION DESTINATIONS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-008 – NORTH STAKEHOLDER REQUESTS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-009 – EAST STAKEHOLDER REQUESTS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-010 – SOUTH STAKEHOLDER REQUESTS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-011 – WEST STAKEHOLDER REQUESTS 

DRAWING NO. 70-1093-012 – TOP CYCLE ROUTES 

  

Page 63



  

Page | 1 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1.1 This report provides details of the Strategic Review of the Belfast Bikes Cycle Hire 

scheme. The review includes the history of the operation of the scheme, the policy 

framework, scheme objectives, a review of the network and operations. The report 

also includes a framework for the future, focusing on operations and financial 

sustainability.  

1.1.2 The review has been conducted using data and background information 

provided by Belfast City, operators NSL and technical information from 

manufacturers NextBike.  

1.1.3 Docking station locations in the city have been visited to assess the locations and 

the condition of the docking station and bikes in situ.   

1.1.4 Additionally, interviews were conducted with a broad range of stakeholders and 

partner organisations to understand how the schemes works for them and ways in 

which the relationships could be strengthened.  

1.2 Policy Context  

1.2.1 Transport policy and projects are the responsibility of the Department for 

Infrastructure.  Belfast City Council is responsible for community planning and local 

land use planning.  

1.3 The Belfast Agenda 

1.3.1.1 The Belfast Agenda is the city’s first community plan. It has been developed by a 

partnership of organisations with Belfast City Council taking the lead. The ‘agenda 

is for everyone - for all parts of Belfast and our diverse and talented communities 

as well as for the many people beyond our boundaries who depend on the city’s 

success for work’.  

1.3.1.2 The agenda includes focus areas which are: 

• Growing the economy 

• Living here 

• City development 

• Working and learning 

Page 64



  

Page | 2 

 

1.3.1.3 Within the plan is a review of the current situation in the city. The plan highlights 

that over half of the workforce travel to work by car or van with only 2% making 

the journey by bike.  

 

1.3.1.4 The agenda also includes a series of indicators and outcomes that include a 

number that Belfast Bikes can contribute to and benefit from including: 

• Reduction in level of preventable deaths 

• Proportion of population of adults who rank themselves as having high levels 

of wellbeing 

• Air quality 

• Percentage of all journeys which are made by walking, cycling or public 

transport  

• Number of miles of cycle lanes, footways and footpaths 

1.3.2 Northern Ireland 

1.3.3 As previously introduced responsibility for the development of a cycle network for 

the city is largely the responsibility of the DfI. Planning for cycling is included in 

policy and strategy documents including the Belfast Metropolitan Transport Plan.  

 

 

1.4 The Belfast Metropolitan Transport Plan (Currently being reviewed) 

1.4.1.1 The BMTP was launched on November 2004 and is the local transport plan for the 

Belfast Metropolitan Area (BMA) prepared by DRD (now DfI) to take forward the 

strategic initiatives of the RTS. The elements of the plan are outlined under four 

main headings: walking and cycling, public transport, highway network and 

Page 65



  

Page | 3 

 

management. The document outlines the transport schemes and measures under 

these headings which are expected to be implemented up to 2015. The plan was 

subject to an internal interim review by DfI in 2017.  

1.4.1.2 The Belfast Metropolitan Transport Plan (2015) includes plans for a cycle network 

for the city. The proposed network would include routes of varying types of 

provision determined in part by on street conditions for cycling. The network would 

include parts of the NI National Cycle Network as shown in the map below.  

The routes included in the network identify preferred routes between key locations 

in the Belfast Metropolitan Area.   

1.4.1.3 To further encourage greater levels of cycling the plan suggests the provision of 

cycle parking at stations and other transport interchanges to encourage combine 

mobility trips. 

1.4.1.4 Both the introduction of a coherent cycle network and combined mobility journeys 

could be key drivers for increases in use of the Belfast Bikes schemes as shown in 

many examples in other cities. 

1.4.2 A Bicycle Strategy for Northern Ireland 

1.4.3 A Bicycle Strategy for NI, published in August 2015, sets out plans to make NI a 

cycling community over the next 25 years. The strategy promotes the 

development of a ‘three pillar approach’ for the development of cycling which 

includes careful planning, high quality infrastructure and effective behaviour 

Page 66



  

Page | 4 

 

change campaigns. The strategy also develops four key elements which will 

contribute to achieving the vision for cycling in NI: 

 • Developing a comprehensive network in both urban and rural areas  

• Safe Places  

• Greater Numbers  

• Inviting Places  

1.4.4 Draft Belfast Bicycle Network  

1.4.5 DfI published the draft Belfast Bicycle Network Plan for public consultation in 

January 2017. The consultation report was published in February 2018.  

1.4.6 Cycling infrastructure has been delivered in parts of the city centre. The cycle 

routes proposals include:  

• Grosvenor Road / Durham Street / College Square North / College Street & 

Queen Street - an upgrade of the existing cycle infrastructure along the Grosvenor 

Road and Queen Street with an extension to provide a new connecting two way 

segregated cycle lane along Durham Street and College Square North.  

•  Middlepath Street - a dedicated connection along Middlepath Street to the 

eastern city approaches, as well as a connection to Titanic Quarter. 

• Cycle Route along Alfred Street /Upper Arthur - an upgrade of the existing cycle 

infrastructure along Upper Arthur Street with an extension to provide a 

connecting two way segregated cycle lane along Alfred Street. 

Work on extending the network outside the city is outlined in the draft network plan 

but there is no delivery plan or resources assigned.  

1.5 History  

1.5.1.1 The Belfast Bikes scheme was developed as part of the Physical Investment 

Programme. The programme, originally launched in 2012 is a £325 million citywide 

commitment to making Belfast a better place to live, work, visit and invest. It 

includes around 350 projects, includes major schemes to boost the economy, 

create jobs and improve the quality of life in our neighbourhoods. The Department 

for Regional Development provided initial capital funding for the scheme as part 

of their Active Travel Demonstration Projects budget. 

1.5.1.2 The programme is not simply about building new facilities or assets. Investment 

decisions are taken in line with the strategic aims and objectives of the Belfast 

Agenda, the city’s first community plan which sets out a vision for Belfast in 2035. 

Page 67

https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/council/Communityplanning/BelfastAgenda.aspx
https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/council/Communityplanning/BelfastAgenda.aspx


  

Page | 5 

 

 

 

1.5.2 Belfast bikes scheme was launched in April 2015 with a network of 30 docking 

stations and 300 bikes. The scheme has been operated by NSL continually since 

inception using bikes and supporting infrastructure from Nextbike Gmbh.   

1.5.3 The scheme has been expanded to now include 47 docking stations and 432 bikes. 

The scheme was originally sponsored by Coca-Cola but this was superseded by 

an agreement with Just Eat in 2018.  

1.6 Scheme Objectives 

• To support an increase in the modal share for cycling in Belfast and reduce 

dependency on cars particularly for short trips; 

• To improve the health of residents by encouraging a healthier way to travel; 

• To give our residents and visitors greater access to places that are beyond 

reach on foot through an affordable, sustainable transport system; 

• Support access to employment and services by linking city centre locations; 

• To reduce greenhouse gas and ambient pollution emissions from road 

transport; and   

• To improve the image of Belfast and normalise cycling. 

1.6.1 The scheme has achieved its core objectives, further details are referenced later 

in the report. 

  

Page 68



  

Page | 6 

 

2. REVIEW OF NETWORK 

2.1 INTRODUCTION 

2.1.1 The following sections of the report look into all areas of the Belfast Bikes Scheme 

to determine how it is performing and how that information may be used to steer 

the strategic review and to provide recommendations/proposals. See Section 5 

and the proposal table, Appendix A for details on all proposals. 

2.2 DATA COLLECTION 

2.2.1 To undertake the strategic review it was essential to gather as much data about 

the scheme as possible. This was achieved in a number of ways; 

• Inception meeting with Belfast City Council 

• Stakeholder Meeting 

• Elected Member Workshop 

• Meeting with NSL Operations 

• Nextbike data collection (Rentals/App information etc.) 

• Public Survey 

• Ride Outs to new areas 

2.2.2 This data has been used to investigate different areas of the scheme and to 

establish the future of the scheme. 

2.3 NETWORK AND DOCKING STATIONS 

2.3.1 Whilst assessing the current network and docking stations we needed to establish 

whether the current scale, coverage and density are correct for Belfast, these 3 

core areas of investigation will help to determine what the future proposals are for 

the scheme. 

2.3.2 Based on the information gathered it is clear that the Belfast Bike scheme is a 

success in terms of it meeting its core objectives by delivering on; 

• Increase in modal share for cycling; 

• Reduce dependency on cars; 

• Improving health 

• Increase public transport options 

Page 69



  

Page | 7 

 

2.3.3 From the data  received from NSL we first gathered all the rentals at each station 

for an entire year. We then tabulated this data, which was then used to provide a 

rag status of the most used stations over that year. This was graphically represented 

and is shown as Drawing No. 70-1093-001 – Total Rentals.  

2.3.4 The table and graphical representation is a very clear indication of where the 

scheme works well and where it may need adjusting or slight improvements. It is 

clear that the density of the scheme in the centre of the city works very well and 

the new stations in the south east also prove that the scheme has scope to expand. 

2.3.5 The data also allows us to investigate each station and to review the merits of either 

extending or reducing the station based on usage. An effective way of adapting 

a scheme and increasing its size is to review the stations and remove unnecessary 

docks that are not required. These unused docks can then be utilised elsewhere in 

the scheme, either to extend busy stations or to add new ones. Full proposals are 

outlined in Section 5 and on the table in Appendix A. 

2.4 STATION REVIEW FORMS 

2.4.1 As part of the review we also collated all of the information for each station and 

populated a one page information sheet. These sheets provides a snap shot of the 

history and performance of each bike station. Each sheet contains the following 

information; 

• Station name and number 

• Operational Date 

• Total rentals 

Page 70



  

Page | 8 

 

• Rentals by type 

• Number of Docks 

• Configuration 

• Station expansion 

• Vehicle Service access 

• Top 5 station destinations 

• Site Location information 

• Public Infrastructure review 

• History 

 

2.4.2 These review sheets were used to determine a number of recommendations and 

proposals as set out in section 5. These can be viewed as Appendix B. In addition 

more detailed recommendations are shown in Appendix A.  

2.5 EXISTING PUBLIC TRANSPORT 

2.5.1 As part of the review we also considered how the existing location of bike stations 

fit in with the primary bus routes and railway stations around Belfast. All of the 

existing stations sit within a 150m radius of existing public transport whether it is a 

bus route, bus station or rail station. This provides excellent opportunities for users to 

switch between different modes of public transport rather than using a private 

vehicle. 

2.5.2 One of the most recent additions to the public transport network is the Glider which 

operates east to west across Belfast City. In addition to the introduction of the 

Glider a series of route improvements were made to ensure its success, some of 

these included bus lanes which also help to encourage cycling by offering a safer 

space to cycle. 

2.5.3 It is important for all areas of public transport to be supported, not just the buses 

and trains. It is clear that micro mobility is beginning to play a significant part in any 

cities public transport network and further increases a modal shift away from the 

private vehicle. 

Page 71



  

Page | 9 

 

2.5.4 Whilst it is easy to separate bike share from the cities other public transport, 

authorities should consider the cost, health and social benefits of providing a bike 

share scheme. (see Drawing No. 70-1093-004) 

Drawing No, 70-1093-004 – Public Transport 

2.6 SCHEME ACCESS 

2.6.1 Users can access the scheme via an app, website, call centre or the kiosk at the 

station location. Signing up is very straight forward with the app being very easy to 

use. As part of our review we collected data from each station and split the way 

users accessed the scheme into the 4 categories. These were then presented on 

to station review forms which can be viewed in more detail in Appendix B. 

2.6.2 The access period to the scheme is currently 365 days a year, from 6am to 

Midnight. Although it is envisaged and based on other UK schemes that the 

majority of rentals do occur in this period, there are arguments for providing the 

service 24/7, 365 days per year. 

2.6.3 To understand if this would be a viable proposal to extend operational hours, we 

would need to establish the advantages and disadvantages of doing this. These 

are listed below; 

Advantages 

• Improved access to public transport for shift/night workers 

• Less system failure due to not switching on and off each day. 

Page 72



  

Page | 10 

 

• Increased Revenue 

 

Disadvantages 

• Increase operation costs may be higher than increased revenue 

• Risk of users using the bikes under the influence during early morning hours 

(midnight to 4am) 

• Change in redistribution KPi’s 

2.6.4 Clearly there are plus points for extending the operational hours, however as this 

would be a substantial change in the contract this could only be implemented 

should the operations be re-tendered or re-negotiated with the mutual consent of 

the existing operator. 

2.6.5 In addition to the hours of operation, access to the scheme is limited to age unless 

permission is given by the parent/guardian (14-18). This is an area that could be 

improved to encourage students to use the bikes to travel to and from school. The 

current terms are; 

• 2) You must be aged over 18 to register. Customers between 14-18 years 

may register with parental/guardian consent. 

2.6.6 Even by moving the registration age down to 16 could have a positive 

improvement on rentals and also the users embracing a cycling culture at an 

earlier age. 

2.6.7 In terms of access to more groups, this was not reported on and therefore we 

assume was not available. To improve on this, access to the scheme can be 

improved by encouraging social enterprise bike companies to work in 

communities that have either poor public transport links or are in areas of social 

deprivation. Again however this would be subject to mutual agreement with the 

current operator and would need to be considered as part of a wider capacity 

building programme for the sector. 

2.7 BARRIERS TO CYCLING 

2.7.1 This review also looked at Belfast City as a whole and how the network operated, 

not only for cycling but also for other road users. As can be seen on the map 

(Drawing No. 70-1093-003 – Barriers to Cycling) there are a number of roads/train 

lines and the river Lagan that creates barriers for cyclists. 

2.7.2 It is clear that the river Lagan is a huge barrier to Belfast Bikes being mobilised to 

both the north east and south east of the City, with only a few routes across, 

however, the river also provides one of the best assets for off road cycling along its 

towpaths. Therefore it is clear that the river will play an important role in developing 

the scheme further. Only more recently with the introduction of new stations along 

Page 73



  

Page | 11 

 

Ormeau Road have some parts south eastern side of the City gained access to 

the scheme. These stations have proved to be very popular and only reinforce the 

need to expand the scheme into these areas. 

2.7.3 The map also shows barriers to the north and west with the main motorway cutting 

a route from north to south on the western side of the City. As can be seen stations 

have been provided in this area, however they have not seen the success of the 

stations to the south and east. This may also partly be due to poor cycle 

infrastructure in these parts of Belfast. In addition the Royal Hospital has gates that 

are closed each night effectively blocking access to large areas around the Royal 

Hospital. 

2.7.4 As part of any expansion to the outskirts of Belfast it is important to look at the area 

as a whole and to tackle some of these barriers. A good example of this is the new 

bridge across the river Lagan which will link up at the gas works and land to the 

north of Ormeau Park. This proposal will hugely improve accessibility to the east 

and in turn offer the opportunity to expand the scheme. 

Page 74



  

Page | 12 

 

Gates at Royal Hospital (barrier to cycling and pedestrians) 

2.7.5 In particular there is poor connectivity between the city centre and 

neighbourhoods in the North and West of the city due to a dominant road 

infrastructure and the lack of cycle infrastructure.  A review of the existing cycle 

infrastructure around these barriers should be investigated further and funding 

sought to improve access to isolated areas of Belfast. The Draft Belfast Bicycle 

Network Plan was published for consultation in 2017, however, it has not been 

finalised. As a priority the West Route 6, The North West Route 7 and the North Route 

8 should be prioritised in order to improve connectivity to these areas and 

encourage the uptake in cycling. Scheme expansion could be planned along the 

proposed routes.  

2.8 TARIFF TABLE 

2.8.1 The current charges to users are shown in the table below. The pricing model is 

very simple and is only made up of 3 price plans, a pay as you go, casual and 

annual. The annual plan also had automatic renewal for existing users, which has 

now been changed since the introduction of a new payment platform Worldpay 

Corporate from the 17th June 2019. 

2.8.2 As we are aware economies change all the time and businesses need to align 

themselves to remain competitive, the Belfast Bikes scheme is no exception. 

Existing tariffs and plans should be monitored and adapted if required, in addition 

two year review cycle should be adopted to remain in line with inflation. 

Page 75



  

Page | 13 

 

2.9 VANDALISM 

2.9.1 A significant problem with the Belfast bikes is the level of vandalism. Vandalism is 

generally a random occurrence, however there are particular situations where 

positioning, lighting, access and location can play a role in increasing these 

occurrences. It is therefore important to fully consider each site very carefully, their 

position within the network is very important and should be a primary consideration 

when choosing new sites. However, once this is decided, designers should also 

consider the urban environment and ensure they can design out vandalism as 

much as possible. This can be achieved by placing the station in high visibility areas 

or areas with CCTV for example. 

2.9.2 The map above (Drawing No. 70-1093-002 – Vandalism) highlights which of the 

stations received the most amount of vandalism in a 12 month period from August 

2018 to August 2019. 

2.9.3 The majority of vandalism is caused by the younger generation trying to remove 

bikes from the docks, this causes the damage to the fork lock, the dock and in 

some cases bikes are removed and vandalised beyond repair. 

Reported Issues and review findings 

2.9.4 This is an area that needs a lot of attention as it effectively has an effect on all 

aspects of the scheme from operational issues, sustainability and user perspective. 

Vandalism must come down to improve the scheme. 

2.10 USERS FAVOURITE STATIONS 

Page 76



  

Page | 14 

 

2.10.1 As part of the review we were also interested in where users were using the bikes 

and what routes they may have taken. 

2.10.2 The spider gram below (Drawing No. 70-1093-007 – Two Top Station Destinations) 

gives an insight into origin and destination of users from each bike station. We have 

taken the 2 top destinations from the station review sheet and plotted them 

accordingly. This clearly shows the intensity of the scheme in the centre of Belfast 

but also how popular some of the new stations are in the south and east. 

2.10.3 An additional detailed map has also been produced which takes the top 

destination of each station and assumes the most efficient route to that destination 

by a user. The intention of producing this data is to inform designers where cycle 

infrastructure would benefit most users. 

2.10.4 Due to the way the road network is built up in the centre of Belfast, particularly 

around the City Hall, it is likely that some cyclists not just users of Belfast Bikes will 

Page 77



  

Page | 15 

 

disobey the current highway code. This could be by either by cycling on the 

pavements, riding on the wrong side of the road or riding the wrong way up a one 

way street. 

Top route destination map (Drawing No. 70-1093-012 – Top Cycle Routes) 

2.10.5 A map has also been completed which concentrates on showing the likely routes 

users would take to their top destination.  As the map shows there are a number of 

routes that overlap over and over again that users use to reach their final 

destination. Some of the areas that would benefit from infrastructure 

improvements are around the City Hall, Victoria Street and around the Odyssey. 

This is shown as Drawing No. 70-1093-012 – Top Cycle Routes. This map also 

highlights the need for increased cycle infrastructure to the north and west of the 

city, it is widely agreed that poor cycle infrastructure does have a detrimental 

effect on cycling in general. 

2.10.6 There are also a number of one way streets in Belfast that would benefit the 

introduction of cycle contra flows. Two important routes that could improve access 

across the river are Kings Bridge and Governors Bridge. The introduction of contra 

flow cycle lanes will improve journey times for users and also create a safer 

environment for all users of the public highway. It is important to support Belfast 

bikes with improved cycle infrastructure and to consider aligning and including 

Belfast Bikes in all subsequent bids for improvements. 

2.10.7 It is also clear that the cities tourist attractions are also very popular with users, the 

area around the Titanic Quarter is a very popular destination from a high number 

of stations. Consideration for tourist areas that generate high footfall should rank 

Page 78



  

Page | 16 

 

high when choosing new locations to improve and grow the network. A typical 

example of this would be Belfast Castle and train stations such as York Street. 

2.11 STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION AND ELECTED MEMBER WORKSHOP 

2.11.1 Stakeholders 

2.11.2 A number of stakeholder meetings were held on the 26th June with key people 

over the course of the day. The list included representatives from NI Greenways, 

Universities, sponsorship consultants, translink, Cycle unit, Belfast City centre 

management and the Department for Communities. . 

2.11.3 The format was fairly informal, stakeholders were asked various questions to help 

begin a debate around the Belfast Bikes scheme. As such, some of the debates 

were quite focused on each of the stakeholders particular specialised areas. 

2.11.4 The general consensus was that Belfast Bikes was a success and that is now a key 

part of the Cities transport and tourist industry. However, there was also a number 

of negative points that all of the stakeholders shared. All these issues mainly related 

to the bikes and stations, the key items that stakeholders were keen to help 

improve were, bike maintenance, distribution and the accuracy of bike 

information at each station. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.11.5 Elected Members Workshop 

Page 79



  

Page | 17 

 

2.11.6 A workshop was held with elected members and staff from Belfast City Council on 

Tuesday 27th August 2019 in City Hall. The initial findings and draft 

recommendations were presented for discussion. It was noted that the 

presentation contained early proposals and recommendations from the workshop 

would also be considered in the final review report. 

Example of presentation slides 

2.11.7 The feedback from elected members was very positive with all that attended 

having proposals to expand the scheme into new areas. Although the discussions 

around new stations and ideas were positive it was clear that a system to prioritise 

proposals was required to ensure the growth of Belfast Bikes was sustainable and 

was reaching the areas with clear demand. 

2.11.8 Areas identified for new stations could also be tested using a temporary bike 

station that could be easily relocated if the forecasts prove to be lower than 

expected. 

2.11.9 It was agreed that revenue raised from stations in expanding areas would then be 

used to expand in the areas where the demand is lower. Although a lower 

demand is present in some areas it is still important to provide the Belfast bikes 

service in these areas to improve social inclusion. 

2.11.10 Additional requests were also made to include Lisburn and Castlereagh City 

Council in discussions to include Forestside and Antrim and Newtownabbey. It is 

envisaged that should the demand for Belfast Bikes extend out of the Belfast City 

boundary then these would also be considered and discussed with neighbouring 

local authorities. 

Social Enterprise 

2.11.11 A short video was also presented at the workshop, the video featured a charity 

named Bike 4 Good. Bike 4 Good currently operate a bike share scheme in 

Glasgow, however they also provide services that potentially encourage all 

people the opportunity to ride a bike. The key message is around bringing bikes to 

all and how this can encourage ownership from areas to embrace Belfast Bikes. 

Page 80



  

Page | 18 

 

The benefits of working with a social enterprise and an operator can bring some of 

the following improvements; 

• Inclusion 

• Ownership 

• Reduced vandalism 

• Access to employment 

2.11.12 This proposal was embraced by all elected members and each were keen to 

progress this idea as soon as practically possible. Again this would be subject to 

mutual agreement with the current operator.  

2.11.13 The current operator is under contract until April 27th 2024. There may be an 

opportunity to negotiate this at break clauses within the contract. Any negotiation 

would require scoping of potential operators from the social enterprise sector.   

2.11.14 In addition to the stakeholder and elected member consultation, a request to 

consider providing free rides to under 25 has been proposed. This is potentially very 

difficult to implement due to restrictions in the bike share payment platform and 

software, however we feel this should be an option worth following up.  

2.12 SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE 

2.12.1 Introduction 

2.12.2 A user survey was developed as part of the review. The main aim was to get 

customer feedback on the existing operation of the scheme, pricing and future 

operation and expansion. The survey was hosted on Survey Monkey between 23 

August 2019 to 13 September 2019. Recipients were sought including both 

members and non-members of the scheme through council and scheme 

communication channels. A total of 172 responses were received.  

2.12.3 Summary 

2.12.4 The majority of respondents were male and in full time employment. The age range 

of responses was quite broad with most relatively well represented in responses. 

Nearly three quarters of responses were from existing users.  

2.12.5 Most respondents who use the scheme were previously car drivers suggesting a 

modal shift from the scheme. Current users appear to use the bicycle as their main 

way to get around Belfast but interestingly the next most popular more is private 

car (as driver), suggesting a further opportunity to nudge more people from driving 

to cycling and increase cycling’s overall mode share in Belfast through the 

scheme.  

Page 81



  

Page | 19 

 

2.12.6 Also underlining the importance of the scheme to cycling in Belfast is the fact that 

25% of respondents do not own a bicycle meaning Belfast Bikes provide their most 

readily available cycling option in the city.  

2.12.7 Most usage is during the week, but it appears users of the service do so relatively 

infrequently and normally only 1-2 times a month. Travel time is important to 

respondents, it being the most selected reason for using the bikes. The most likely 

purpose of trips was commuting to either work, college or university. The 

introduction of the PAYG option was very popular and is showing a positive take 

up.  

2.12.8 Word of mouth is one of the most powerful promotional tools and responses to the 

survey suggest respondents mainly positive experience of the scheme means they 

would recommend the service to friends.  

2.12.9 Respondents thought the scheme should be expanded with suggestions mainly 

focused in the south and east but with locations in the north and west such as 

Belfast Castle also relatively frequently mentioned. In the south and east 

Ballyhackmore, Forestside, Lisburn Road and Ravenhill Road were most popular 

areas requested for expansion. 

2.12.10 When asked whether they had experienced difficulties when using it, 69% of 

respondents stated that they had. However, the customer experience of the 

scheme was highly favourable, with three quarters of respondents saying their 

experience was good (31%), very good (21%) or excellent (20%). 

2.12.11 When asked what improvements could be made to the scheme improved 

maintenance was most mentioned 27 times in 131 comments.  

2.12.12 Also mentioned were improvements in bike distribution and increased availability 

of bikes. When asked how respondents could be encouraged to use the scheme 

more cycling infrastructure and more docking stations were the main choices with 

ranks of 0.93 and 0.84 respectively. Users of the scheme are driven by the potential 

time savings the scheme can bring to commutes and personal choices around 

sustainability.  

2.12.13 Key points 

• Scheme is generally meeting expectations of users  

• Availability of bikes deters usage of the scheme for existing and potentially 

new users 

• Expansion of the scheme in the south and east was the most popular areas, 

supported by respondents   

• Improvements in cycling infrastructure would support increase in usage 

2.12.14 Discussion  

Page 82



  

Page | 20 

 

2.12.15 A table is also available as an appendix, this table discusses the results of the user 

survey. It is structured using the questions as they were asked and the order they 

appeared in the survey. Please refer to “Appendix C” 

  

Page 83



  

Page | 21 

 

3. OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

3.1 BACKGROUND AND LOCATION 

3.1.1 NSL have been operating the Belfast Bikes scheme since its inception on 27th April 

2015. To achieve a better understanding of the current operation and facilities a 

visit to the premises was made on the 24th July 2019. As part of this visit the day was 

set aside to discuss the current staffing, operations and procedures. During this 

meeting recommendations and improvements were also discussed.  

3.1.2 The meeting was very useful, a number of questions were tabled to establish how 

the current operation is being organised. This included, maintenance, distribution, 

monitoring, customer care etc… 

3.1.3 The operation is based in Duncrue Street to the North of the City, the premises is 

very well suited internally with a separate workshop, build up or mobilisation area 

and office and welfare facilities on the first floor. 

NSL Workshop Location 

3.1.4 There is ample space outside for two vehicles to pick up and drop off bikes to 

facilitate re distribution and on-site maintenance. In terms of access to the City 

centre and the bike stations, the premises is located in an area close to the major 

and primary road network with the M2, M3 and A12 being easily accessible. This 

enables an efficient start to a planned distribution or maintenance plan. 

3.1.5 The current workshop facilities are also large enough and located to be able to 

facilitate further growth of the scheme. 

 

 

Page 84



  

Page | 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Workshop Photos 

3.2 STAFF STRUCTURE 

3.2.1 To understand the resourcing requirements of operating the Belfast Bikes scheme 

NSL shared their staff structure, this is the current structure to deliver the scheme 

and KPi’s as set out in the contract documents. 

3.2.2 The above structure contains a total of 10 full time members of staff. To be able to 

service the scheme 365 days a year the team is split into 3 shifts. These shifts cover 

the operating times of the scheme of 6am to midnight. These are 5am to 3pm, 

2pm to midnight and a middle shift which is staffed by management and customer 

service. There are no part time staff employed or required to operate the scheme. 

3.2.3 It was also noted that during busy periods and outside of core hours all calls are 

directed to the nextbike general call centre in Germany. There is a cost associated 

to these calls which could be managed by Belfast Bikes staff outside of core hours. 

3.2.4 In terms of training for the bike mechanics, no cyctech or equivalent qualifications 

are offered to staff as per the contract. Investment in staff is key to delivering a 

high quality level of service and to help with staff retention. 

3.2.5 It was reported staff turnover has been an issue in the past. 

Page 85



  

Page | 23 

 

3.3 NSL CONTRACT – KPI’s 

3.3.1 As part of the contract a number of key performance indicators were set by Belfast 

City Council to ensure the successful bidder provided a high quality product and 

service. A list of the KPI’s are listed below. 

Core KPI 
Performance Standard Expectation 

1 

All agreed bikes fully operational in 

docking points at 6am 

each morning 

100% 

2 
All Docking Points fully operational at 

6am each morning 
100% 

3 
All Terminals fully operational at 6am 

each morning 
100% 

Notes   

KPI 1s Performance target Expectation 

1.0 Service & Quality 

KPI 1.1- Response time: % of reactive 

and scheduled 

maintenance met within 

agreed timeframe. 

90% 

 
KPI 1.2- First time fix; % against total call 

outs 
75% 

 

KPI 1.3- Scheduled maintenance; % 

tasks complete per 

specification 

95% 

 

KPI 1.4- Reactive maintenance; 143 out 

of 143 defects, 100% of 

defects/ faults/ acts of 

vandalism closed per 

period 

95% 

2.0 Health & Safety 

KPI 2.1- Accident Management; % of 

accidents processed 

properly, 0 for month 

100% 

 

KPI 2.2- Accidents; Number of 

reportable accidents in 

period. None=100%, 1-

2=60%, 3 and over=0% 0 for 

month 

90% 

3.0 Customer 

satisfactio

n 

KPI 3.1- User feedback; User feedback 

on average monthly 

sample 

85% 

Page 86



  

Page | 24 

 

 

KPI 3.2- Complaints; % of complaints 

resolved/ corrective within 

3 days 

100% 

 

KPI 3.3- Chases/ escalations; % of issues 

on escalation log to user 

satisfaction 

90% 

4.0 Financial 

KPI 4.1- Transactions; % of user 

transactions successfully 

completed against total 

number of transactions 

90% 

 

KPI 4.2- Budget accuracy; % of budget 

estimates submitted within 

reporting period 

95% 

3.3.2 A number of monthly management reports have been supplied as part of the 

review. These reports indicate through the KPi’s that the operator is meeting all 

their targets each month every month.  The results of the stakeholder meetings and 

questionnaire and also our own experience reviewing the scheme would indicate 

that maybe some of the KPi’s are not being met. 

3.3.3 A review of the KPi’s should be considered to ensure continuous improvement to 

operations. As this would mean a change in the terms of the contract this may be 

difficult to achieve.  

3.4 EQUIPMENT, BIKE SPECIFICATION SOFTWARE 

NSL chose nextbike as its technology partner for its experience and expertise in 

successfully implementing its product across a number of schemes. The proposed 

Assets are based on proven design solutions developed over an extended period 

and based on experience of implementing a number of cycle hire schemes. The 

design is continually improving as nextbike develops its product and wherever 

possible (and agreed with the Council) these improvements will be incorporated 

into the Belfast scheme as per the contract. 

Bike, Kiosk and Docks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



  

Page | 25 

 

3.4.1 The bikes were designed to be as inclusive as possible, with low step-over, fully 

integrated chain guard, mud-guards, basket and attractive sponsorship space. 

They are designed for long lasting performance with all parts guaranteed for a 

proven operation time greater than five years. 

3.4.2 As the project is over 4 years old now, nextbike has moved on with different 

specifications of bike/dock for newer schemes it implements in the UK and 

Worldwide. The Belfast nextbike locks into a dock via a disc mounted on the forks, 

whilst newer models have a cable lock into a dock or a rear wheel lock. Both of 

these newer versions are a smart bike technology where the tech is on the bike 

rather than the dock. 

3.4.3 Whilst undertaking the review we tested the system for compliance, access, 

condition and availability. Access to the bikes is via one of 4 routes, the kiosk, 

android and iphone apps, IVR and the website. 

3.4.4 One of the key issues we found and was also linked with the customer survey was 

when bikes are showing as available in the app but once you arrived at the station 

there were no bikes. The opposite of this was also raised by users, bikes were at the 

station but were unable to be rented. This is not uncommon in bike share, to resolve 

this the operator just needs to check the stations on their distribution tours. 

3.4.5 We understand that GPS trials were undertaken, however this information was not 

available to us to review.  

3.5 MAINTENANCE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Maintenance 

3.5.1 The maintenance of the fleet is currently undertaken in the workshop. This is 

organised over 3 shifts utilising 5 staff members. With an average staff member 

working approximately 240 days per year we can safely assume an output of 

maintaining 3-4 bikes per day per member of staff depending on parts availability. 

Based on this we can safely assume that NSL have an excellent resource for the 

maintenance of the bikes. 

3.5.2 These staff also provide the re-distribution of the bikes in the morning shift and also 

during the day whilst replacing broken bikes. 

Page 88



  

Page | 26 

 

3.5.3 Whilst the bikes themselves are relatively clean the infrastructure on street appears 

to be very dirty with particular reference to the terminal keypad. At some stations 

road dirt has built up around the docks and in some stations weeds growing from 

the platforms. During our review meeting it was not clear who is responsible for 

cleaning the equipment. 

Weeds growing around platform                      Dirty keyboard 

Weeds growing around platforms at Victoria Street and Botanic Gardens 

3.5.4 As part of the review NSL have undertaken a test on a typical station with a 130AH 

leisure battery. The results are very encouraging, with the kiosk lasting over 20 days. 

A change across the board could significantly increase the productivity of staff in 

this operation. 

Page 89



  

Page | 27 

 

3.5.5 All maintenance activities on the bikes and terminals are undertaken using paper 

forms and are filed in a secure area at the workshop address. On inspection of the 

maintenance system for the bikes, it was clear and very easy to locate the bikes 

and the records were detailed and clear. 

3.5.6 The issue with this way of reporting is that operatives need to be able locate 

existing forms when investigating issues with particular bikes. This could be time 

consuming. Although an online database would be beneficial we do not see it as 

having a detrimental effect on maintenance of the scheme. 

Examples below of digital maintenance records 

3.5.7 One issue that could have significant implications to the operation of the scheme 

are Spare parts. The level of spare parts at the workshop at the time was sufficient 

to be able to fix any problem that a bike may have. However, when a spate of 

vandalism occurs then sometimes availability of parts can be an issue. Generally 

spare parts are sufficient, however we would recommend to have at least enough 

parts to fix up to 20 bikes at once. This would only work on a regular delivery of 

Page 90



  

Page | 28 

 

parts which have been chosen specifically based on the experience NSL have 

gained on the scheme. 

Distribution 

3.5.8 As part of the signed contract it is required that the operator ensure all agreed 

bikes are fully operational in docking points at 6am each morning. It is understood 

that a number of stations are excluded from this process and have been agreed 

by the City due to unsustainable vandalism. 

3.5.9 The operator has provided a distribution sheet which is undertaken every morning 

prior to 6am, this is named as “Early Station Lap Sheet”. The items checked are 

shown in the table below. 

  
Station 

Location 

(to be 

completed 

in this 

running 

order 

Time 

At 

Station 

Battery 

Changed 

/✓ 

Bikes 

Checked 

/✓ 

Terminal 

Checked 

/✓ 

Checked 

Bike 

Racks 

(X,N,F,R) 

/✓ 

Occurrence (i.e; 

Vandalism/Thesft/Da

mage/Unattended 

Bikes/Accident/Incid

ent/Terminal)Problem

s) 

3922 

Corporatio

n Square 

      

Etc…..       

Early Station Lap Sheet Example 

3.5.10 Once this distribution is undertaken there is no other contractual requirement to 

distribute the bikes to stations that are either empty of full. It is understood that 

during the picking up of damaged bikes and dropping off fixed bikes during the 

day, this is when any distribution takes place. This appears to be based on the 

number of bikes repaired during the day. There are no tools on the vehicles that 

would enable small basic repairs to bikes on street rather than bring them to the 

workshop. 

3.5.11 As part of the review we took a number of snap shots of the availability to 

understand if the re distribution was being completed and whether availability of 

bikes was adequate at all stations during the core hours. A snap shot is shown 

below. 

 

 

Page 91



  

Page | 29 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

26 JUNE 2019 @ 22:10 27 JUNE 2019 @ 05:33 27 JUNE 2019 @ 06:10 

Prior to scheme closing 

at midnight a number of 

stations are empty. 

Scheme just about to 

open, a number of 

stations are still empty. 

Scheme “live”. Only 

after 10 minutes 

availability is zero at too 

many stations. 

3.5.12 In addition to the previous snap shot of availability, we also undertook some 

random snap shots during the core hours. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27 AUGUST 2019 @ 15:32 25 SEPT 2019 @ 07:34 29 SEPT 2019 @ 10:25 

Page 92



  

Page | 30 

 

Mid-point of core hours 

of the scheme. A very 

high number of empty 

stations. This has a 

detrimental effect of 

user experience and 

availability. 

A key time period during 

commuting. Many key 

stations empty. When 

prospective users often 

see empty stations then 

it is unlikely they will sign 

up due to the unknowns 

over availability. 

Scheme into mid-

morning, most stations 

have availability. This is a 

good example of 

station availability. 

3.5.13 Distribution plays a key part in ensuring reliability and availability of bikes, however, 

we appreciate it is not an exact science and patterns need to be learned and put 

into place. With the scheme operating for over 4 years a suitable daily distribution 

plan can be implemented. This would be subject to contractual agreements and 

changes to KPi’s. 

3.5.14 During our operational meeting we also requested a snap shot from the system of 

the actual number of bikes available in the stations at that time. A total of 246 bikes 

were in the docks, the number in use was not available. In addition to this there 

were approximately 15 bikes in the workshop. It is very important to keep track of 

current assets. It would be useful for the City of Belfast to have a copy of this 

availability prior to the operational hours of 6am. 

3.6 MARKETING/SCHEME INFORMATION 

3.6.1 The operator currently does undertake some marketing with its users with some 

offers in the app.. It appears that most of the information shared with users is via 

social media platform such as twitter or facebook. Whilst this may reach users, it is 

unlikely that it will reach all users as not everybody uses social media. This is even 

more so or the older generation of users. 

3.6.2 It is understood that the operator does support the City of Belfast and other 

stakeholders in other forms of marketing or promotion to the scheme. In addition 

the operator attends events and also provides the bikes and merchandise for 

these events. 

3.6.3 This is an area that can benefit from improvement on both sides to engage with 

the users more directly. With a focused marketing campaign users can feel more 

inclusive and can take ownership of the bikes. This can lead to increased feedback 

and loyalty. 

3.7 CUSTOMER FEEDBACK ON OPERATIONS 

3.7.1 As previously mentioned in section 2, the overall feedback from stakeholders is that 

the bikes appear to be poorly maintained and the equipment unreliable. 

Page 93



  

Page | 31 

 

However, a huge amount of positive responses were also received in relation to 

the scheme and its place in the City. 

3.7.2 In terms of providing customer feedback, the operator informs that when bikes are 

reported damaged, vandalised or not working a procedure is in place to ensure 

all parties are informed. 

3.8 CRIME AND ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR 

3.8.1 It is our understanding from the operator that on-going conversations and 

workshops are being held with local enforcement to look into ways of combating 

the vandalism. 

3.8.2 For the review we do not see any benefit in providing any further proposals to the 

operator due to the ongoing discussions already taken place. 

3.9 GENERAL SUMMARY OF OPPERATIONS 

3.9.1 The general set up of operational facilities is good and is large enough to allow 

scheme expansion. Its location is also sited to take advantage of all the Cities main 

routes which allow easy access to the south and east of the City. 

3.9.2 We feel staff retention could be improved by investing in training courses for the 

mechanics and distribution staff. A more dynamic workforce should also be 

encouraged to help deal with difficult times, for example high levels of vandalism. 

3.9.3 The maintenance and distribution could be improved by way of altering the KPi’s. 

The operator should also be measured for availability during the scheme core 

hours and not just at the beginning of the shift. 

3.9.4 Marketing is very light, although this is not within the contract and therefore has no 

bearing on the operator. A joint approach between Belfast City Council and the 

Operator should be adopted. 

3.9.5 Customer feedback was positive for the scheme in general, however it was clear 

users were of the impression that the Belfast bikes and docks were not maintained 

properly. 

 

Equipment  

Consideration should be given to newer technology and security improvements from Nextbike 

to ensure infrastructure and user experience can be improved in the future 

Page 94



  

Page | 32 

 

4. FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

4.1.1 As part of the review we were requested to investigate the financial sustainability 

of the project and to identify routes to additional funding or revenues. The 

following sections discuss possible routes to this funding. 

4.2 SURROUNDING COUNCILS AROUND BELFAST 

4.2.1 Outside of the City of Belfast district boundaries there are few opportunities to 

expand Belfast Bikes. However, there are a few pockets that could be included, 

these are Galwally in Lisburn and Castlereagh, Bangor and Holywood in Ards North 

Down and Newtownabbey in Antrim and Newtownabbey. 

4.2.2 As extending the scheme into these areas could cause considerable expense to 

the service provider, Belfast City would need to compensate the operator to serve 

these areas. 

4.2.3 Other districts outside of Belfast City would need to provide an annual fee to help 

support the operations in their respective areas and the additional benefits their 

constituents have gained by having access to over 45 stations in the Belfast City 

Districts. 

4.2.4 Any new stations would be subject to design and operational considerations. 

4.2.5 An agreement on the management and maintenance on the infrastructure 

outside of Belfast City Council boundary would need to be considered to ensure 

a suitable management and maintenance schedule is in place.  

4.2.6 The land ownership, access and management for an expansion of infrastructure 

outside of Belfast City Council boundary would need to be brought forward by the 

respective council. 

4.3 SPONSORSHIP 

General Framework for Sponsorship in the bike-share industry 

4.3.1 Sponsorship involves associating the image of one or more companies to the bike 

share service, this has been done in similar projects internationally, exploiting the 

values and visibility offered by the public bike service in these cities or towns. The 

parts of the system generally used to display the sponsor's image are as follows: 

Page 95



  

Page | 33 

 

• The bikes themselves – All the plastic components of the bike have been 

designed for stickers, the bike frame is generally used to display the 

service’s image or logo. 

• The stations – The terminal also offers a great space for displaying logos or 

the owner of the service logo. It has also been known to have individual 

stations named. For example a business may want a new station outside 

their premises and as part of the arrangement the business can contribute 

towards the operation. 

• Operational Vehicles – These vehicles give the operator a forward facing 

image to the users. 

• Digital media – Websites can be used to highlight the brand and give 

information about the sponsor. Mail outs to users are also useful tools to 

engage with customers. 

• RFID Cards / Access cards – Should RFID access be required then the card 

can be printed with sponsors logos and values. 

• Naming rights – The sponsor has the opportunity to name the scheme, this 

is an extremely useful marketing tool. 

Examples of Sponsorship in the bike share industry 

4.3.2 Sponsorship practices can vary hugely between countries, in particular, to the 

communication culture, the relationship with sponsors and more or less restrictive 

local regulations. Countries like France and Ireland for example have a financing 

model for the bike-share system that is connected to an advertising contract for 

street furniture generally which is separate from the station itself. For most, though, 

the traditional sponsorship model is adopted which uses the bike share 

infrastructure and digital platforms to showcase a service/product. 

4.3.3 The greater the visibility and identification of the sponsor, the greater its 

contribution. 

Page 96



  

Page | 34 

 

4.3.4 The income generated by sponsorship can vary considerably from one service to 

another, according to the level of sponsor visibility on the various parts of the 

service. Here are some examples of revenues generated by similar operations 

internationally 

• Barcelona signed a sponsorship agreement with Vodafone for a sum of 

€1,500,000 per year, (€250 per bicycle per year). 

• Coca Cola signed a sponsorship agreement in Cork, providing €3,000,000 

over 5 years for 700 bicycles (€850 per bicycle per year). 

• London has recently signed an agreement with Santander Bank for a sum 

of €8,500,000 per year, (€990 per bicycle per year). 

4.3.5 Similar projects conducted in cities in the United States provide other examples of 

income generated by sponsoring, with an average income per station of €7,500, 

according to a report released at the NABSA Conference (North America Bike 

share Association) in Boston. Advertising 

Examples of sponsorship media on bikes and stations 

Scheme Photograph 

Edinburgh 

 

Slough 

 

Page 97



  

Page | 35 

 

London 

 

London 

 

 

Canvassing 

4.3.6 Sponsorship projects can only work properly if the local authority is determined and 

actively supports the search for a sponsor. In addition we do not want to engage 

in a search based on a very small amount of authorised spaces, for example where 

existing advertising media is available. We need to consider the overall reach of 

the sponsorship and how far around and past the city boundaries we are willing to 

allow. We feel there is greater potential on the fixed station equipment and bikes, 

however providing the sponsor opportunities outside of the city limits may also 

provide a level for higher interest and higher contributions. 

4.3.7 The very nature of the sponsor must ideally resonate with the values of the Belfast 

bikes brand centred on the core objectives, health, the environment and sharing. 

We also have to recognise that this space may have limited interest and therefore 

all businesses interested should be given the opportunity to bid for Sponsorship. 

The potential of partial and multiple sponsorship 

4.3.8 The co-branding model is very common in other countries such as Switzerland and 

North America where corporate foundations themselves will invest in the stations 

that serve them in their local area. In France, this model has been met with some 

reluctance given the high taxes levied on employers for investment in public 

transport. Some companies may still be sensitive about it. The privatisation of 

Page 98



  

Page | 36 

 

stations is also a common approach in some countries, for example; Slough have 

used companies to pay for a new station outside their business when requested. 

Selling bike accessories licenced by Belfast bikes 

4.3.9 Another option open to the city is to allow the sponsor to sell accessories licenced 

by Belfast Bikes. This, again provides a sponsor further ways to reach users and 

encourage the use of the scheme. 

4.3.10 By allowing a trademark licence and marketing the products related to the bike, 

we thereby give users the best possible user experience and help promote the 

service (rain protection, water bags, clips for attaching bags, umbrellas that can 

be clipped on to the handlebars. The indirect objective is to generate additional 

income to contribute to the indirect financing of the project. 

Planning sponsored events 

4.3.11 A very good way of promoting the sponsor which offers more value is to organise 

events which can raise the profile of the sponsor and the bikes. Examples that 

could be deployed/offered: 

• Sponsored free periods of time. 

• Specific bonuses. 

• Sponsored subscription campaigns, 

• Especially at the beginning of the season and during events held in Belfast. 

• Setting up temporary and sponsored Belfast bike event applications. 

 

Routes to sponsorship 

4.3.12 As we are aware, where subsidies are not available from local authorities for 

operating bike share schemes, alternative arrangements need to be made to 

provide the revenue required to operate a successful scheme. One of the 

challenges is finding the most cost efficient way to secure that subsidy. There are 

a number of routes available to local authorities, some are more successful than 

others, some are a less complicated route and some are far too expensive to 

procure. Some examples are as follows; 

• Via a competitive tender 

• Approaching businesses directly 

• Open offers/pre-approved packages 

4.3.13 In all of the above situations we first need to develop a plan that can be used to 

invite or attract businesses/operators to consider how the bike share scheme can 

help them. If a mutually beneficial relationship can be proven this can provide a 

good tool for levering sponsorship. 

Page 99



  

Page | 37 

 

4.3.14 Let’s consider how the Belfast bikes scheme can procure sponsorship; 

Offer Value.  

4.3.15 Sponsorship comes in many forms, including: 

• Adverts on bikes, stations and operational vehicles 

• Sponsored posts from the corporation on your social media 

• Giveaways of their products to your audience 

• User Data 

• Advertising 

• Events 

4.3.16 A document should be created to include a few packages that offer a mix of 

these activities, or we can let any potential sponsors pick items a la carte. In any 

of these packages we need to think about how to build a long-term relationship 

with a sponsor that is engaging for a number of years and is in our best interest to 

come up with ways to engage them and work with them for years to come. 

Know your platform and the companies that match it. 

4.3.17 Companies are interested in reaching audiences they typically do not have at 

their fingertips. It’s less expensive than purchasing traditional media advertising 

and helps them target these individuals through an intermediary that already has 

their attention and trust. Make sure you can articulate exactly who you serve. Are 

your customers male or female? How much income do they make? Do they have 

children? Do they travel frequently? 

4.3.18 Once you identify all the characteristics of your customer base, start researching 

companies that advertise to or want to reach that group. For example, if mothers 

are your primary customer, look through the pages of parenting magazines and 

research parenting websites. What companies advertise on those sites? Then 

make a list of those businesses as potential corporate sponsors. 

Ask for your worth.  

4.3.19 Many small businesses make the mistake of not asking for enough money in 

sponsorship. Remember that you are offering these corporations value and direct 

access to the customers they want to reach. In addition, many of these 

corporations are used to making deals in the tens of thousands. Don’t ask for low 

amounts from a company that has the budgets to give high value sums. Value 

your connection to this demographic and charge accordingly. 

Follow up! 

Page 100



  

Page | 38 

 

4.3.20 How many times have you ignored an email or phone call because you’re busy or 

on a deadline? Corporate executives feel the same way. So many people lose 

sponsorship deals because they do not follow up. If you don’t hear back from an 

organization after you’ve submitted your proposal, pick up the phone and check 

in. 

Write a compelling proposal that makes it clear why a corporation should sponsor 

your business. 

4.3.21 Write a story about the service or your business that is exciting and meaningful. 

Don’t simply state what you sell; explain why you impact lives. Remember, 

sponsorship is not just about your business: the company you want to partner with 

will want to know what’s in it for them. How will the company reap benefits it 

wouldn’t otherwise get? Also include in the proposal your target audience 

demographics and discuss your reach as well as how you’ll help the corporation 

reach its target audience. 

4.3.22 Connecting with corporations wanting to target specific audiences through 

sponsorship can become a win-win relationship, and in doing so can also give your 

small business a healthy income boost. 

4.3.23 The proposed route to sponsorship would be to develop a standard pack that 

outside parties can use to make Belfast City an offer. The intention would be to 

simply ask potential sponsors to consider the sponsorship pack and to formulate 

an offer if interested.   

4.4 PRIVATE / CORPORATE ACCOUNTS 

4.4.1 In other schemes across the UK operators are using various methods to not only 

increase the revenue but also the usage. A simple way of doing this is to set up 

corporate accounts with local businesses or even departments within the local 

authority. 

4.4.2 Typical account holders for the City of Belfast that could be approached; 

 

• Hotel Chains 

• Zurich Insurance 

• Companies House 

• Aecom 

• Belfast City Council Departments 

o Planning 

o Traffic and Transportation 

4.4.3 As a straight forward proposal we would recommend that businesses should be 

offered discounted rates for corporate accounts. 

Page 101



  

Page | 39 

 

 

4.5 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 

4.5.1 An important consideration of the growth of the Belfast Bikes scheme should be to 

ensure alignment with the growth of the City and its surrounding areas. As Belfast 

grows in size and prosperity the authority carefully considers all of its public services. 

These could include health, schools, policing, roads and public transport. When 

new developments are introduced the authority can under Section 75 ask for a 

contribution to improve public services in the areas around the development. 

4.5.2 As part of this review developer contributions will be recommended as a way to 

help with the growth of the scheme. This growth will give options around increased 

options on sustainable transport with a particular reference to the public bike 

share. 

4.5.3 The promotion of cycling as a travel opportunity is part of the drive to promote 

alternatives to the private car and encourage more sustainable means of travel. 

One step in this process is to improve the provision, safety, convenience and 

general environment for cycling by ensuring that the needs of cyclists are fully 

taken into account in the development process. 

4.5.4 Belfast City Council have an agreed Developer Contributions Framework that 

specifies that `the impact of new development on transport infrastructure and the 

need to promote sustainable transport will be considered on a case by case basis. 

In practice this means that typically where development require a transport 

assessment are more likely to identify the need for specific measures to address 

infrastructure and sustainable transport contributions. We are aware of a number 

of developments where this has been applied. 

 

 

4.6 INCREASE USER FEES 

4.6.1 As mentioned in section 2.8 an increase in tariffs would increase revenue, therefore 

this proposal should not be ruled out. (Please refer to proposal table or Section 2). 

4.7 JOINT BIDS ON INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 

4.7.1 The information contained in this review report could be used to set up a policy to 

include the Belfast Bikes scheme into bids for cycle infrastructure funding. Bike 

share schemes are often overlooked when authorities are bidding for infrastructure 

projects that could support the Belfast Bikes. 

Page 102



  

Page | 40 

 

4.7.2 Joint working should be adopted and when bidding for projects all modes should 

be considered, this can also increase the success of the bid but also the value of 

offered. 

4.7.3 A simple policy change that will trigger a joint working approach with all parties 

can be adopted. Although not regular income for the scheme, a welcome 

injection of capital/revenue alongside other cycle improvements.  

4.8 RE-TENDER OPERATIONS 

4.8.1 A considerable cost to the Belfast Bikes scheme is the operational costs. It may be 

that a review of the operational requirements and KPi’s could allow for the 

operation to be re tendered. This does have its advantages and disadvantages 

but it may also be cost neutral due to the cost in the competitive tendering process 

or cost effective. 

4.8.2 Before this option is considered the local authority must be sure that the existing 

operator has not provided the service as outlined in the existing contract. Or that 

over the period of the contract there has not been an approach that would give 

the authority the confidence that the operator has earned the extension. 

Page 103



  

Page | 41 

 

5. THE FUTURE 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

5.1.1 The results of the Belfast bikes review together with the stakeholder meetings, 

member meetings and public survey questionnaire have been evaluated and 

reviewed. The following section makes recommendations on the whole scheme 

and have been tabled in Appendix “A”. 

5.2 PROPOSALS 

5.2.1 As part of the commission a suite of proposals are recommended to achieve the 

schemes core objectives, these include; 

• Improved operations 

• Increased revenue 

• Drive towards sustainability 

• Increased ridership 

• Grow the network/increase the modal split  

5.2.2 We have considered a number of ways to provide proposals in a way that can 

achieve the above which can be flexible and cost effective. A study undertaken 

for Dublin considered the strategic growth of the scheme by area, whilst this may 

work for Dublin with its current business model subsidising the bike scheme with 

advertising, it would be difficult to implement such a strategy for Belfast. 

5.2.3 Belfast is a smaller city and therefore proposals to achieve core objectives can be 

more localised and targeted based on changing demand rather than looking at 

large areas. 

5.2.4 The proposal table is designed to be used as a live tool for Belfast City Council to 

consider the recommendations, alter timelines and add new proposals based on 

the growth of the scheme. The full proposal table is shown as Appendix A. 

5.2.5 The proposals are broken down into 6 key headings with a description for each 

proposal backed up by the reason and outcome. An indicative target date, 

priority and cost are also listed. The key headings are listed below. 

 

• Bike Stations 

• Operation 

• Cycle Infrastructure 

• Policy Objectives 

• Financial 

• Scheme Extension 

 

Page 104



  

Page | 42 

 

5.3 DETAILED PROPOSALS 

5.4 Bike Stations 

5.4.1 A total of 11 proposals have been made that centre around bike stations, most of 

these proposals are relatively small changes but will make an impact to the overall 

performance of Belfast Bikes. There are 2 proposals that are linked with 

developments around North Street and Ulster University, continued discussions with 

these stakeholders will need to be maintained to ensure any proposals are aligned 

with the developments and the Belfast Bikes network. 

5.4.2 The main proposals around the bike stations are around the timing of introducing 

stations in particular areas of Belfast. Our research and discussions have steered 

the growth of the network to the south and east of the existing scheme in the first 

instance, however we must be mindful of demand the need to encourage cycling 

in the other less popular areas and social inclusion. 

Areas of Expansion 

5.4.3 In order to co-ordinate and manage an effective programme for the phased 

expansion of the Belfast Bikes a strategy based on geographical areas has been 

developed. These areas are simply split between the 4 area working group 

boundaries of Belfast City, north, south, east and west (please see Drawing Nos. 

70-1093-008-0011 – Stakeholder Requests). Due to the relatively small size of the 

scheme and the limited potential for growing the scheme outside of the Belfast 

District lines we have to be flexible in our approach to areas. It would be a mistake 

to specifically split these 4 areas into smaller areas due to different levels of 

demand at proposed boundary lines. This could cause conflicts between different 

wards. Therefore larger areas that cross over many political boundaries are less 

controversial. 

Criteria for Expansion 

5.4.4 In designing the expansion of the scheme it was important to ensure that the areas 

selected for expansion by the City or stakeholders could sustain the growth of bike 

share. With this in mind, a number of key components framed discussions around 

the selection of locations for the schemes expansion. These included the following: 

 

• Employment Destinations 

• Residential 

• Public Transport 

• Public Amenities 

• Resident Requests 

• Existing Usage at near by stations 

• Gaps in Network 

Page 105



  

Page | 43 

 

• Survey Feedback 

• Cycle Infrastructure 

• Land that is either owned or managed by Belfast City Council or where  

express permission to situate a biking dock in already in place 

5.4.5 In addition the experience of the Belfast Bikes scheme to date would suggest that 

the following should be considered when designing and determining the 

distribution of bike stations as part of any expansion: 

• Bike stations should be located in prominent locations which offer 

significant levels of visibility 

• Bike stations should be able to accommodate an adequate servicing area 

to support redistribution of bikes 

Scale or potential 

5.4.6 Belfast bikes already has 40+ stations contained predominantly within the centre 

of the City. The map below and shown in more detail in Drawing No. 70-1093-006 

– Indicative Scheme Boundary gives us an indication of the potential size of the 

scheme.  

5.4.7 It is envisaged that the total number of stations to cover this area is approximately 

between 100 and 120 including existing stations. As we know the approximate limit 

of the scheme we can make recommendations on a programme of new stations. 

The usage of stations is also not balanced equally around the existing scheme with 

the South and East being the most popular followed by the north and then with 

lower demand from the west and north west of Belfast. As mentioned previously 

Page 106



  

Page | 44 

 

new stations should follow demand as indicated from the pubic survey and existing 

usage figures, this would generate revenue to grow the scheme and eventually 

the revenue can then pay for expansions to other areas to ensure social inclusion.  

It is important to note that the areas of low use generally have little or poor cycle 

infrastructure, this can effect cycle take up significantly. Studies also suggest that 

areas with high deprivation can also be linked to low cycle use. To make real 

improvements in these areas then real investment not only in infrastructure but 

education is required to develop a cycling culture. This can be achieved with 

partners such as the Department for Infrastructure and Sustrans for example. 

5.4.8 Should funding become available to implement a programme that would deliver 

a network of cycle stations across Belfast then the following numbers would be 

proposed. 

5.4.9 The table below indicates a 5 year programme of growth assuming funding 

availability. We have assumed a cost of £30,000-£35,000 per station could includes 

12 docks and 10 bikes. Please refer to Drawing No. 70-1093-007-011 for areas. 

5.4.10 We have calculated the revenue as number of trips per bike per day multiplied by 

£1. Based on 181,000 trips between May 18 and April 19, we estimate the scheme 

is generating 1.52 trips per bike per day. Therefore our calculation for 10 bikes 

would be as follow; 

10 bikes x 365 days x 1.52 trips per day x £1 = £5548.00 we can estimate that with 

an increase in the network by 1 station and 10 bikes the scheme could generate 

£5548.00 less additional operational cost. 

 

5.4.11 Year 

Number of Stations 5.4.12 Total 

Numb

er of 

Station

s 

5.4.13 Total Cost 

5.4.14 Expected 

Revenue 

(cumulativ

e) 

North 

Area 

East 

Area 

South 

Area 

West 

Area 

2020 
2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

8 £280,000 

£44,384 

2021 2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

8 £280,000 £88,768 

2022 2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

8 £280,000 £133,152 

Page 107



  

Page | 45 

 

2023 2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

8 £280,000 £177,536 

2024 2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

2 

(£11096) 

8 £280,000 £221,920 

Totals 32 £1,400,000 £332,880 

New station matrix 

5.4.15 To aid the implementation of the programme a simple decision matrix has been 

developed to help decide and prioritise the best locations for any new station that 

are recommended. This is shown in Appendix D. 

5.5 Operation 

General 

5.5.1 As reviewed in section 3 the operation of Belfast Bikes is currently quite flat and 

does not appear dynamic in its delivery. This is not necessarily a reflection on the 

operator but on the existing terms of the contract and how the Belfast Bikes is 

delivered through its KPi’s.  

5.5.2 Some of the key comments around the Belfast Bikes scheme was to do with the 

quality of the bikes, distribution and the accuracy of the app. In addition users 

were frustrated when bikes were at stations but unavailable or on the app but not 

at the station. 

5.5.3 There are 12 new proposals for consideration by Belfast City to implement, these 

proposals look to improve all these concerns raised by stakeholders and users. In 

addition improvements to direct marketing, call centre management, training and 

vandalism are all proposed to raise the profile and usage of Belfast Bikes. In 

addition, relationships should be made with local social enterprises to develop the 

bike share scheme in difficult neighbourhoods, this approach works extremely well 

in Glasgow with Bike4Good. 

5.5.4 Other proposals include re tendering the operation and amending the KPi’s, 

although not a priority, this needs some thought as a new operator or the existing 

operator will need to be appointed by the end of the extension period. The 

combination of the absence of a Social Value Act in Northern Ireland and the level 

of capacity within the sector may make it difficult to ringfence a tender 

opportunity to Social Enterprises or Co-operatives.   

5.6 Cycle Infrastructure 

Page 108



  

Page | 46 

 

5.6.1 The review undertaken has uncovered a number of other improvements that will 

contribute to the increase in usage of the scheme and provide improved routes 

for all cyclists. One of the biggest issues around cycling is the ability to go to A to B 

without too many obstacles, it is important to ensure that a dedicated quality 

cycle network is provided not only in the City centre but also into the connecting 

neighbourhoods.  One-way streets are an example of a barrier to cycling and 

where road networks can be improved to remove these barriers this should 

happen. 

5.6.2 There is a urgent need to introduce routes that have been proposed  in the Draft 

Belfast Bicycle Network 2017, in particular routes 6, 7 and 8 would enable improved 

links to and from the City from the west and north. 

5.6.3 The other significant area for improvements over one way streets is in the centre of 

the City with particular reference to streets around the City Hall. There are many 

streets that could benefit from better access and safety proposals. 

5.6.4 In addition to contra-flows a number of key roads routes have been mapped 

based on users favourite stations (Drawing No- 70-1093-012 – Top Cycle Routes). 

This information should be used to progress cycle infrastructure proposals for Belfast 

Bikes alongside other bids by the City.  

5.6.5 Department for Infrastructure are also developing plans on large scale network 

improvements around the York Street Interchange , these improvements not only 

cater for buses and cars but also cycling. It is important to ensure these designs are 

consulted on when identifying new station locations. Infrastructure projects could 

be prioritised to coincide with the station expansion and the cycle network.  

5.7 Policy Objectives 

Longevity of the current cycle infrastructure 

We have secured confirmation from Nextbike that their new smart bike fully 

integrates with the Belfast infrastructure which in turn ensures the longevity of the 

current equipment and saves on capital expenditure. 

Joint Bidding 

5.7.1 Belfast City Council should also work together with other departments to ensure a 

joined up approach when bidding for funding. There are huge opportunities to 

collect additional funding by including Belfast Bikes proposals into infrastructure 

projects. For example a new cycle route may benefit with new stations along its 

length which would be a straight forward request for additional funding to provide 

these. 

Page 109



  

Page | 47 

 

5.7.2 Belfast Bikes should be included in a regular meeting that discusses new funding 

opportunities.  

City Pledge to support bike share 

5.8 Financial 

5.8.1 The core proposals around improving revenue are listed below, implementing 

these proposals would not be easy and does require political support from elected 

members. The 4 core proposals are; 

 

• Review user plans and tariffs 

• Review Tariffs every 2 years 

• Produce Sponsorship Packs 

• Developer Contribution Calculations 

Tariffs 

5.8.2 The review of user plans and Tariffs would only need to be done once. Once this is 

agreed a report to committee can be made with the recommendations, this 

report can also recommend that a review is undertaken every 2 years on the new 

tariffs, this is very important as it ensures the revenue will rise with inflation. 

Developer Contributions 

5.8.3 As outlined in earlier text in section 4 developer contributions can make a huge 

difference on the growth and sustainability of the scheme. We would recommend 

the continued application of develop contributions to fund the expansion of the 

scheme. 

5.9 Scheme Extension outside of Belfast City District 

5.9.1 As outlined in Section 4.2, it is possible to extend into the areas outside of Belfast 

City, however the cost implications to the City council on the increased operation 

costs would need to be met. This expansion would also need to be agreed with 

relevant neighbouring Councils and the operator. 

5.9.2 Should any of the local authorities listed below request a station or stations in their 

districts then a capital cost an operational fee would need to be calculated or the 

installation, maintenance and management of the infrastructure and service. It 

would also be for neighbouring councils to manage and administer the installation 

of the infrastructure, specifically land ownership, management and access.   

 

• Lisburn and Castlereagh 

• Ards North Down 

• Antrim and Newtownabbey. 

Page 110



  

Page | 48 

 

6. PROGRAMME FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

6.1.1 We have not specified a programme of works within the proposals table, we have 

however, put indicative timescales and a rag status on priority next to each item. 

As we are aware there is currently no funding for the expansion it was important 

therefore to split the proposals down into smaller work packages which then allows 

the implementation of the proposals at a slower more progressive rate. 

6.1.2 This approach will also allow the implementation of operational improvements, 

marketing and policy changes without the need to spend huge amounts of 

funding. 

6.1.3 It is envisaged that the proposal table will be reviewed and recommendations on 

work packages will be reported and recommended to be implemented at a 

Council Committee meeting. The proposals can then be reviewed on a yearly 

basis taking into account changes in demand and improvements to the City. 

Page 111



  

Page | 49 

 

7. CONCLUSION 

7.1.1 The Belfast Bikes scheme has changed the way residents, businesses and visitors 

use and see Belfast City. Since its introduction the scheme has not only grown in 

size but also in popularity with rentals and users increasing each year. Recent 

studies by Comouk also conclude the switch from other modes of transport to bikes 

increases with bike share schemes. 

7.1.2 The introduction of the Belfast Bikes scheme has developed into a transport 

alternative that has increased the promotion of cycling as a safe, healthy and 

environmentally sustainable form of transport. There has been a pronounced 

increase in cycling usage across Belfast in recent times, more investment is leading 

to the provision of improved infrastructure whilst more and more people are 

returning to the bike as an inexpensive, efficient and environmentally friendly 

mode of public transport. 

7.1.3 It is also clear from the public surveys that whilst they accept there are issues, they 

feel the Belfast Bikes is a very good addition and that it now a part of the City life. 

The bike scheme will be instrumental in encouraging the growth of people living 

and working in the city. 

7.1.4 The implementation of the Belfast Bikes scheme has been instrumental to the 

growth of cycling as a means of public transport Belfast, not just for commuting 

but for leisure. It is anticipated that the strategic growth of the network will add 

further momentum to this trend and offer sufficient incentive for people to choose 

this public service and decide to leave their cars at home.  

Page 112



APPENDIX B - BELFAST BIKES PROPOSAL TABLE 

Page | 1 

 

 

No TYPE DESCRIPTION REASON 
TARGET 

DATE 
PRIORITY Cost 

1 
City 

Centre  

2 stations in the city 
centre with low usage 
and with nearby 
alternatives have been 
identified for 
relocation: Cromac 
square/St Georges 
Market & Millfield / 
Divis Street   

Relocate to 
areas of 
potential 
demand   

Autumn 
2020 

Medium  
£5,000 - 
£10,000 

2 
City 

Centre 

Ulster University 
Development/ Tribeca 
/ Sirocco 

To provide 
additional 
capacity to 
deal with 

developments 
in the area 

ongoing Low 

Developer 
Contribution
/Partnership 

funding 

3  North  

New stations  
Expand the scheme to 
locate new stations 
along the York Gate, 
Shore Road 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2022 HIgh 

£60,000  
(this cost 
could be 

reduced if 
the current 
station at 
Girdwood 

was moved. 
It is subject 

to low usage 
and high 
levels of 

vandalism) 

4 North 

Antrim Road and the 
Duncrue estate. 
Translink have also 
been asked to include a 
new station as part of 
the York Street station 
redevelopment 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2023 Medium £60,000 

5 West 

New Stations  
 Expand the scheme to 
locate new stations 
along the Falls Road (St 
Marys 
College/Culturlann), 
Shankill Road, 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2022 High 

£60,000 (this 
cost could be 

reduced if 
the current 
station at 
the Royal 
Victoria 

Hospital was 
moved. It is 
subject to 
low usage) 

6 West 

New Stations  
Expand the scheme to 
locate new stations 
Springfield 
Road/Whiterock Road 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2023 Medium £60,000 

Page 113



APPENDIX B - BELFAST BIKES PROPOSAL TABLE 

Page | 2 

 

these areas 
would be 
popular 

7 East 

New Stations - New 
stations are proposed 
for the following 
areas Ravenhill road, 
Castlereagh Road 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2022 High £60,000 

8 East 

New Stations – 
Creagh Road, 
Holywood Road – 
Future consideration 
should be given to 
N’Ard Road/Belmont 
Road 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
demand 
indicated 

through the 
public 

survey/stakeh
older 

feedback 

2023 Medium £60,000 

9 South 

New Stations - New 
stations are proposed 
for the following 
roads Lisburn Road, 
Malone Road 

Gaps in the 
network 

identified and 
strong 

demand 
indicated 

through the 
public survey/ 

stakeholder 
feedback. 

2022 High £60,000 

10 

Expansion 
to 

neighbouri
ng 

authorities  

Provide Stations 
outside of the Belfast 
District Lisburn & 
Castlereagh City for a 
stations in proximity to 
Forestside shopping 
centre, Antrim & 
Newtownabbey 

To increase 
the network 

and 
availability of 
Belfast Bikes 

Summer 
2020 

Low 

£35,000 per 
station 

capital cost 
plus ongoing 

annual 
management 

cost per 
station per 

Borough 

11 
Bike 

Stations 
Greenway 

Introduce a 
station that 

could 
encourage 

more leisure 
trips 

Late 2020 Low £35,000 

12 
Bike 

Stations 

New 
stations/relocation 
matrix 

To provide a 
consistent 

approach to 
choosing and 

relocating 
stations 

ASAP High N/A 

13 Operation Review KPI’s 

Review KPI’s 
to inform the 
current way 
the scheme 
operates, 

existing KPI’s 
outdated at an 

appropriate 
point within 
the contract. 

ASAP High TBC 

Page 114



APPENDIX B - BELFAST BIKES PROPOSAL TABLE 

Page | 3 

 

14 Operation 
Consider tendering the 
operational contract 

To tailor the 
operation to 
the needs of 
the scheme 

and to include 
new standards 

and ways of 
operating 

2023 Low TBC 

15 
Operation

s 

Provide Cytech or 
equivalent training to 
all operational staff  

To improve 
quality of 

maintenance 
of bikes and 

workers 
career 

progression 

ASAP Low NSL 

16 
Operation

s 
Online maintenance 
database 

To improve 
the quality 

and speed of 
recording 

maintenance 
on bikes 

ASAP Low NSL 

17 
Operation

s 

Reduce Vandalism 
through continued 
discussions with Police 
and install temporary 
CCTV 

Reduce costs 
for 

replacement 
parts, to 

improve the 
overall 

performance 
of the scheme 

ASAP High TBC 

18 
Cycle 

Infrastruct
ure 

Investigate the 
introduction of cycle 
contra flows on one 
way streets in and 
around the current 
scheme extents 

To improve 
access and 
cycle safety 

2020 High DfI 

19 
Cycle 

Infrastruct
ure 

Investigate cycle 
infrastructure 
improvements in the 
vicinity of underutilised 
stations in the north 
and west  linking to 
proposals  identified in 
the Draft Belfast Bicycle 
Network 2017. 

To improve 
access and 
cycle safety 

2020 High DfI 

20 
Policy 

Objectives 

Promote the inclusion 
of bike share into all 
bids/proposals for 
public transport 
improvements 

To integrate 
the Belfast 

Bikes into the 
existing 

transport 
network 

Bids 
supported by 
Belfast bikes 
can in turn 

receive part of 
this funding 

ASAP High NA 

21 Financial 
Review user plans and 
tariffs 

To increase 
flexibility for 

users and 
increase 
revenues 

Summer 
2020 

High NA 

22 Financial 
Review tariffs every 
two years 

To keep bike 
usage fees in 

Every 2 
years 

Low NA 

Page 115



APPENDIX B - BELFAST BIKES PROPOSAL TABLE 

Page | 4 

 

line with 
inflation 

23 Financial 

A lighter touch 
approach should be 
taken to the tender for 
the renewal of the 
sponsorship contract. 
Resources should be 
allocated to warming 
up the market and 
producing a high 
quality sponsorship 
pack. 

To be ready 
for any 

sponsorship 
opportunities 

Winter 
2020 

High 
£10,000(trie

nnially) 
 

 

 

Page 116



1

Appendix 1 – Response to Draft Belfast Bicycle Network 2017 Consultation 
Document 

Question 1:
Do you agree that producing a Bicycle Network for Belfast is an important element of 
developing a more bicycle-friendly city? What time frame do you think it should cover?

Yes - producing such a plan will be important when addressing the barriers which deter people 
from cycling across the city. The BikeLife Belfast (2015) reported that almost 1 in 3 people in 
Belfast do not ride a bicycle but would like to. Addressing the bicycle infrastructure will be a key 
priority to realising the potential that travelling by bicycle can make to people’s lives and the city 
in general. This is recognised within the Bicycle Strategy for Northern Ireland and the Belfast 
Active Travel Action Plan.

We would encourage that while an initial timeframe to create the Bicycle Network for Belfast 
should be in the region of ten years, the Network should be seen as ‘ever improving’ with 
development, maintenance and adaptation to meet demand and advances in technology 
considered on a continuous basis.  

The timeframe for the delivery of the network will be dependent on the resources available and it 
is critical that adequate resources are allocated to the implementation of the plan. The Council 
would welcome a more collaborative working approach on the prioritisation and implementation 
of the Bicycle Network Plan.

We would highlight the success of the Belfast Bikes scheme and the high demand to expand the 
scheme outside the city centre which is underway in parts of the City. In order to support this 
scheme there is an urgent need to improve the overall cycling infrastructure across the City for 
current and future users.

Question 2:
Do you agree that these five criteria from the BMTP are still valid for the development of a 
network for Belfast? If not, what do you consider the criteria should be? Please explain.

Yes - the 5 criteria listed are still valid for the development of the Bicycle Network for Belfast. We 
would encourage that consideration is given to re-ordering the criteria to reflect the priority and 
potential of each criteria i.e. safety is listed as the fourth criteria, however, perceptions of safety 
would be the key barrier preventing more people from cycling. Without safe, practical, and 
continuous routes in urban areas it is unlikely that the increasing levels of cycling can be sustained. 
We would encourage the list to be re-ordered as follows: safety, coherence, directness, comfort 
and attractiveness.

Page 117



2

Question 3:
Do you agree that the development of a Belfast Bicycle Network is a key element in giving those 
who would like to cycle (but currently don’t) the freedom and confidence to do so?

Yes - the development of a Bicycle Network for Belfast will be key to giving those who would like 
to cycle freedom and confidence to do so. 

However the capital build element is only one element of encouraging an increase in cycling and a 
series of behavioural change programmes (including cycle training) and positively framed public 
awareness campaigns will be required to provide feelings of freedom and confidence.  It is also key 
that there is an enforcement campaign to ensure that cycle lanes are not misused by other road 
users. 

Safety is a concern for people in Belfast, when it comes to cycling. Belfast BikeLife (2015) reported 
only 29% of people surveyed rated cycling safety in Belfast as good or very good. The development 
of high quality infrastructure will be required to increase this figure.

Question 4:
Do you agree that the objectives in 3.9 should be applied to the network? If not, what objectives 
do you think should be set?
3.9 Objectives 

 To develop a comprehensive bicycle network for commuter, amenity and recreational 
cycling through the expansion of cycling infrastructure and cycling facilities;

 To bring good quality cycle routes within the reach of most people within the city;
 To ensure a consistent level of service in the design of safe infrastructure – providing 

dedicated infrastructure where there are large volumes of higher speed vehicles and shared 
facilities where the volume and speed of traffic is low;

 To encourage use of the bicycle and promote safe cycling through increasing the amount of 
bicycle parking, providing more cycling education programmes for both young people and 
adults, supporting events to promote cycling.

Yes – the objectives outlined cover the main points for consideration. We would encourage that 
consideration be given to phrasing the objectives in the language of outcomes, to match the 
direction being set by the draft Programme for Government and the draft Belfast Agenda.

Question 5:
Do you agree that the primary network should be based on the concept of arterial and orbital 
routes? 

Yes – the development of the Bicycle Network for Belfast should be pragmatic and make the most 
of the existing traffic infrastructure across the city. The use of arterial and orbital routes fits with 
the current infrastructure for motorised traffic and provides flexibility when planning bicycle 
journeys.

Page 118



3

Question 6:
Do you agree that the network should be developed in Primary and Secondary stages as 
outlined in 3.13? If not, how should it be developed?

Yes – the use of primary and secondary stages for development is again a pragmatic approach. 
Development of the Network should maximise existing infrastructure improvement schemes and 
future city developments. We would encourage focus to be given to routes which offer the 
greatest potential to increase the number of people using the bicycle, including consideration of 
areas which are to see an increase in population numbers.

Question 7: 
Do you agree that we should consider requirements of likely users on a scheme by scheme basis, 
for example routes which will primarily be used by children on the school journey may be best 
served as shared track?

Yes – while the planning of all routes should follow the same guiding principles, each route will be 
different in terms of potential users and mix of travel modes. The use of a mixed network of 
routes would provide options for cyclists of various abilities and for commuting as well as leisure. 

We would encourage that consideration be given to ensuring the highest levels of safety (traffic-
free cycle routes, shared pavements and protected bike lanes) are appropriately employed along 
routes i.e. highest level of safety near schools and along routes where motorised traffic may be 
faster flowing).

Question 8:
Are there any other kinds of bicycle infrastructure that should be considered? What are they? 
Do you have any views on which types of infrastructure, if any, should be favoured in 
developing a network for Belfast?

The Council would support innovative forms of cycling infrastructure provision and the 
development of segregated cycle routes /junctions similar to match the quality of best practice in 
Europe. In other areas, Authorities are currently trialling innovative cycling infrastructure such as:

 segregation within carriageway, side road crossings and separations methods;
 Dutch style roundabouts (kerb-segregated cycle track at carriageway level, orbiting the 

roundabout, with priority for cyclists across the entry and exit lanes); 
 Traffic signals for cyclist – high and low level; and 
 bus stop by passes. 

We would encourage that where possible the infrastructure providing the highest level of safety 
be used and where this is not possible consideration is given to the use multiple options i.e. the 
best suited physical infrastructure coupled with appropriate traffic calming measures.

Question 9:
Do you support the use of the network requirements as detailed at paragraph 5.1?

Para 5.1 Building on the themes agreed in the Bicycle Strategy we have drawn up a number of 
network requirements to assist in defining the general character of the proposed bicycle network in 

Page 119



4

Belfast. In order to develop and maintain a coherent and consistent network it is important that 
the requirements are referred to: 

 at the time of route selection; 
 during the design and implementation of individual routes within the network; 
 when changes to the network are being contemplated; 
 in other relevant planning documents; and 
 when the Belfast Metropolitan Transport Plan is reviewed and updated. 

Yes – the network requirements are appropriate.

Question 10:
Do you agree with the addition of ‘Adaptability’ as a network requirement? What other 
requirements would you like to see included?

Yes – routes along the network need to adaptable to ensure bicycle users of all abilities have the 
opportunity to experience the freedom and confidence to cycle, as set out within the ‘vision and 
objectives for cycling’.

Question 11: 
Do you agree that the routes should be planned and facilities designed with the achievement of 
increasing numbers of people cycling in mind? 

Yes – the development of the network should primarily be focused on increasing the number of 
people cycling. Changes to the physical infrastructure which slows or removes motorised traffic 
from a space may promote the use of that space for a variety of other uses. The network could 
allow for increases in other sustainable travel modes including walking and scooting. 

Question 12: 
What are your views on segregation between people who walk, people who cycle and people 
who drive? What are your views about physical segregation between motorised traffic and non-
motorised traffic? Do you agree that there are levels of traffic (footway or carriageway) below 
which physical segregation is not always necessary – such as quiet routes and residential areas? 

Segregation of people who walk, cycle or drive should be considered on the basis of potential 
speed of travel and volume of usage. The higher the potential speed or volume of traffic, the 
greater risk of serious incident. We would encourage that consideration is given to how 
infrastructure interventions are designed to prioritise the most vulnerable users i.e. where 
motorised traffic exceeds 20mph segregation is introduced, where people cycling have the 
potential to cycle above 5mph segregation is introduced. For quiet / residential areas which have 
effective traffic calming measures, physical segregation is not always required.

The Council would like to highlight the potential for shared use paths to create conflict between 
the pedestrian and cyclists. Busy pedestrian routes such as the shared path from Alfred Street to 
Cromac Street could benefit from some type of segregation such as demarcation or contrasting 
surfaces which could lead to a greater sense of safety, user confidence and comfort. 

Page 120



5

Question 13: 
How important is the requirement that ‘routes need to flow’? What kind of signage should be 
provided? What facilities should be provided? 

If the network is to encourage more people to cycle, then routes should provide an end-to-end 
journey for users and potential users. We would encourage that consideration be given to the type 
of journey most likely to take place across each route and appropriate signage and facilities be 
installed to match i.e. secure bicycle parking available at the end of each short route and within 
longer routes at points of interest is essential.

We would encourage the use of mixed signage throughout the network including directional 
signage, distance / time of travel signage, strong road markings, tourism signs / points of interest 
signs, etc.

Where required, the Council would suggest providing opportunities to rest / stop off (i.e. seating 
or shelter) on longer routes. The Council would also suggest including monitoring and traffic 
counters.  

Question 14: 
What is the relative importance between construction of a route and its maintenance? What 
other guiding principles would you suggest? Please explain. 

Maintenance of the network will be important to ensure its continual usage. We would encourage 
that the network if regarded as a significant part of the local traffic infrastructure and is given the 
due priority with relation to maintenance, removal of debris, treatment in winter, etc. The 
network should be seen as an extension of the road network, a supplementary alternative that 
supports the better flow of people across the city.  We would ask that the Council’s cleansing 
section is consulted during the design phase to ensure that consideration is given to allowing 
access for the mechanical sweepers which will be used to sweep the routes.  

Question 15: 
With reference to the appendices please set out your views on the proposed routes. We are 
interested in the positives or negatives associated with the various sections of the proposed 
routes. 

General points for consideration would be to:
 Whilst we welcome the plan and would agree in principle, it does impact on Council land 

therefore we would require clarification on the impact on our land in terms of access, 
pathways, lighting and gates.

 We would require clarification around potential financial issues relating to both the capital 
build and ongoing maintenance.  

 Maximize the existing network
 Incorporate the network within planned infrastructure improvements
 Prioritise the most vulnerable users of the network
 Align the highest level of safety infrastructure to parts of the network that carry the 

greatest risk of incident.

Page 121



6

Question 16: 
What are the specific issues that may arise if bicycle infrastructure was constructed along the 
proposed route? 

As there is currently limited detailed on the proposed routes it is difficult at this point to identify 
what specific issues might arise.  We would suggest that discussions take place with the relevant 
Council officers in relation to the specific proposed routes in relation to design, build and ongoing 
maintenance.  

Question 17: 
What other alternative routes are available?
The Council would request consideration is given to including a number of the main arterial routes 
in city which service high density residential areas as part of the primary network. 

In particular, the Lisburn and Ormeau Roads suffer from heavy traffic congestion and the 
opportunity to develop high quality cycle infrastructure along these routes to encourage modal 
shift is paramount. In addition, the south and north of the city will not benefit from the Phase 1 of 
Belfast Rapid Transit therefore, it is considered that priority should be given to promoting other 
sustainable modes such as walking and cycling routes.

The Council would also propose the creation of a community greenway to the south west of the 
City from the City Centre along the M1 Motorway to connect with the Lagan Towpath and Sir 
Thomas and Lady Dixon Park. The proposed southern arm of the West Route extends from the Bog 
Meadows along the M1 motorway to Kennedy Way where it then travels west towards 
Andersonstown Leisure Centre. It is suggested that a new community greenway is developed so 
the route continues south alongside the motorway to connect with the Lagan Towpath. The 
additional extension would provide an opportunity for a sustainable travel option to the south 
west of the city, provide a safer environment in which to encourage greater uptake of cycling, 
improve health and well being and support greater bio-diversity. Council officers would request to 
meet with the Cycling Unit to discuss in more detail. 

Page 122



 
 
APPENDIX D: Historic Performance 
Detailed below is a summary by month of rentals and associated revenue of the Belfast Bikes scheme: 
 

 
Month  

Revenue  
2018/2019 

Rentals 
2018/2019 

Revenue 
2019/2020 

Rentals 
2019/2020 

Revenue 
2020/2021 

Rentals 
2020/2021 

April £7,265.18 13274 £13,985.64 13306 £1,311.14 Furlough 

May £15,358.11 17867 £13,004.20 16720 £329.73 Furlough 

June £12,182.30 17448 £5,211.49 14698 £375.32 Furlough 

July £11,976.75 16878 £10,242.45 15350 £5,260.95 2898 

August £32,835.01 15406 £11,561.18 13799 £9,829.40 4693 

September £10,327.59 15438 £9,265.45 11959 £8,976.51 4755 

October £9,277.69 19373 £7,844.60 12402 £5,509.90 3274 

November £5,810.03 15031 £4,557.74 9173 £5,456.72 3462 

December £4,085.15 10526 £3,546.14 7829 £6,639.72 3149 

January £13,349.20 13316 £4,899.67 9712 £7,832.52 4967 

February £4,992.95 13434 £3,415.03 7540 £14,060.61 9233 

March £6,939.51 12314 £2,270.89 4761 £76,482.84 28903 

Totals £134,399.47 180,305 £89,804.48 137,249 £142,065.36 65334 

 
 
 

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E – Belfast Bikes Historic Vandalism 

Month 2018/2019 

Cost to 
BCC with 

£1,000 
deducted 2019/20 

Cost to BCC 
with £1,000 

deducted 2020/2021 

Cost to 
BCC with 

£1,000 
deducted 2021/2022 

Cost to 
BCC with 

£1,000 
deducted 

April £2,225.72 £1,225.72 £2,060.15 £1,060.15 
Scheme 
closed £0.00 £4,449.83 £3,449.83 

May  £923.54 £0.00 £2,707.56 £1,707.56 
Scheme 
closed £0.00     

June £1,977.04 £977.04 £3,303.62 £2,303.62 
Scheme 
closed £0.00     

July £835.00 £0.00 £1,904.37 £904.37 £1,404.21 £404.21     

August £1,222.15 £222.15 £2,374.58 £1,374.58 £1,967.16 £967.16     

September £2,635.72 £635.72 £0.00 £0.00 £1,991.79 £991.79     

October £934.62 £0.00 £1,939.41 £939.41 £814.09 £0.00     

November £3,316.47 £2,316.47 £1,701.91 £701.91 £468.11 £0.00     

December £738.00 £0.00 £1,417.24 £417.24 New Fleet £0.00     

January £2,130.22 £130.22 £2,274.42 £1,274.42 £1,259.31 £259.31     

February £1,930.35 £930.35 £978.42 £0.00 £1,432.43 £432.43     

March £1,119.20 £119.20 £1,215.05 £215.05 £4,153.22 £3,153.22     

Total £19,988.03 £6,556.87 £21,876.73 £10,898.31 £13,490.32 £6,208.12   £3,449.83 

 

N.B. Please note £1,000 is deducted from each month's figures as this is provided for in the contract 

 

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Employability NI Update  
 
Date: 9 June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

 
Contact Officer: Sinéad O’Regan, Employability and Skills Manager 

 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? 
 
Yes 

 
 
No 

 
X 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
 

1.0 Purpose of Report  

 The purpose of this report is to: 

 Update members on progress with the work of the Belfast Inclusive Labour Market 

Partnership (LMP) and seek approval of the emerging priorities to be considered as 

part of the action plan for 2021/22. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

 The members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the Council 

decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercises her delegated authority to:  

 

 

 

 

X  

Page 127

Agenda Item 4c



 Agree the high-level outline of the Belfast Labour Market Partnership strategic 

assessment and action plan, and agree that this is submitted to Department for 

Communities to access funding, for an initial 18-month period from September 2021. 

 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

Belfast Labour Market Partnership 

Members have previously been updated on the establishment of the Belfast Labour Market 

Partnership, under the banner of Employability NI.  The purpose of the partnership is to make 

employability and skills interventions more effective and support an inclusive approach to 

growth in the city.   

 

The partnership in Belfast is currently working on the 18 month action plan that is to be 

submitted to Department for Communities (DfC) by the end of June 2021 and will support 

activity through to March 2023.  Initial indications suggest that DfC and the Department for the 

Economy (DfE) will provide a financial contribution of around £1.45million pa to Belfast to carry 

out a series of agreed activities, as set out in the action plan.     

 

The strategic assessment has now been completed.  This provides the intelligence to underpin 

decision-making and inform the priorities for action.  It takes cognisance of issues such as: 

 Supply-side perspective including an analysis of current structure and composition of 

labour market, taking account of short-term impacts arising from Covid-19 as well as 

long-term structural challenges around economic inactivity, long term unemployment 

and geo-spatial deprivation 

 An analysis of labour market demand including the short-term demand pinch-points 

(such as logistics, social care and construction), sectors experiencing a skills mismatch 

(such as digital) and opportunities that can be built upon (such as the green economy)  

 High-level mapping of provision including the performance of existing interventions and 

opportunities to improve outcomes for participants (more people into work; higher skills 

levels in vocationally-relevant areas) – including consider of how these interventions 

can support inclusive growth. 

 

Based on our recent engagement with DfC – and taking account of the current challenges in 

the labour market - officers have identified priority target groups, key interventions and 

underpinning data and intelligence needs.  Our assessment suggests that this approach gives 

the best chance of seeing positive progress in the Belfast labour market over the 18-month 

period. 

Page 128



3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

  Priority target groups 

Based on the research and analysis, we have identified four priority target groups – detailed 

below.  We are in the process of considering the commensurate level of support for each of 

the groups, based on need.  We have categorised the groups as follows: 

 Quickly Back to Work: reducing the impact of Covid-19 on those whose employment 

was disrupted 

 Enabling Access: ensuring barriers are removed and pathways created for those who 

are long-term unemployed and economically inactive 

 No-one Left Behind: creating pathways to employment for disadvantaged people and 

communities; and 

 Catching Up: improving skills and qualifications through skill escalators for those in 

lower-paid work who wish to gain a better job. 

 

Key interventions 

Members will be aware that the council is already committed to a significant programme of 

investment in employability and skills, focusing on educational underachievement, economic 

inactivity and skills development in new growth areas.  The LMP will bring the existing 

programme of work together with activities being undertaken by partner organisations (FE 

college, DfE, DfC), looking at how these might be scaled up or how the effectiveness of their 

delivery might be improved.   

 

Some emerging interventions that have been proposed for consideration include: 

 Exploring transferable skills and employability ‘passports’ that are recognised by 

employers as an alternative to existing qualification requirements at recruitment 

 Creating better ‘bridges’ to jobs and skills for young people completing training and 

education 

 Ensuring intensive engagement and ‘levelling up’ support is effective for those further 

back in the labour market both in terms of employment and self-employment/business 

start-up; and creating joined-up employer engagement strategies to offer a ‘seamless’ 

package of support to employers 

 Enhanced, independent careers and education advice and guidance service for both 

adults and young people. 

 

The research undertaken identifies priority sectors for employability interventions including: 

 Sustainable construction, green economy and technology 

 Logistics & transport 

Page 129



 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 Health & social care 

 Opportunities generated by Anchor institutions and Community Planning partners 

 Technology and professional services, including digital and financial services. 

 

Data and intelligence 

One of the emerging priorities is a commitment to establishing a Labour Market Observatory.  

This will serve a number of functions, namely:  

 Tracking demand-side issues to ensure employment/workforce demand is 

identified and a co-ordinated approach is used to meet this demand; translating 

macro-economic data into better job matching 

 Tracking supply-side issues within the labour market such as the linkages between 

employment/unemployment and deprivation as well as barriers to accessing a job 

(e.g. childcare, skills) that will drive delivery and focus resources 

 Ensuring real-time intelligence on existing provision within the employability and 

skills ecosystem and creating solutions where gaps arise; using local level insights 

and engagement to make the delivery of existing interventions more effective 

 Reviewing progress of specific interventions on a regular basis to understand what 

is working and to share insights with partners 

 Co-designing interventions that can help move people back into work as quickly as 

possible – this will be particularly important for the “new unemployed”. 

 

Given that work is still be finalised on the action plan, it is proposed that a report is brought 

back to the August meeting of the City Growth and Regeneration Committee in order to update 

members on the details of the approved plan and to set out a timeline and delivery approach 

for key interventions.    

 

Financial and resource implications 

No specific additional financial contribution required from the council at this point for Labour 

Market Partnerships.  DfC has confirmed that it will provide resource support for the 

management and administration of the partnerships, alongside budget for programme 

delivery.  Details of support available are currently being finalised.  In the interim, officers are 

working to re-focus existing staff resources to support this important programme of delivery. 

   

Equality implications/rural needs assessment 

One of the key advantages of this approach is that it will enable us to target resources on 

specific groups, including those with particular access issues and barriers that currently 

Page 130



 

 

prevent them from accessing training and employment opportunities.  Labour Market 

Partnerships will be established in all council areas.   

 

4.0 Appendices 

 N/A  

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH & REGENERATION COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Conference Support Scheme 

 
Date: 9 June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

 
Contact Officer: Eimear Henry, Senior Manager – Culture and Tourism 

 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for amendments to the current Conference 

Support Scheme in order to ensure that Belfast can compete more effectively in the highly 

competitive international conference market.  

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the Council 

decision of 4 May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

- Approve the proposed amendments to the Conference Support Scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

x  

× 

Page 133

Agenda Item 5a



- Approve the annual budget of £200,000. 

 

3.0 Main Report  

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

Belfast City Council works with Tourism Northern Ireland (TNI), Visit Belfast (VB) and a range 

of key strategic stakeholders to position Belfast as a destination of choice for Meetings, 

Incentive events, Conferences and Exhibitions (MICE). This business is lucrative, with the 

average MICE delegate being worth on average three times that of the leisure visitor. 

Business Tourism brings valuable business to Belfast during mid-week and shoulder season 

periods when there are less visitors and more available capacity.   

 

A report commissioned by Belfast City Council into the impact of Covid-19 reinforced that 

Business Tourism had contributed significantly to the city’s growth in recent years. However, 

this has also made the industry particularly vulnerable to the effects of the pandemic and 

unable to solely rely on adapting their business model to the domestic market to aid recovery. 

 

The viability of the expansion of accommodation in the city including 1200 new bedrooms had 

been based on the success of business tourism including assets such as ICC Belfast. This in 

turn brought wider spend into the visitor economy – taxis, restaurants, etc.  Belfast’s ability to 

compete in this market was in part due to the operation of a successful Conference Support 

Scheme, which sought to de-risk conferences choosing Belfast as their destination of 

choice.  This type of scheme is common practice in the global MICE industry.  Belfast City 

Council and Tourism NI match fund the Conference Support Scheme for Belfast, to the level of 

£200,000 per partner, creating a fund of £400,000 per annum, which is administered by Visit 

Belfast.   

 

Conference support is critical for Belfast given we are still considered a “challenger” 

destination in the MICE space. For a conference to relocate to Belfast compared to a city on 

the GB mainland, it will incur more costs such as venue hire, flights, increased transport costs 

for exhibitor set ups and the potential decrease in delegate numbers as additional travel is 

required, as opposed to delegates driving or using public transport.  

 

The scheme commenced in 2013 and in March 2017 the current model was established with 

Tourism NI being an equal funder with an investment £200,000 per year. In August 2019, 

Council agreed an extension of the scheme to run up to 2030 in order to enable bidding for 

conferences that are planned several years in advance. 

 

Page 134



3.6 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

By 31 March 2019, the Conference Subvention Scheme for Belfast had secured 101 

conferences with funding of £1.6 million, generating £97 million in Economic Impact - a clear 

indication of its critical role.  NISRA statistics for conferences and business tourism in Belfast 

for 2019 estimated a total economic impact of £70 million. 

 

The onset of COVID and the devastating impact on the MICE landscape, has intensified the 

need for a more flexible scheme.  70% of Belfast’s conference and meetings business is from 

the GB market and with a future post Brexit and Covid macro landscape, investment in this 

sector and market is essential to support recovery.  

 

Visit Belfast on behalf of the partners have worked throughout 2020/21 to review support and 

current letters of offer for conferences in 2021, 2022 and 2023. Assistance was provided to 

conference organisers who were making decisions whether to move dates, go hybrid or 

virtual.  Belfast’s commitment to honouring support agreed in advance of the pandemic has 

resulted in the retention of the majority of conferences ensuring that even with new targets in 

place, economic benefit to the city will be delivered. Visit Belfast has worked with BCC and 

industry partners to retain 103 conferences due to take place in Belfast (2021 – 2028) worth 

£72.9m in potential economic impact for the city. 

 

Officers have investigated a number of options over the past 12 months to ensure that the 

scheme can continue to deliver an excellent return on investment whilst being flexible enough 

to adapt to changing circumstances. This is necessary of Belfast is to continue to secure new 

business.   

 

Liaison with colleagues in GB and Ireland has been informative and we are aware of other 

competing destinations that have been reviewing and seeking to increase their Conference 

support – i.e. Failte Ireland will increase their “Per Delegate” award from 10 Euros to 30 Euros 

basic support, further enhanced with additional monetary support based on a range of bonus 

point elements. This is under review with potential for further enhancement to basic 

support.  The pandemic has also resulted in a change in strategy for a number of UK cities 

away from international conferences to bidding for events closer at home, thereby the market 

is even more competitive than before. 

 

Whilst a realistic approach must be taken to setting new key performance indicators for a 

return on investment, this is the recommended approach to allow for stability that can then 

Page 135



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

lead to renewed growth in future years. This risk is that without amendments to the scheme 

that business will be lost to the city that will have a greater detrimental effect on economic   

impact for the city, at a time when the tourism and hospitality industry is in crisis.   

In addition to direct return on investment a number of non-monetary benefits should also be 

considered when reviewing the impact of the scheme. These include: 

- Destination Perception: A move to increase financial support for meetings and 

conferences will be positively viewed by Professional Conference Organisers (PCOs) 

where financial viability is now their paramount concern.  

- Corporate reputation for Belfast:  Meetings and Conferences not only generate 

economic impact but also position Belfast and Northern Ireland as leaders in specific 

sectors including Life Sciences and Fintech, linked to FDI and aligned to investment 

priorities of Belfast City Council and Invest NI. 

 

Working together with Tourism NI and other strategic partners, a number of options have been 

examined and it is recommended that the scheme should move to a model of £50 per head 

conference subvention, to ensure that Belfast can compete more effectively on a national and 

international stage in the highly competitive conference market; thereby continuing to deliver a 

return on investment, and contribute to recovery, sustainability and growth. This replaces the 

current model where funding is granted based on a banding system aligned to economic 

impact. Economic impact is calculated by the number of delegates x bed nights per delegate = 

the total number of bed nights x the delegate spend per day = total economic benefit. As the 

proposed new model is still based on the primary input of number of delegates, economic 

impact remains the key consideration. However by having a clear per delegate rate increases 

transparency and is considered an easier sales tactic when positioning the city to compete 

and secure business.  

 

The table below illustrates the proposed conference subvention and resulting economic return 

from a £50 per head support for conferences with a minimum of 100 delegates and up to a 

maximum of £100,000. Support for larger conferences would be considered on a case by case 

basis.  Economic return is based on industry average of delegates staying for 3 nights. 

Delegates 
Bed 

nights 

Economic 

Impact 

Per Delegate Scheme 

(£50) – Proposed 

Amount  
ROI 

(1:29) 

100 300  £     146,682.00  £           5,000.00  29 

200 600  £     293,364.00  £         10,000.00  29 

Page 136



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

300 900  £     440,046.00  £         15,000.00  29 

400 1,200  £     586,728.00  £         20,000.00  29 

500 1,500  £     733,410.00  £         25,000.00  29 

600 1,800  £     880,092.00  £         30,000.00  29 

700 2,100  £ 1,026,774.00  £         35,000.00  29 

800 2,400  £ 1,173,456.00  £         40,000.00  29 

900 2,700  £ 1,320,138.00  £         45,000.00  29 

1,000 3,000  £ 1,466,820.00  £         50,000.00  29 

2,000  6,000  £ 2,933,640.00  £      100,000.00  29 

 

In addition to driving economic impact for Belfast the scheme will move to delivering additional 

outcomes for funders and the destination.  Greater focus will be on how the event organiser 

will promote the destination in their marketing and where relevant, partnering on pre and post 

extender campaigns for international delegates.   This ensures the scheme will deliver mutual 

benefits. Consideration will also be given to sustainability and legacy. 

 

Council will work together with Tourism NI and Visit Belfast to agree and implement 

governance, monitoring and evaluation arrangements through a revised Service Level 

Agreement.  As recovery progresses the Conference Support Scheme will be reviewed 

regularly. 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

£200,000 provided from within the existing Tourism, Culture, Heritage and Arts budget. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

None  

 

4.0 Appendices 

 None 

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 

 
 

 

Subject: Update on City Events Programme 

 

Date: 09 June 2021 

 

Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

 

Contact Officer: Eimear Henry, Senior Manager, Culture & Tourism 

 
 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report  

1.1 

 

 

 

The purpose of this report is to set out: 

- Proposed updated approach to city events further to previous decision taken in 

January 2021 to suspend the direct delivery of events until September 2021.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 

 

The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4 May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

 Note and agree the proposed approach to the delivery of events in the remainder of 

2021 including budget implications as set out at 3.17 and Appendix 1. This approach 

is subject to ongoing review in accordance with COVID 19 legislation and guidance.  

 Note and agree the proposal to take forward the date to recommence the direct 

delivery of city events to August 2021. This will allow for the delivery of a market at 

 

 

 

 

 

x  

x 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5b



City Hall over August bank holiday subject to compliance with health and safety 

requirements and confirmation of financial viability. 

 
 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

Members will be aware that in January 2021, SP&R Committee agreed the recommendation 

that events delivered directly by Council should be suspended until September 2021. This 

did not prevent digital programmes or the delivery of Council funded activity where this 

complies with the most up to date legislation and guidance relating to COVID-19.  

 

On an annual basis, the Council’s City Events Unit delivers a series of large-scale public 

events, which are free to access by both citizens and visitors to the city, on behalf of Belfast 

City Council. The Tourism, Culture, Heritage and Arts Unit also support a number of annual 

programmes and activities. Committee will be aware that a ten-year Cultural Strategy for 

Belfast is currently being delivered. This strategy sets out long-term recommendations for 

events in the city including better strategic alignment across the Council in the design, 

delivery and funding of events.   

 

For 2021/22, the recommendation agreed was to continue to allocate budget to deliver 

and/or support specified events however to suspend any direct delivery to September 

onwards. 

 

The re-opening of the city, the easing of restrictions and the ongoing impact of Covid-19 has 

accelerated the need to consider the role of events in a wider programme of seasonal 

animation and recovery that seeks to: 

- Improve the cultural vibrancy of the city  

- Foster civic pride 

- Position the Belfast brand 

- Support the local culture, arts and events sectors 

- Deliver direct economic benefits 

- Support businesses 

 

The main focus of this report is in relation to the immediate requirement to agree an approach 

to Q2 and Q3 of the 2021/22 financial year to ensure adequate planning and risk 

management. This includes reviewing current position to suspend direct delivery until 

September 2021.  

 

Proposed Approach 

June/ July 2021 

Following the further easing of restrictions on 24th May it will become clearer as to the 

outlook for city recovery in the high season months of June and July. However, for tourism Page 140



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

and hospitality businesses recovery will also be dependent on a strong uptake from GB and 

Ireland markets as well domestic and local visitors to the city on daytrips or city breaks. Visit 

Belfast and Tourism NI both have activity planned to attract domestic visitors into the city 

including Tourism NI’s Embrace a Giant Spirit TV cycle for Belfast commencing 31st May. 

Other marketing activity had been subject to review and clarity over guidance relating to the 

common travel area. 

 

In addition to the marketing of the city, consideration is also being given to some level of 

street animation to support vibrancy of the city centre. Feedback to date from the sector has 

focussed on current lower levels of footfall Monday through Thursday and concerns over the 

outlook further into 2021 and the need to sustain demand into the Autumn. Within the next 

number of weeks, it will become clearer as to whether hospitality in particular will improve 

across the week with restrictions lifting on eating in. However, if required and in line with 

ongoing restrictions animation activity and programming could be put in place over the 

summer months to support recovery.  

 

August 2021 

August is traditionally a busy period for the city and the cultural sector with events including 

EastSide Arts Festival, Belfast Mela and August Féile. All of these events are intending to 

deliver activity on the ground in August. Whilst event organisers recognise that a return to 

2019 will not be possible in terms of larger scale attendees at single events, an innovative 

approach is being taken to combine live programming with digital content. Activity is also 

being dispersed through extended timeframes and multiple locations.  

 

Given the likely landscape for August it is therefore proposed that the previous decision to 

suspend events until September 2021 is reconsidered to allow for the market that normally 

takes place on the Spring bank holiday to be delivered on the August bank holiday. This will 

be subject to compliance with health and safety requirements and confirmation of financial 

viability. 

 

At present a number of other complementary initiatives are in development with Council 

working with the BIDs to take forward initiatives to support businesses and improve the 

overall city centre experience. Currently this includes a proposal for hubs in the city centre 

with seating and dressing to allow eating spaces for take away and street food offerings. 

This is to support existing businesses with no plans presently to provide an additional food 

offer. Subject to full compliance with guidance this could be further supported with animation 

activities including music.  

 

September-December 2021 

Officers have been working to develop a potential cultural recovery programme including 

animation, events and festival activity for September – December 2021. Page 141



 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To date a number of culture and arts organisations have indicated that they intend to deliver 

substantial activity at this time of year. This includes programmes that normally take place 

such as Culture Night (September), International Arts Festival (October) as well as other 

festivals rescheduling from earlier in the year such as Cathedral Quarter Arts Festival. There 

is therefore emerging a critical mass of activity that subject to ongoing restrictions would help 

drive domestic footfall as well as visitors from GB and Ireland.  

 

The programme would also include Belfast City Council direct delivery activity including the 

Maritime Festival in September, Freedom of the City music showcase in Oct/ Nov and a new 

approach to a Christmas seasonal programme. Council will also assume a more pro-active 

role in co-ordinating activity and this has been positively received following engagement with 

the cultural sector.  

 

It is therefore proposed that Council takes the following approach: 

• Deliver Cultural Recovery Programme as part of city re-opening and recovery with 

focus on – ‘Culture is back’: 

o re-opening and re-stablishing venues and activities 

o Adapting and delivering new programming e.g. increased use of public 

spaces 

o Increased audience engagement including campaign to increase confidence 

and return to activity 

• Timing: 

o Development phase: June – July 2021 

o Launch August 2021 

o Critical mass of activity through seasonal programmes with 2 distinctive 

phases:  

 Autumn (September – mid Nov 2021) 

 Christmas (Mid-Nov to New Year) 

• Proposed approached: 

o Co-ordinated programme with Council operating a clash diary with partners 

across events, festivals and arts sector.  

o Overarching Marketing and Communications Campaign with implementation 

plan to include Council, Visit Belfast and cultural partners.  

o Additional animation and dressing to increase connectivity across the 

programme.  

o Dedicated music programme – aligned to UNESCO application and music 

recovery plans. 

o Dedicated hospitality initiatives - a food tourism recovery plan is being 

commissioned to be completed in July. Recommendations will be 

implemented in partnership with BIDs and local industry.  Page 142



 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

 

 

3.18 

 

 

 

 

 

New concepts for Christmas are currently in development and will be completed by June 

2021. This lead in time is designed to ensure increased co-operation with other partners 

including BIDs, Castlecourt, Victoria Square and Titanic Belfast. This alignment will 

maximise the impact of an overall city approach to Christmas in 2021. Building on 2020 there 

will also be opportunities to provide support to neighbourhood initiatives and ensure these 

are integrated into the overall Christmas programme.  

 

Remaining events in 2022 

A future report will be presented in relation to St Patrick’s Day as development work is 

underway to look at a refreshed approach to this event from 2022 onwards. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications  

The costs associated with the delivery of this programme is included in departmental 

budgets. Support for Marketing and Communications activity will be drawn down from 

existing allocation within revitalisation funding.  

 

Equality & Good Relations Implications  

The proposed programme of events is open to all and as such have the potential to promote 

good relations and equality by bringing together people from a wide range of backgrounds. 

Events are part of the cultural strategy for Belfast that has been subject to EQIA.  

4.0  Appendices – Documents Attached 

4.1  Appendix 1 – Updated 2021 Events Programme and costings. 

 
 

 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Details of proposed 2021 Events Programme and costings. 
 

Animation Programme June – August 2021 

Activity Programme Expenditure £ 

Street animation  £15,000 

Partnership with BIDs £20,000 

 

Delivery of Cultural Recovery Programme: September – November 2021 

Activity Programme Expenditure £ 

Maritime Festival  £280,000 

Music Programme £60,000 

Partnership with BIDs £20,000 

Enhanced support for cultural 
sector £60,000 

 
 
Delivery of Cultural Recovery Programme: November – December 2021 

Activity Programme Expenditure £ 

Direct delivery of Christmas 
seasonal programme of 
activity £200,000 

Belfast City Centre 
Management – Christmas 
Lights £50,000 

Family Christmas Event £60,000 to be delivered in partnership with Cahoots NI 

Neighbourhood Programme £80,000 

 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Subject: Update on Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor 

 

Date: 9 June 2021  

 

Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

 

Contact Officer: Cathy Keenan, Enterprise and Business Growth Manager 

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  

 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an update on progress to date 

on work to support the development of the Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor and next steps 

in developing the work programme to achieve the ambitions of the corridor partnership.   

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 147

Agenda Item 5c



2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of the 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

- Note the contents of this report and progress to date to develop the Dublin-Belfast 

Economic Corridor. 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

At its meeting on the 3 March 2021 members were provided with an update on progress to 

support the development of the Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor and details of the official 

launch event which took place on the 24 March 2021.  At the meeting members noted the 

progress to date, endorsed the launch events and emerging plans of the partnership.   

 

Members will be aware that since the establishment of the partnership, partner councils have 

been working to shape its future direction and to find ways to work collaboratively to realise 

the potential benefits of the further development of the Corridor.  In 2019 DCU and UU were 

commissioned to carry out research on behalf of the councils to inform how the councils 

could collaborate for mutual benefit between the cities of Dublin and Belfast and the regions 

between.  The report detailed the current economic performance of the Corridor and the 

prospects for the region based on current trends. The report also began the work of 

identifying potential areas for cooperation which could create a stronger trajectory for growth 

in priority areas including R&D, Skills, Tourism, Infrastructure, Trade and Investment.    

 

However, since this initial research was undertaken the global economy has been 

significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in monumental declines in levels 

of economic activity across the board. The pandemic has also had an impact on the speed 

of the partnership’s plans to support economic regeneration across the corridor area, 

however the pandemic has highlighted the interdependencies across the area and reinforces 

the need for a coordinated commitment to enhancing the future economic potential of the 

corridor. Therefore, the councils have proceeded with the development of the partnership 

and agreed to putting in place an official launch event to showcase the work undertaken to 

date, highlighting the councils commitment to driving inclusive economic growth across the 

area.  

 

On the 24 March 2021 the councils executed the formal launch of the corridor partnership. 

The aim of the launch was to position the Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor in the minds of 

decision-makers in government, state agencies and in the business community to present a 

Page 148



 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

cohesive, regional approach to economic development along the corridor among the 8 local 

government bodies.  

 

Hosted by David McWilliams the event included a range of segments such as panel 

discussions and keynote speeches which outlined the vision for the area to become the 

premier location to live, work and do business.  The event showcased a range of businesses 

who have used their location on the corridor to support their growth ambitions and create 

jobs.  There was also a focus on how as partners we can better collaborate to realise the 

areas full potential and build inclusive economic resilience.   

 

Event speakers included representation from a range of ministers, councils, university 

representatives and businesses across the partnership area.  Ministers included Conor 

Murphy MLA, Leo Varadkar T.D., Robin Walker MP, and Darragh O’Brien T.D.  In total 915 

individuals logged on to view the event approximately 500 from Ireland and 400 from the UK, 

demonstrating a balanced interest in attending the launch.   

 

Now that the official launch has taken place, the partnership are working to develop a plan 

of activity to progress the recommendations of the initial research, delivering against priority 

areas of work and identifying opportunities to access funding to support the development of 

the corridor.  Some of the key action/areas of work to be undertaken to achieve this include:  

 First meeting of the political advisory group will take place in June 2021.  

Representatives from Belfast City Council include Councillors George Dorrian, 

Ciaran Beattie and Eric Hanvey. The aim of this initial meeting is to provide the group 

with an outline work plan and to seek input and strategic advice on the future direction 

of the corridor partnership.  

 Governance structures have been extended to include a business advisory group 

This group will provide advice and guidance to support the strategic direction of the 

partnership and provide invaluable private sector input.  Members of the partnership 

are currently working to agree representation that includes an adequate sectoral 

spread and mix of both large businesses and SME’s, the first meeting is expected to 

take place in August.  

 A marketing and communications steering group will be put in place led by Fingal 

County Council.  Work is underway to develop a marketing and comms plan for the 

partnership to continue to raise awareness of the area across multiple marketing 

channels, this will include ongoing engagement with businesses to develop case 

Page 149



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

studies and the development and delivery of a series of webinars aligned to priority 

areas of work.  

 The Chief Executive group have identified that an initial priority focus should be on 

R&D therefore a scoping exercise is being undertaken to identify existing R&D 

focussed delivery across the area and identify gaps in delivery and potential 

opportunities for collaborative interventions.   

 A number of meetings have taken place to date to identify future funding opportunities 

with organisations including SEUPB and the Shared Island Unit.  The partnership is 

now working to further scope out these opportunities and will be developing proposals 

aligned to priority areas for collaboration to deliver on the work programme being 

developed.   

 There has been agreement by the partnership to develop a strategy and action plan 

which reflects the needs and economic opportunities for the region and sets out 

clearly articulated “asks” and “interventions” that can be supported by central and 

local government as well as the private sector.  The terms of reference for this piece 

of work is currently being developed, it is expected that this will be procured in July 

2021.  

 

Members will be provided with regular updates on the partnerships progress.  

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

The activities outlined within this report will be resourced from the 2021/22 Enterprise and 

Business Growth budget.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

The unit is currently undertaking a process of equality screening on the overall work 

programme, this will ensure consideration is given to equality and good relation impacts 

throughout the delivery of this project.  

 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 N/A 

 

Page 150



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Economic strategy approach 

 
Date: 9 June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: John Greer, Director of Economic Development 

 
Contact Officer: Lisa Toland, Senior Manager, Economy  

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 

 

 

The purpose of this report is to advise members of planned work on an economic vision and 

strategy for Belfast for the period to 2030, in line with emerging government policy, ensuring 

a focus on inclusion and levelling up and maximising the contribution of Belfast to the regional 

economy.  

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 

 

 

The members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercises her delegated authority to: 

 Note the proposed approach to the economic strategy for Belfast 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 151

Agenda Item 5d



  Agree for members to engage in the strategy development work in order to ensure 

alignment with emerging council priorities.  

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members will be aware that the pandemic has had a significant impact on the global 

economy.  As places begin to emerge from operational restrictions, town and cities are 

considering how they can work most effectively to support businesses and individuals in the 

short-term while considering the longer-term implications of changes to working practices 

and consumer behaviour on their infrastructure and environment.  

 

The changes have been well documented:  

 Increased focus on the use of technology across all sectors (and across wider 

consumer groups) 

 Reduction in traditional High Street retail with a resultant growth in online business  

 Growth in vacancies as a result of retail closures – with city centres most significantly 

impacted 

 Unprecedented levels of redundancies, with more than 100,000 people across NI on 

furlough at its peak (20,000 of whom were Belfast residents) 

 Doubling of unemployment – with more significant increases for young people 

 Consumer-focused businesses most significant impacted – particularly hospitality 

and retail – with job numbers unlikely to return to pre-Covid figures 

 Resilience of some sectors – including tech and digital, health and social care – and 

increased demand in new sectors – particularly transport and logistics and green 

tech/renewables. 

 

In response to these changes, the Northern Ireland Executive and the government 

departments have been working on a series of new policy approaches, in parallel with the 

Pathway to Recovery work that has driven the short-term recovery and rebuilding work.  

These include: 

 10 X Economic Vision for a decade of innovation: this aspires to positioning Northern 

Ireland amongst the small advanced economies in the world, ensuring that the 

benefits of this change felt by everyone.  It aligns closely with commitments set out 

in the City Deal programme 

 Programme for Government: the NI Executive has recently consulted on the draft 

outcomes framework for the next Programme for Government.  Indicative outcomes 

include: 

o Everyone can reach their potential 

Page 152



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

o Our economy is globally competitive, regionally balanced and carbon neutral 

o People want to live, work and visit here 

o We live and work sustainably, protecting the environment 

 Development of a new skills strategy: this new approach is grounded in work 

undertaken by the OECD over the last 2 years.  The consultation on the Strategy is 

to be released at the end of May 2021. It focuses on three priority approaches, 

namely: 

o Reducing skill imbalances and driving economic growth 

o Creating a culture of lifelong learning 

o Enhancing digital skills.   

 Employability NI: members have received a number of recent update reports on the 

establishment of Labour Market Partnerships (LMPs) in each council area, as a 

means of enhancing coordination on employability and skills interventions at a local 

level.  The LMPs are part of a wider approach to revamping provision – under the 

banner of Employability NI.  This is a cross-government approach involving, in 

particular, the Department for Communities (DfC) and the Department for the 

Economy (DfE). 

 

Meanwhile the UK government is pursuing a strong “levelling up” agenda, through which it 

is making significant investments in initiatives that will address the current economic 

imbalances across the UK, particularly in terms of employment/unemployment, economic 

inactivity, disadvantage and deprivation and infrastructure investment.  The emerging 

innovation strategy also presents opportunities to address long-running under-investment in 

R&D.  There are a number of live and imminent funding opportunities aimed addressing 

these issues.  There is a strong focus on place-based interventions and this is likely to 

become an increasing feature of policy development as we move beyond the economic 

recovery approach.   

  

There are some common themes emerging from these pieces of work: 

 Commitment to inclusive economic growth (albeit that this is articulated in different 

ways in each of the documents) 

 Focus on those sectors in which the city/region has competitive advantage 

 Recognition of need for greater collaboration across government – as well as with 

private sector and those from the voluntary and community sector 

 Increasing focus on place-based interventions and solutions 

Page 153



 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Need to re-shape and sharpen the unique selling points of city and regional 

economies – and develop new go to market strategies in a post-Covid, post-Brexit 

operating environment.   

 

Members will also be aware of the work of the Innovation and Inclusive Growth Commission 

– the grouping of local and international experts that has been offering expertise and insights 

on how to generate inclusive economic growth in Belfast.  The Commission’s work picks up 

on many of these themes and, given its independence and the individual and collective 

intellect of the group, its draft final report directly calls out the need for timely and targeted 

government investment if Belfast is to achieve its potential.  

 

Like many cities, Belfast is now at a crossroads – not only in terms of how it rebuilds its 

physical fabric but also in terms of its business base, its economic ambition in this new 

environment, its cultural vibrancy and how attractive it is as a place to live and work and 

deliver on its aspiration to “build back better”.   

 

While the council has been working closely with government departments in the development 

of the new strategic approaches,  it is clear that there is a need to articulate the city’s strategy 

for inclusive economic growth over the next decade, focusing on how it can contribute to the 

delivery of regional ambitions and articulating its investment needs in its role as the regional 

economic driver.  This is important as we move into a new “phase” of the Belfast Agenda, 

developing new stretch targets for the coming five year period in order to refocus efforts on 

achieving those long-term, partnership-driven ambitions that continue to focus our 

collaborative working.   

 

The purpose of the strategy will be to set out the economic vision for the city up to the period 

2030 and outline clear actions over the short, medium and long term in order to deliver on 

the vision.  The strategy will also take account of the role of the council and articulate actions 

or asks to be delivered by the council and its strategic partners in order to deliver sustainable 

and inclusive economic growth.  It will consider indicative investment levels required to bring 

forward headline objectives, strategic priorities and key actions so that these can inform our 

lobbying position with the various levels of government and help us to articulate the city 

position on and maximise access to resources from emerging funding opportunities such as 

Levelling Up, Shared Prosperity Fund and Peace Plus.   

 

Page 154



3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

One of the key elements of work that will need to be considered is how the city positions 

itself internationally.  Our International Relations Framework (which has now expired) 

focused activity on Belfast’s partner cities, making the case for a smaller number of 

relationships that run deep, rather than a multitude of superficial engagements.  A recent 

thinkpiece on this area that was used to contribute to the Innovation and Inclusive Growth 

Commission’s work drew on a series of interviews with senior government officials to present 

a number of recommendations that included: 

 Be strategic: there was a clear view of strategic growth sectors for the city (and wider 

city region) including cyber security, fin-tech, artificial intelligence, life sciences, 

health tech, advanced manufacturing and the creative arts. There was a desire for 

the city to resist spreading itself too thinly and to instead focus ruthlessly on those 

things which will make the most difference to Belfast’s economic future 

 Boost trade and investment: Targeted outreach to sectoral centres of excellence 

around the world can foster collaboration and bring economic dividends. The 

research proposed that the council should work with universities, industry leaders 

and Invest Northern Ireland to further build relationships with high growth sectors and 

their investors. It also noted the important of a sustained and coordinated programme 

of work to help change the perception of Belfast in key markets across the world   

 Be clear about the purpose: Belfast’s desire to build stronger outward-looking 

relationships was recognised in the research.  However, those interviewed noted that 

there was limited appetite for relationships for relationships’ sake. Rather, there was 

a desire to work on shared agendas or projects of mutual benefit 

 Value of approaching this as more than a council: there was widespread support for 

Belfast to take a stronger lead in relationship building across Ireland and the UK to 

further economic growth and prosperity, and those interviewed stressed the need for 

city actors to work collectively, rather than the council seeking to do this on its own. 

Stakeholders were also clear about the need for role clarity among partners – letting 

those best placed take the lead as appropriate 

 Time is of the essence: the research identified the need for Belfast to reposition itself 

in a post-Brexit world.  There was praise for Invest Northern Ireland and others but a 

recognition that there was still some distance to go before Belfast/NI has the 

(domestic and international) profile and influence it needs to succeed.  

 

While Belfast City Council has a role to play – particularly in maximising existing city to city 

relationships – the research points towards the value of setting international engagement in 

the context of a wider economic strategy.  This means focusing on key sectors and markets 

Page 155



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

3.14 

aligned to Belfast’s unique selling points and assets and taking a partnership approach to 

promoting the city’s offer, with an understanding of the potential for return and the ability to 

follow through to deliver results.   There are a number of examples of how this currently 

happens: through sister city relationships, through our “Renewed Ambition” partnership with 

public and private bodies across the city region and through emerging structures including 

the work of the Dublin-Belfast economic corridor.  It is proposed that the economic strategy 

considers how Belfast can take a place-based approach to trade and investment 

opportunities, in keeping with the emerging priorities set out in the 10X Economic Vision 

document.   

 

Although there is already a significant volume of research and data in place, it is proposed 

that the development approach for this strategy will involve a significant level of engagement 

with partners to ensure alignment with their agendas, maximise leverage and ensure buy-in 

for future collaborations. This will include engagement with elected members.  

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

No specific financial or resource implications at this point.  The work will be carried out within 

existing resources.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

Equality/good relations implications to be consider as part of the brief.   

 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 None  

 

Page 156



 

 

 

CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 

 

 

Subject: Renewed Ambition Programme and Social, Economic and 

Environmental Impact of Real Estate and Regeneration Investment 

Date: 9th June 2021 

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development 

Contact Officer: Marie Miller, Marketing Manager, City Regeneration & Development 

Laura Leonard, International Relations Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 To update Members on the Renewed Ambition Programme focusing on real estate 

investment, including ongoing research on the social, economic and environmental 

impact of real estate investment in the Belfast City Region.   

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 

 Note the update on the Renewed Ambition Programme which is being delivered 

via a public/private partnership. 

 Approve Members participation in a forthcoming workshop, relating to research 

into the social, economic and environmental impact of real estate investment in 

the Belfast City Region.  

 x 

 

 

 

 

x  

Page 157

Agenda Item 5e



 

 Agree that representatives from the Renewed Ambition Taskforce attend a future 

Committee meeting to update on activity and priority issues and seek Members 

views accordingly. 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

Members are aware of the Future City Centre (FCC) Programme as last presented at the 

14th April CG&R Committee. The FCC Programme is linked to the longer term ambitions 

of the Belfast Agenda and Belfast City Centre Regeneration and Investment Strategy, but 

it is also integral to the delivery of the Council’s Recovery Framework.    

 

As reported, the FCC programme currently has six cross cutting pillars aimed at 

revitalising the city centre and creating a vibrant shared city centre where people will want 

to live, work and invest, but also enhancing connectivity with surrounding communities. 

One of the key pillars within the FCC programme of work is ‘Position the City to 

Compete’, which seeks to build on the city’s reputation as a unique destination for 

investment, tourism, development and ultimately inclusive economic growth. 

 

In order to support both the recovery and longer term growth ambitions for the city as a 

whole, it is important that Belfast proactively promotes itself to the investment and real 

estate community. This requires partnership working across the public and private sector 

to build awareness of the Belfast investment proposition and facilitate investor 

engagement to support delivery of regeneration projects across the city, projects which 

will create the economic and social infrastructure / assets we need for inclusive growth.  

 

Members will be aware that Council and other partners are involved in various activities to 

promote Belfast internationally. Showcasing Belfast to both the local and international real 

estate investment, development and occupier market is an important part of this jigsaw as 

we seek to attract investment into the city to drive the delivery of key regeneration 

projects, including housing and commercial developments which will help us provide for 

sustainable inclusive growth in the city.  

 

In addition, continuing to work in collaboration with Department for International Trade 

(DIT) and Invest NI to promote investment opportunities in Belfast is also critical. 

 

In the past, Council alongside a wider ‘Team Belfast’ made up of public/private partners 

have attended international real estate and investment events in order to promote the 

Page 158



 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

investment opportunity in the city as part of a wider ‘Position the City to Compete’ 

proposition.  

 

Given the Covid-19 global pandemic, many of these events including MIPIM 2020 were 

cancelled. The Task Force is however keen that this should not preclude the continued 

promotion of Belfast as a place to invest, particularly given the need for continued growth 

at a time of economic downturn. It was also felt that it was important not to lose 

momentum on the strong collaborative approach across the wider Team Belfast partners 

with the need for a shared narrative and approach to positioning Belfast. It was therefore 

agreed to deliver a comprehensive initiative known as the Renewed Ambition Programme 

(RAP). This Programme aimed to position the Belfast City Region for real estate 

investment during 2020/21, with a view to reconsidering engagement at real estate and 

other investment events in future years.  

 

The delivery of this Programme is via a Renewed Ambition Taskforce, chaired by Joe 

O’Neill, Chief Executive of Belfast Harbour, with Lanyon Communications, a consultancy 

agency appointed to support delivery of the RAP. Membership of the Taskforce includes 

BCC officers, BRCD representation, INI, and representatives from the developer, housing 

association and financial services organisations together with Belfast Chamber. 

 

Overview of Renewed Ambition Programme (RAP): 

Renewed Ambition is a 5 pillared programme focused on activities to ensure Belfast is 

positioned to continue to attract investment and deliver on inclusive growth. The 5 pillars 

include:   

 Programme of Content aimed at the real estate audience, both here and further 

afield. There has been a number of activities showcasing the Belfast City Region 

for future real estate investment, also building upon opportunities on foot of the 

Belfast Region City Deal. This has included webinars and podcasts through 

channels such as Estate Gazette, Real Estate Live, Reed Midem, the Dept for 

International Trade (DIT) and Downing Street. 

 Programme of Engagement and Advocacy to facilitate two-way conversations 

with policy makers and showcase real estate opportunities to the investor 

community. This aims to position the Belfast City Region positively and seeks to identify 

and try to address barriers that investors, developers and occupiers may face when they 

consider Belfast as a destination. Work to date has included issuing joint public private 

partnership responses to key Government consultations such as Living with 

Page 159



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Water. Targeted engagement has also taken place with the Invest NI teams 

globally, the DIT, Downing Street - Investing in Cities event, the US Consulate and 

NI Bureau Washington to highlight investment opportunities in the Belfast City 

Region and seek to influence decision makers and international investors. Subject 

to Members agreement, it is proposed that representative members of the 

Renewed Ambition Taskforce attend a future Committee meeting to provide an 

overview of activity and priority issues and seek Members views accordingly. 

 Media and Stakeholder Engagement reinforcing positive messaging around 

Belfast’s investment proposition. This has involved editorials in sectoral 

publications, targeted conversations with key journalists, a revamp of the 

investinbelfast.com website and producing monthly newsletters highlighting the 

positive news stories in the Belfast City Region. 

 A shared access Repository was also created for the Renewed Ambition 

Programme partners, which facilitates sharing of data, marketing collateral and 

intel to help ensure consistent messaging and shared narrative is used by all 

partners when promoting the city region. 

 Research aligned to the impact of real estate investment. To date this 

includes two ongoing areas of research. Firstly, a Markets Insights piece which is 

nearing completion and includes market commentary in terms of the Belfast City 

Region as a location and across all development asset classes; asset 

performance and comparison with other cities and sources of finance. This work 

will help provide a useful summary document for the Belfast investment 

proposition, particularly in the context of comparability with other similar cities. As 

set out below, the second piece of ongoing research will seek to examine the 

wider social, economic and environmental impact of real estate investment, 

looking at developments in the Belfast City Region, as well as best practice 

elsewhere.  

 

Social, Economic and Environmental Impact of Real Estate Investment Research 

The main aim of this research is to allow the Renewed Ambition partners, including the 

Council, and other BRCD Councils to better understand the wider economic, social and 

environmental impact resulting from real estate investment, and seek to ensure the 

maximum social and environmental impact is realised from such investment and 

development. The work should help inform the case for investment support, attract future 

investment and ensure that this investment has the most positive and inclusive impact on 

the city region. 

Page 160



 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

It recognises that real estate investment and development can be an enabler of economic 

activity as it creates physical capacity for people to live, work and visit in cities. Given the 

need for inclusive economic growth, it is important therefore to maximise the potential of 

future real estate investment across many areas including social and environmental 

impacts, jobs, public sector services, transport links, green spaces, carbon neutral 

buildings, etc.  

 

Whilst recognising that real estate investment can be viewed as one pillar of the success 

of a city region, this research seeks to understand how benefits go beyond the traditional 

direct economic impacts to better contribute to the overall inclusive growth agenda. 

 

An objective of the work includes an assessment of how best to achieve and measure 

environmental, social impact and inclusive growth impacts from investment and 

development. 

 

It is proposed to hold a Members workshop in August to ensure Members input into the 

report and consider priority areas and the role that Council and its partners can play to 

maximise the impact of real estate investment 

 

A final research report will be presented to Members at a future meeting. It must be 

highlighted that this research is commissioned via the Renewed Ambition Programme, 

although with a strong Council focus.  

3.16 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

The delivery of the Renewed Ambition Programme is via the Taskforce governance as 

referred to above and is being funded via the previous sponsorship monies from partners, 

including an agreed contribution from the Council, which is met from within the City 

Regeneration and Development departmental budget in 2019. No further costs have been 

incurred by Council as part of the ongoing Renewed Ambition Programme. 

3.17 Equality or Good Relations Implications/ Rural Needs Assessment  

None associated with this report. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

 None  

 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Committee Plan 2021-22 

 
Date: 

9 June 2021 

 
Reporting Officer: 

Alistair Reid, Strategic Director of Place & Economy 

 
Contact Officer: 

John Greer, Director of Economic Development 
Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Development and Regeneration 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 To present to Committee the draft City Growth & Regeneration Committee Plan for 2021-

22 (Appendix 1). 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the 

Council decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercises her delegated authority to  

- Approve the draft Committee Plan for 2021-22; 

- Note that six monthly progress reports will be brought to Committee to oversee 

progress against commitments in the Committee Plan, as agreed at SP&R 

Committee in October 2019. 

- Agree to transfer recurring programme budget from within the City Regeneration & 

Development Division into employee budget to enable the recruitment of 3 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 163

Agenda Item 6a



Regeneration Project Officers to deliver on key priorities as set out by this 

Committee and as included within the Recovery Framework.  Committee to note 

that this does not represent any addition on the rate. 

3.0 Main report 
 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

Corporate Plan 2020-24 

At SP&R Committee on 28th March 2020, a new four year corporate plan was agreed.  In 

line with the corporate planning process, Committee Plans were due to be brought to in 

April 2020.  Due to the COVID pandemic, emergency planning procedures were 

implemented and corporate planning processes were suspended for 2020-21 to enable 

resources to be redirected to responding to the emergency response needs of the city. 

 

To recommence the corporate planning processes, an Annual Corporate Delivery Plan 

2021-22 has been drafted and is due to be brought to SP&R Committee on 18th June 2021 

for approval.  The Corporate Annual Delivery Plan reflects the in-year deliverables against 

the priorities agreed as part of the four year corporate plan, plus some additional priorities 

that have arisen in response to the pandemic.   

 

The structure of the delivery plan is themed under the following groupings: 

- Our services; 

- Inclusive Economic Recovery; 

- Community Recovery; 

- Environmental Recovery; 

- Strategic Planning Frameworks; and 

- Organisational foundations. 

 

A series of priorities fall under each theme, each with a number of committed deliverables 

for 2021-22. 

 

CG&R Committee Plan 2021-22 

The draft Committee Plan for 2021-22 follows the same structure and contains the 

commitments within the Corporate Delivery Plan which fall under the remit of the 

Committee, plus additional deliverables that have been agreed by CG&R Committee and 

relevant to the Standing Orders of the Committee. 

 

Whilst the City Growth & Regeneration Committee have a role to play across a number of 

the themes, the clear focus for the Committee is Inclusive Economic Recovery, with a 

Page 164



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

number of key priorities that will help the people and businesses of Belfast continue to 

respond to, and recover from, the economic impact of the pandemic while also shaping the 

future development and sustainability of the city.   Examples of this include: 

- Supporting the delivery of the Belfast Region City Deal, including the Destination 

Hub  

- Supporting the city recovery and reopening including the delivery of initiatives and 

programmes relating to the DfC COVID19 Revitalisation Fund  

- Leading on the Future City Centre Programme and its priority pillars across 

regeneration (including city centre living and connectivity/active travel); business & 

investment; culture & vibrancy; digital & innovation; positioning the city to compete 

and clean, green & safe.    

- Delivering on Inclusive Growth and recovery through employment initiatives, 

Employability NI, education-based youth support, promoting opportunities for 

developer contributions and social clauses, and supporting local businesses, co-

operatives and social enterprises. 

- Working with key stakeholders to deliver on the priorities and projects within the 

Belfast City Centre Regeneration and Investment Strategy 

- Working with key stakeholders to bring forward and maximise the regeneration and 

development of the city, including housing development opportunities, to support 

the city’s goals for a sustainable and inclusive city 

- Continuing to deliver the Cultural Strategy ‘A City Imagining’ and develop the new 

10 year Tourism recovery plan. 

- Championing city infrastructure improvements to ensure sustainability for the future 

success of the city 

- Working with stakeholders to bring forward improved, sustainable connectivity and 

active travel across the city, including the City Centre Connectivity Study 

- Continuing to progress the Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor 

- Promoting and marketing the city to position Belfast as a location of choice for 

business, investment, tourism and education to support the city’s goals for a 

sustainable and inclusive city. 

 

Progress Reports 

Following agreement on the draft Committee Plan, as well as in-year reports on a number 

of priorities, Officers will bring an overall progress report against all commitments in the 

Committee Plan in October/November 2021 and a year-end report in April/May 2022. 

 

Page 165



3.8 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

This Committee Plan will be delivered in accordance with the cash limit of £18,237,846 

agreed by this Committee in February 2021 and ratified by Council.   

 

In order to deliver on the intensifying programme within the City Development and 

Regeneration Division it is proposed to transfer recurring programme budget into staff budget 

to enable the recruitment of 3 additional P04 Regeneration Project Officers. This additional 

resource is required to deliver on the key priorities as set out by this Committee and as 

included within the Recovery Framework, including priority areas within the Future City 

Centre Programme; working with partners to bring forward  Connectivity and Sustainable 

and Active Travel including the City Centre Connectivity Study; targeted regeneration 

projects to help address dereliction and reimagination of the high street and  working with 

partners  to maximise the regeneration and inclusive growth potential of major developments 

across the city.  This will be covered within the existing division budget and does not 

represent any impact on the rate.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no additional equality implications contained within this Committee Plan. 

Strategies, plans and programmes contained within the plan are subject to appropriate 

equality, good relations and rural needs assessments. 

4.0 Appendices 

  
Appendix 1 – Draft City Growth & Regeneration Committee Plan 
 

 

Page 166



  

City Growth and 
Regeneration  
Committee Plan 2021- 2022 

Page 167



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2 

Contents 

Introduction ........................................... 3 

Committee Members ............................. 4 

Belfast City Council Priorities ................. 5 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee  
Key Programmes of work ....................... 6 

Key Expenditure
 .............................................................. 13
3 

  

Page 168



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
3 

Introduction 

The City Growth and Regeneration Committee is responsible for the development and implementation of 
strategies, policies, programmes and projects directed towards regeneration and growth of the city in the 
context of outcomes agreed in the community and corporate plans and other corporate strategy decisions. 

Its specific functions include: 

 Setting the overall strategic direction for the Council in the areas of cultural and economic 
regeneration and growth. 

 Influencing and contributing to regional regeneration and growth strategies and activities. 
 Developing and implementing city-wide economic strategies and policies. 
 Managing and maximising the impact of major physical developments in the city. 
 Coordinating and promoting major city wide events. 
 Considering draft financial estimates for the Committee together with such statements, reports and 

recommendations as required. 
 Monitoring quarterly performance and financial reports and year end reports. 
 Approving all revenue purchases of works, goods or services relevant to this Committee which exceed 

or are likely to exceed the statutory amount (currently £30,000) and subject to tender. 
 Monitoring reports on matters that are of direct relevance to the responsibility of this Committee. 
 Sourcing and providing support to attract and utilise European and other grants which contribute to 

the growth of the city. 
 Providing support for economic development initiatives. 
 Supporting the development of culture, heritage and the arts. 
 Working with other agencies to promote Belfast as a key investment and tourism opportunity. 
 Developing programmes and actions to support local businesses and attract inward investment. 
 Managing Council owned properties including the maintenance and repair of Council buildings, 

properties and vehicles. 
 Managing the Council’s markets and maximising their benefit to the city. 
 Influencing and contributing to strategies policies and actions affecting skills, employability, 

transportation and energy in the City. 
 Considering Year end and mid-year review of key corporate risks. 
 Exercising the Council’s functions in relation to: 

- Economic Development; 

- Tourism; 

- Culture and Arts; 

- European and International Relations; 

- Car parks; 

- City Markets; 

- City Events; 

- Belfast Castle; 

- Malone House; 

- Belfast Zoo; and 

- City Regeneration and Development. 

 

  

Page 169



  

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
4 

Committee Members
 

 

Councillor Ryan Murphy 
(Chair) 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Oldpark 

 

Councillor David Brooks 

Party: DUP 

Ward: Lisnasharragh 

 

The High Sheriff, 
Councillor Michael Long 

Party: Alliance Party 

Ward: Lisnasharragh 

 

Alderman George Dorrian 
(Deputy Chair) 

Party: DUP 

Ward: Titanic 

 

Alderman Brian  

Kingston 

Party: DUP 

Ward: Court 

  

Councillor Ciaran 
Beattie 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Black Mountain 

 

Councillor Micheal 
Donnelly 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Black Mountain 

  

Councillor Fiona 
Ferguson 

Party: People Before 
Profit Alliance 

Ward: Oldpark 

 
 

Councillor John 
Gormley 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Botanic 

 

 

Councillor Eric Hanvey 

Party: Alliance Party 

Ward: Lisnasharragh 

 

 

Councillor Brian 
Heading 

Party: SDLP 

Ward: Collin 

  

Councillor Carole 
Howard 

Party: Alliance Party 

Ward: Titanic 

 

 

Councillor John Hussey 

Party: DUP 

Ward: Ormiston 

 

Councillor Donal 
Lyons 

Party: SDLP 

Ward:  Balmoral 

 

Councillor Conor 
Maskey 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Castle 

 

Councillor Ronan 
McLaughlin 

Party: Sinn Fein 

Ward: Black Mountain 

 

Councillor Ross 
McMullan 

Party: Alliance Party 

Ward: Ormiston 

 
 

Councillor Mal O’Hara 

Party: Green Party 

Ward: Castle 

 

 

Councillor Gareth 
Spratt 

Party: DUP 

Ward: Balmoral 

 
 

Councillor Carl 
Whyte 

Party: SDLP 

Ward: Castle 

 

  

      

Page 170



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
5 

Belfast City Council Priorities  
The Belfast Agenda has shaped and will continue to shape the plans of council and those 
of our partners.  Our corporate plan, which is aligned to the Belfast Agenda, sets out the 
work we will do to contribute to the shared Belfast Agenda commitments and what we 
will do as an organisation to continually improve and develop and focus on continuing to 
deliver excellent services.   

In addition to the Belfast Agenda related priorities, our corporate plan also contains a number of organisational 
priorities designed to create the type of organisation we need to be to support the ambitions in the Corporate 
Plan and Belfast Agenda.  This includes work to: develop and build the capacity of our people and Elected 
Members; manage our assets, data and finance; enhance partnership working and drive equality, and work to 
improve our services and customer care. 
 

The City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan for 2021 - 22, which is aligned to the Corporate Plan, 
outlines the key areas of work that this committee will be responsible for delivering.  These are set out on the 
following pages. 

 

Page 171



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
6 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee  
Key Programmes of work  
 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
Belfast Region 
City Deal  

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Ronan Cregan 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

Support the City Region Deal by working directly with partners to ensure alignment 
with Council priorities. Relevant strands include: 

 Employability and Skills; 

 Business Start, Scale & Grow; 

 Investment & Trade; 

 Tourism; 

 The Destination Hub; 

 Innovation & Smart Cities; 

 BRT2; and  

 the Gasworks bridge. 

Cultural Strategy 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 Progress the 'A City Imagining Plan'; 

 Establish a ‘City Compact’ consisting of a range of partners and a participative 
forum; 

 Provide grant support to organisations to deliver an annual programme of 
activities; 

 Complete a feasibility study, business case, and programme for 2023 with a 
communications strategy and launch event; 

 Launch the music strategy; 

 Submit a UNESCO Application;  

 Launch the NI Commission for Festival 2022; 

 Complete cultural mapping and other research; 

 Develop a heritage action plan; 

 Deliver an annual events programme; and 

 Project funding. 

City Recovery, 
reopening the 
city and 
support for 
businesses 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Suzanne Wylie 

In 2021/22 we will: 

 

Business cluster and community capital grants scheme 

 Administer and deliver a capital grants programme and work with business 
clusters and community organisations to support the development and 
delivery of the project proposals. 

 

Revitalisation Fund: Physical interventions 

 Deliver a number of projects under the Reimagining Public Realm and 
Streetscaping Programme.  

 

Revitalisation Fund: Local Business Interventions 

 Continue to oversee payments & administration of the Grant; and 

 Business support programmes including via the Innovation Factory, Brexit 
support sessions, and Development of transformative digital support aligned 
with BRCD. 

 

Page 172



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
7 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
External Strategic Fora Engagement: 

 Support and lead as appropriate, externally focused fora including City 
Reference Group, Renewed Ambition Task Force etc in the context of city 
regeneration, development and investment objectives 

 Lead and coordinate key city stakeholders on reopening the city. 

 

Increase tourism 
spend through 
sustainable 
tourism products 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Finalise, consult on, and launch the 10-year (tourism) recovery plan; 

 Deliver ‘Experience Belfast’ to support local and neighbourhood tourism via 
‘City Connections’, capacity building and support programmes; 

 Complete market research;  

 showcase Belfast’s authentic cultural tourism offer through the 
commissioning of new online content; 

 Progress sustainable tourism by updating the Global Destination 
Sustainability Index, including Environmental Impact Audit and Action Plan, 
and launching the Green Tourism Accreditation; 

 Complete Impact of tourism research report; and 

 Continue the delivery of capital projects under the £4m Social Outcomes 
Fund which was designed to support local tourism projects including the 
Roddy McCorley Heritage Museum and the Eastside Visitor Centre. Ensuring 
alignment to Council’s wider tourism objectives, inclusive growth, and new 
social policies. 

Encourage 
business start-ups 
and support 
indigenous 
business growth 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

Provide ‘Growing a Business’ services: 

 Ongoing delivery of support for existing business growth including 
Innovation Factory, BREXIT support, procurement and digital; 

 Development and delivery of transformative digital support aligned with 
BRCD; and 

 Development and delivery of support for businesses in high growth sectors 
including fintech, CDI, cyber, advanced manufacturing etc. 

Provide ‘Starting a Business’ services: 

 Deliver local business start-up programmes; 

 Support social enterprises and co-operatives; and 

 Work with stakeholders to design new provision to develop entrepreneurs 
and business starts 

 Develop agreed position on the level and type of funding required to replace 
current ERDF/ESF provision and fund new provision aligned to BRCD. 

Manage and support the city markets 

 Redevelop existing markets by consolidating the existing trader base and 
attracting new traders; 

 Invest in new layout/ stalls – SGM to be a flagship of a new “experience-
based” city centre; and 

 Exploring the potential for additional markets to support city animation and 
recovery. 

Page 173



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
8 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
Promote and 
market the city 
internationally 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

Strategic Networks: 

 Undertake a ‘Positioning the City to Compete’ programme to identify and 
target institutional investment and development opportunities to augment 
our growth ambitions for the city; 

 Play a lead role in the Renewed Ambition Programme public/private 
partnership, participating in a programme of events, active engagement and 
advocacy to promote inclusive real estate development and investment, and 
addressing barriers to investment; 

 Facilitate trade, investment and development related visits aimed at 
positioning the city to compete and promote inclusive growth and 
development for the city; and 

 Collate and monitor the City Development Tracker and market intelligence. 

 

Invest in Belfast Website: 

 Develop the Invest in Belfast website with updated content, direct mailings 
and newsletters focused at inclusive development and investment 
opportunities for Belfast aligned to the Council’s growth ambitions. 

 

Provide the Investing in Belfast service: 

 Reshape investment service to ensure alignment with emerging 
developments; and 

 Identify City to city connectivity - key locations for strengthened partnership 
approach. 

Belfast Dublin 
Economic Corridor 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Continue development work arising from Dublin-Belfast corridor programme; and 

 Expand governance and engagement activity. 

City Regeneration 
and Development  

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

Future City centre programme and Enhanced public Realm 

 Oversee the delivery of the Future City Centre Programme six pillars: 

 Regeneration and connectivity - including City centre living; maximising 
major developments; reimagining public realm; connectivity and active 
travel; addressing vacancies programme; tactical regeneration etc; 

 Business and Investment; 

 City Centre Vibrancy; 

 Position the city to compete;  

 Digital innovation; and 

 Clean, green and safe. 

 

Joint Regeneration Group 

 Work with partners (inc DfC, DfI and other public, private and third sector 
partners) through the Joint Regeneration Group and other fora to deliver on an 
agreed action plan on regeneration, infrastructure, and development projects 
including: 

Page 174



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
9 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
 City Centre area-based intervention; 

 focused regeneration projects to address vacancy and dereliction; 

 streetscape and public realm projects; 

 housing led regeneration; and 

 infrastructure, active-travel and connectivity related interventions. 

 

Belfast City Centre Regeneration & Investment Strategy (BCCRIS): 

 Lead on the delivery of priorities and projects (with partners) as identified in 
BCCRIS and associated Masterplans. 

 INW Regeneration including Castle St area 

 Cathedral Gardens Redevelopment 

 Open Spaces /Reimaging Public Realm  

 Entries Programme 

 Tactical Regeneration & Lighting  

 Underpass Projects 

 Corporation Sq/North South Spine 

 Masterplan Actions – inc INW; Greater Clarendon /Sailortown; Linen Quarter; 
East Bank 

 Review the priorities within BCCRIS and bring forward a refreshed action plan. 

 

Major Regeneration Schemes: 

 Continue to work with anchor institutions and partners on major development 
and infrastructure schemes to maximise regeneration potential and drive 
inclusive growth:  

 UU /BCC Community Campus Regeneration Forum 

 BHC/BCC MOU 

 Weavers Cross /Transport Hub 

 Giants Park, the Sixth, INW regeneration, Tribeca, TQ, Waterside and other 
major schemes. 

 York Street Interchange 

 BRT Phase 2  

 Belfast Streets Ahead 

 

Developer Contributions 

 Bring forward development proposals and progress delivery of identified 
catalyst public realm projects utilising developer contributions. 

 

City Infrastructure 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Finalise the Belfast Infrastructure Study; 

 Carry out engagement on the study findings; and 

 Continue to champion the Council's preferred position for major 
infrastructure projects. 

 Continue to represent Council and play a key role on city wide boards 
facilitating, enabling and influencing major infrastructure development and 
investment including: 

 York Street Interchange; 

 BRT Phase 2; and 

 Belfast Streets Ahead. 

Page 175



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
10 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
North Foreshore 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

John Walsh 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Continue to progress agreed developments on the North Foreshore site 
including the £45m major extension to the existing Film Studios working 
closely with Belfast Harbour Commission and the £180m leisure led 
development with Giants Park Leisure Limited ensuring that the regeneration 
opportunities from these project are maximised for the city; and 

 Continue to explore other options for the remaining sites including 
opportunities in the clean-tech/green sectors. 

Belfast Hills 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

John Walsh 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Deliver a major new attraction at the Zoo with the development of a new 
Lion/Big Cat Enclosure;  

 Progress options for the existing zoo, Belfast Caste and Old Zoo site; and 

 Continue to improve access to the hills. 

Destination Hub 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

 Secure OBC 1 approval from Departments; 

 Ensure BDH included in BRCD 'the Deal' with funding secured to progress to 
OBC 2 / RIBA 2; 

 Secure control of BDH site; 

 Develop OBC Commercial and Management Cases including BDH 
Procurement Strategy; 

 Commence Procurement of IDT; 

 Develop Belfast Stories Collection Framework and agree the approach and 
methodology for Belfast Stories collection; and 

 Agree Stage 2 Communications Strategy and Stakeholder and Community 
Engagement Plan. 

City Connectivity 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

 

Active Travel and Connectivity 

 Work with external partners and across Council to develop an overarching 
programme to capture ongoing connectivity and active travel related 
interventions, projects and priorities across the city and identify potential 
future strategic priorities via partners and/or Council (subject to funding). 

 

City Centre Connectivity Study – Bolder Vision 

 Progress delivery of the Bolder Vision, CCCS phases 2 and 3, to include; a 
review of major infrastructure and development proposals; identification of 
interventions and draft delivery plan for consultation. 

 Work with partners to influence emerging designs for key city centre 
junctions inc:  

 Shankill Gateway; 

 Fredrick Street / York Street; an 

 Clifton Gateway. 

 

Belfast Urban Greenways (BUG) 

 Complete the BUG study, and engage with DfI and other partners on next 
steps.  

Page 176



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
11 

 Inclusive Economic Recovery 
 

Sustainable Travel Initiatives 

 Complete the feasibility work associated with each of the supporting active 
travel/ cycling infrastructure proposals (Active Travel Hubs; Covered Bicycle 
Stands; E- Cargo Bikes) elements and implement delivery; and  

 Undertake Scoping Study in respect of city wide Sustainable/ Active Travel 
Hubs.  

 

Belfast Bikes 

 Ongoing management of Belfast Bikes scheme; and 

 Secure a new sponsorship scheme. 

 

Car Parking Strategy 

 Undertake a refresh of the Car Parking Strategy recommendations and action 
plan, in conjunction with partners. 

Educational 
underachievement 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021-22 we will: 

 

 Engage in development work with partners/providers to define what support 
young people require to progress through education and into employment; 

 Provide a Youth Support programme to assist 160 young people to build 
confidence and develop capabilities to enter and progress on a career 
pathway; and 

 To assist up to 350 young people to improve their level of education 
attainment. 

 

Access to 
employment 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021-22 we will: 

 

 Deliver Employment Academies in priority sectors; 

 Provide match-funding for 5 ESF projects; 

 Deliver Enterprise Pathway with intensive, person-centred support for those 
further back in the labour market; 

 Scope a ‘test and learn’ employability approach for mental health through 
Health Foundation; and 

 Support job brokerage and career events. 

 Finalise the Belfast Employability and Skills Action Plan as part of the Belfast 
Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership (BLMP). 

Upskilling 
opportunities 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021-22 we will: 

 

 Establish Belfast Inclusive Labour Market Partnership (LMP) and action plan; 

 Ensure employability and skills issues are properly integrated into the 
Inclusive Growth Charter, Developer Contributions, and the Social Value 
Policy; and BRCD; 

 Develop `test and learn’ career pathways for those furthest form labour 
market in digital and green sectors in support of BRCD and wider 10x 
economic vision; and 

 Develop a labour market observatory feeding LMI data to Regional Skills 
Forum 

 

  

Page 177



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
12 

 

 Community Recovery 
Maximising 
housing 
development and 
regeneration 
opportunities 

 

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer: 

Alistair Reid 

In 2021/ 22 we will: 

BCC Housing Led Regeneration Programme 

• Bring forward the regeneration, development and disposal of strategic BCC 

assets in conjunction with wider public and private sectors; 

• Work with city wide partners to maximise residential development 

opportunities and seek to overcome identified obstacles to increasing city 

centre living; and 

• Undertake a strategic review of Council assets to facilitate further housing 

and regeneration opportunities. 

 

City wide strategic opportunities 

 Continue working with relevant public sector bodies to collate public sector 
land data and undertaking an analysis of public sector lands utilising the LDP 
Urban Capacity Study and Housing Monitor; and 

 Work with relevant public and private sector bodies to identify potential 
housing development opportunities and develop a mechanism with partners, 
via the CPP City Development Board, to bring forward a collective approach 
on public sector land identification. 

 

Strategic City Centre Cluster Sites: 

 Progress an approach to secure an institutional investor /development 
partner to bring forward comprehensive development of identified housing 
and regeneration sites; 

 Manage the Development Brief marketing and development process for the 
INW Northern Cluster; 

 Complete concept regeneration and/or development plans for each of the 
cluster sites at: 

 INW (Southern) 

 Exchange St/Corporation St 

 Ormeau Avenue 

 Dunbar 

 Gloucester St 

 Ravenhill 

 Develop and issue Development Briefs or other delivery mechanisms as 
appropriate (inc Development Partner approach) for each of the cluster sites. 

 

City Centre Living Vision: 

Complete a comprehensive City Centre Living Vision that considers: opportunities, 
challenges, demand, community engagement, infrastructure, viability and funding 
issues aimed at bringing forward housing development at scale. 

Page 178



 

City Growth and Regeneration Committee Plan 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2021 – 2022 Belfast City Council  
13 

Key Expenditure 
 

The expenditure for the City Growth and Regeneration Committee is assigned as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Service Budget 2021 - 22 (£) 

Carparks -1,100,955 

City Events and Venues 3,360,316 

City Regeneration 1,824,057 

Economic Initiatives and International Development 10,176,966 

Park Estates 366,865 

Place and Economy Directorate 2,649,343 

Zoo 961,254 

Total 18,237,846 

Page 179



 

Belfast City Council 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

14 
Report name in here 2018 
 

 

Contact us: 
Place & Economy Department 

No.9 Adelaide Street, 

Belfast 

BT2 8DJ 

   shawa@belfastcity.gov.uk 

   +44 (0) 28 90270395 

   www.belfastcity.gov.uk 

Page 180



 

 
 
CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

 

Subject: 
Community Planning Update: City Development and Job, Skills and 
Economic Development Boards 

 

Date: 9th June 2021 

 

Reporting Officer: Alistair Reid, Strategic Director Place and Economy 

 

Contact Officer: 

Cathy Reynolds, Director City Centre Regeneration 

John Greer, Director of Place and Economy 

  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on community planning with a 

specific focus on the work being taken forward by the newly re-configured ‘Jobs, Skills and 

Education’ and ‘City Development’ Delivery Boards. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Members of the Committee are asked to recommend that, in accordance with the Council 

decision of 4th May, the Chief Executive exercise her delegated authority to: 
 

(i) Note the on-going work of two of the Belfast Agenda Delivery Boards, namely, the Jobs, 

Skills and Education Board and the City Development Board 

(ii) Note the alignment and synergies between the Boards and the work of the Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

x  

x 

Page 181

Agenda Item 6b



(iii) The potential for the Boards to bring collaborative focus to key city priorities and 

challenges and unlock delivery across partners. 

(iv) The role and on-going opportunities for Elected Members to input and shape the work 

being taken forward through Community Planning Partnership, including the refresh of 

the Belfast Agenda and associated delivery plans, over the coming months and years.   

3.0 Main report 
 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Inaugural meeting of newly configured Boards 

Members will recall that in order to ensure that the vision and ambitions set out within the Belfast 

Agenda (community plan for the city) translated into action and mobilised city partners to support 

delivery, four cross-sectoral delivery Boards have been formed (City Development | Jobs, Skills 

and Education | Living Here | Resilience and Sustainability) under the auspices of the Community 

Planning Partnership. These delivery focused Boards have been established to drive enhanced 

collaboration across partners to address key challenges and priorities for the city and 

communities.   
 

As reported to Committee in May 2021, partners have agreed to reconfigure two of the Boards to 

align priorities and maximise the synergies and impact of their work.  As highlighted, the focus of 

the two Boards - City Development and Jobs, Skills and Education – clearly aligns with the work 

of this Committee. Accordingly, the intention going forward will be to update the Committee on 

the work of the boards alongside specific engagement and input from elected Members and 

Parties through the All-Party Community Planning Working Group and Community Planning 

Partnership. Members should note that the newly reconfigured Boards met for the first time in 

April and May 2021 respectively.  This report provides an update on the focus of the Boards and 

key activity underway.  
 

Jobs, Skills and Education Update 

The Board considered and confirmed its priorities for the next 12-24 months, as set out below 

and as reported to Committee in May, and committed to scheduling a specific action planning 

session in early July to develop and secure partner commitment to SMART action plan(s). 

Attached at Appendix 1 for Members information is a copy of the agreed Programme Brief and 

Terms of Reference for the Board, the presentation slide-deck and draft action note from the 

recent Board meeting held on 6 May 2021.  Some specific points to note include: 

 Skills and Employability – The Employability NI Programme was set up in November 2018 

within DfC’s Work and Wellbeing Division. It was established in recognition of the fact that 

there were several existing employability interventions coming to an end between 2020 and 

2022. It is a cross-government initiative (both regional and local government level) aimed at 

co-designing and co-commissioning a sustainable employability offer providing a tailored 

Page 182



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 

level of support commensurate with need. At a local level DfC have constructed Local 

Inclusive Labour Market Partnerships in each of the eleven council areas. In Belfast the 

membership of the Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership (LILMP) includes – Befast 

Chamber, CBI, VCSE representation, FE Colleges, Invest NI, Advice Sector, BHSCT, DfC, 

DfE & Belfast City Council. 

The aim of the Partnership is to: 

“help improve employability outcomes and labour market conditions locally by working 

through coordinated, collaborative, multi-agency partnerships, achieving regional objectives 

whilst being flexible to meet the needs presented by localised conditions and helping to 

connect employers with employees” 

While the Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership is a DfC partnership, governance for 

the work is through the Jobs, Skills & Education Board reporting to the Community Planning 

Partnership. A next action is for the Board is to review the Belfast Local Inclusive Labour 

Market Action plan which is currently in development. 

 Enterprise and Business Growth - Working to bring forward an integrated approach to 

supporting businesses, sustaining jobs and creating new employment opportunities in the 

city including arterial routes and key economic hubs 

 Educational Underachievement – ensuring the recommendations emerging from the 

Expert Panel on Education Underachievement established by the Education 

Minister can be accelerated and implemented within Belfast. Also maximising 

opportunities to deliver specific short-term interventions and scale up support to 

those who may need it. This includes, but not limited to, access to digital devices 

and helping improve digital literacy, working with schools to bring forward summer 

interventions such as summer schemes and educational support.  

 Tourism, Culture, Arts, Entertainment & Hospitality – Acknowledging the devastating 

impact upon the vitality and functionality of these sectors city partners will seek to protect 

and rebuild during our recovery from the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 UNESCO Learning City Network – commitment to review the opportunities presented by 

the city’s designation as UNESCO Learning City and seeking to align existing activities 

across partners and identify opportunities to collaborate and scale. A further report on this 

work will be brought forward for Committee consideration. 

 

City Development Update 

The Board confirmed that its focus for the next 12-24 months would cover four core themes as set 

out below and have committed to an action planning workshop in early July to develop and secure 

Page 183



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

partner commitment to SMART action plan(s). It is important to note that there has been significant 

work already underway and/or emerging across these themes as discussed at the recent Board 

meeting. Attached at Appendix 2 is the programme brief and presentation slidedeck from the 

Board meeting which provides some insight into the work underway.  

(i) City Regeneration and Investment 

(ii) Housing-Led Regeneration 

(iii) Future City Centre Programme 

(iv)  Active Travel and Connectivity 

 

Also attached at Appendix 2 is a draft note from the Board information for Members information 

(NB. remains draft and subject to Board endorsement). Some specific points which we would 

highlight for Members information include:-  

 Further development in identifying opportunities to unlock public sector land assets to support 

housing development. Agreed, subsequent to the main CPP Board, to convene a Housing 

Implementation Group chaired by NIHE with representation from BCC, DfC, LPS. 

 Consensus on need to bring forward transportation plan for Belfast  

 Continued delivery of DFC Revitalisation Programme to support recovery from pandemic 

 Implementation of the DFI Blue and Green Infrastructure funding   

 Importance of engaging with developers in support of the work of the Board and to ensure 

inclusive growth. This will complement the cross-sectoral representation involved included 

the community and voluntary sector. 

 
Review of the Belfast Agenda and Action Planning 

Members will be aware that work is about to commence to refresh the Belfast Agenda and the 

associated focus for the next 4-years. The diagram below outlines the process and timeline for 

this work.  

 

Page 184



3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.10 
 

As the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic have begun to emerge, there is a need to understand how 

our city economy and communities are likely to be impacted by COVID-19, and what we need to 

focus on to rebuild in the coming months and years. Clearly, the pandemic is not over and there will 

need to be sustained efforts to protect the safety and health of our citizens, while at the same time 

balancing the need to stabilise and rebuild our economy and city. In this context, and as part of the 

review of the Belfast Agenda, there is a need to take stock and reassess the focus of Community 

Planning and the work of the Boards over the coming weeks and months. This is not to say that 

the ambitions and commitments set out within the Belfast Agenda should not remain at the core of 

our work. However, in order to address challenges that will continue to emerge as a result of the 

pandemic we may need to pivot our collective focus and seek to prioritise and accelerate key 

interventions and programmes.  

 
Role of Elected Members 

Elected Members will be engaged at each stage of the review process through the All Party 

Working Group on Community Planning. In addition, it is recommended that all Elected Members 

will have the opportunity to shape the priority framework and plans for the new 4 year period 

through Party Group briefings.  In addition, Elected Members will also be supported by our 

Marketing and Communications team who will provide ongoing support via a communications 

toolkit to enable them to engage their constituents to make their voices heard.   

The All Party Members Working Group will be a key platform for Members to have line-of-sight 

and input into the work being taken forward through Community Planning and the respective 

delivery boards.  Regular update reports will also be brought to Committee for consideration.  

  

Financial & Resource Implications 
 
Any financial implications arising from this report will be covered from existing budgets. The 

review process will involve the participation of all community planning partners, who will need to 

commit their resources to the review process and the agreed action plans. 

 
Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 
 
There are no equality, good relations of rural need implications in this report. 
 

4.0 Appendices – Documents attached  

  
Appendix 1 – Background on recent Jobs, Skills and Education Board meeting on 6 May 2021 

Appendix 2 – Background on recent City Development Board on 26 April 2021 

 

 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Belfast City Council 
_______________________________________________________

______________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 1 

 

  

Programme Brief 

April 2021 
 

Page 187



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 2 

Document History 
 

Document Owner The owner of this document is: The Jobs, Skills & Education Board on 
behalf of Belfast’s Community Planning Partnership 

 

Document Status  The current status for this document is DRAFT 
 
Revision History  Date of next revision: 
 

Version 
number 

Revision date Previous revision 
date 

Summary of 
changes 

Changes marked 

1.0 23/04/2021 N/A 1st draft N/A 

     

     

 
Distribution This document has been distributed as follows 
 

Name Responsibility Date of issue Version 

JS&E Board Brian Carr 23/04/21 1.0 

    

 
Contents  
 

Topic See Page 

Background 3 

Our Shared Vision, Ambition & Outcomes 3 

Governance 4 

Purpose of the Jobs & Skills Board 5 

Principles & Shared Values  7 

Functions of the Jobs & Skills Board 7 

Membership 8 

Frequency, Timing & Venue of Meetings 9 

Chair Responsibilities & Requirements 10 

Secretariat 10 

Board Members Responsibilities  11 

Quorum 11 

Review Timeline 11 

 

 

Page 188



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 3 

1. Background  

 

The Belfast Agenda, the city’s first community plan, was published in November 2017 and provides a 
long-term framework for how community planning partners will work collaboratively to deliver an 
ambitious and inclusive vision that will create a better quality of life for all citizens in Belfast. 

 

2. Our Shared Vision, Ambitions & Outcomes  

 

The Belfast Agenda, the city’s first community plan, was published in November 2017 and provides a 
long-term framework for how community planning partners will work collaboratively to deliver an 
ambitious and inclusive vision that will create a better quality of life for all citizens in Belfast. 

Our vision for Belfast in 2035 is:  

“Belfast will be a city re-imagined. A great place to live for everyone. It will energise and drive a 
successful economy where everyone can reach their potential. Beautiful, well connected and culturally 
vibrant, it will be a city shared and loved by its people and admired around the world. It will be a 
producer of and magnet for talent, investment, innovation and creativity – a compassionate place 
where people create value and are valued.” 

Residents and city partners identified five key outcomes they want to achieve working together: 

 

 

 

Through the Belfast Agenda we are committed to deliver the following bold ambitions: 

Page 189



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 4 

3. Governance – A City Leadership Model  

 

The Community Planning Partnership (Partnership) was established in February 2018, under the 
auspices of the Local Government (NI) Act 2015, and the associated guidance issued in 2015 for the 
operation of Community Planning in Northern Ireland. The aim of the partnership is to improve the 
economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the district through encouraging and enabling joined 
up planning and collaborative delivery across partners.  

The Partnership has adopted a City Leadership approach to the governance and management of the 
Belfast Agenda with a focus on building support for the shared vision  

and outcomes, facilitating collaborative delivery based on data/intelligence, analytics and agreeing 
priorities as well as promoting and enabling innovation and  sharing good practice. We have 
established four ‘delivery focused boards’ to drive collaboration across partners and deliver the 
agreed priority areas for focus.  

As a partnership, we are responsive and adaptive to change. For example, we have established a 
resilience and sustainability board to drive activity in this area and more recently have acknowledged 
that there is a greater alignment between the growing the economy and working & learning strands 
of the Belfast Agenda, and have established a new Jobs, Skills & Education Board to focus on these 
priorities.  

Each delivery board will have the ability to form Task and Finish Sub-Groups to give focus and drive 
forward specific priority areas, seek to problem solve, innovate and develop a focused action plan. 

There are currently two sub-groups that will report through the Jobs, Skills & Education Board to the 
Community Planning Partnership on the following priority areas: 

 

1. Educational Inequalities – Task Group established in June 2019 

 

2. Employability & Skills – A Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership for Belfast is in 
the process of being established and will report through the Jobs, Skills & Education 
Board to the Community Planning Partnership alongside a Regional Inclusive Labour 
Market Partnership led by the Department for Communities 

    

Page 190



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 5 

 

4. Purpose of the Jobs, Skills & Education Board  

 

The Jobs, Skills & Education Board will provide strategic oversight with respect to the delivery of 
programmes and projects that fall under the Growing the Economy & Working and Learning strands 
of the Belfast Agenda, reporting on outcomes related issues and the capacity of Community Planning 
Partners to deliver agreed actions, projects and outcomes aligned with community planning 
aspirations. 

The purpose of the Jobs, Skills & Education Delivery Board is to manage and monitor progress against 
the relevant outcomes and priorities of the Belfast Agenda. The Board will oversee the delivery of 
programmes and projects that seek to ‘turn the curve’ on a number of population indicators (outlined 
below) which measure the progress of our outcomes over the long-term. 

 

Belfast Agenda Outcome Population Indicator 

Everyone in Belfast benefits from a 

thriving and prosperous economy 

1.1 City productivity levels 

1.2 Investment into Belfast 

1.3 City competitiveness 

1.4 The total number of businesses in Belfast 

1.5 The number of business start-ups 

1.6 The proportion of the population living in 

absolute and relative poverty (before housing costs) 

1.7 The total number of jobs in Belfast 

Page 191



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 6 

1.8 The proportion of working-age population in 

Belfast who are employed 

1.9 Working age employment rate by deprivation 

1.10 Economic inactivity rate (excluding students) 

1.11 Average earnings 

1.12 Total spend by external visitors 

Everyone in Belfast fulfils their 
potential 

3.1 Proportion of working age population who have 

attained Level 2 or above 

3.2 Proportion of working age population who have 

attained Level 4 or above 

3.3 Proportion of school-leavers achieving at level 2 
or above including English and maths 

3.4 Gap between percentage of school leavers 
entitled to FSM achieving at least Level 2, 

including English and maths, and their peers 

3.5 Proportion of care leavers who aged 19 are in 

employment, education or training 

3.6 Proportion of school-leavers entering 
employment, education or training 

3.7 School attendance rates 

 

The Community Planning priority areas relating to the Jobs, Skills & Education Board will be defined in 
collaboration with partners and may focus initially across the following themes: 

 Enterprise & Business Growth 

 Culture, Tourism, Arts, Entertainment and Hospitality  

 Employability & Skills (Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership)  

 Educational Inequalities 

(NB. Subject to further discussion by the Educational Inequalities Sub-Group to 
determine best alignment of priority) 

 

The Jobs, Skills & Education Board will be required to examine these priority areas further, explore the 
key challenges and/or opportunities which may exist, define potential scope and identify those key 
actions and interventions that deliver collaborative gain and improved outcomes through a 
partnership approach. Consideration will also be given to the resource implications attached to 
proposed areas for action.    

 

 

Page 192



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 7 

5. Principles & Shared Values  

 

The shared values underpinning the Belfast Agenda (as set out within the Community Plan and terms 
of reference for the Community Planning Partnership) are as follows, and will apply to the Jobs, Skills 
& Education Board and its sub-groups: 

 ‘A focus on outcomes for people – ensuring investment in services, programmes and projects 
delivers positive impacts on people’s wellbeing. 

 Partnership for collaborative gain - ensuring partnerships achieve more by working better 
together.  

 Equality and good relations – ensuring equality of opportunity and diversity are valued, and 
ensuring promotion of good relations. 

 Inclusiveness, care and compassion – ensuring no-one is left behind: focusing on inclusive 
growth and ensuring the needs of the vulnerable are met. 

 Sustainable development and respect for our environment – taking a balanced approach to 
improvements in economic, social and environmental wellbeing to protect our city and its 
environment for future generations. 

 Resilience for the future.  

 Innovative people centred design and delivery.  

 Decisions driven by evidence – ensuring that strategies, plans and programmes for and 
relating to the city are informed by robust, shared in intelligence and analysis. 

 

6. Functions of the Jobs, Skills & Education Board  

 

Within the scope of the Co-chairs’ mandate, the functions of the Board are: 

i. To hold Community Planning Partners to account for the delivery of the outcomes, 
benefits and projects within the programme; 

ii. To be accountable (through the Co-chairs) to the Community Planning Partnership 
Board; 

iii. To build and secure consensus on priorities for collaborative action; 

iv. To create opportunities and an environment for innovation and testing of new 
approaches; 

v. To assure the overall health of the delivery activity and programmes of work; 

vi. To establish a framework for collective responsibility for the delivery of outcomes, 
including the development of common frameworks for monitoring and reporting 
progress 

Page 193



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 8 

vii. To recognise the risks and issues affecting the delivery, including monitoring current 
and forecast use of funding and resources against agreed budgets, and ensure 
appropriate mitigations are in place; 

viii. To escalate issues that cannot be managed within this Programme Board with 
recommended action to the Community Planning Partnership; 

ix. To raise issues with recommended action to the Community Planning Partnership 
where delivery activity has, or is predicted to, go outside of approved tolerances; 

x. To align the communication of programme delivery and success with the wider 
Belfast Agenda portfolio;  

xi. To receive, consider and assess the impact of new change requirements from the 
Belfast Agenda portfolio or from within the programme;  

xii. To specify requirements for resources and programme support from the portfolio or 
Community Planning Partnership;  

xiii. To celebrate success and encourage sharing learning and good practice;  

xiv. To support the Community Planning Partnership by identifying potential funding and 
resource requirements, and assessing the relative priorities for committed and 
potential change activities; and 

 

7. Membership  

 

The Board has adopted a co-chair model with Alistair Reid, Strategic Director of Place & Economy in 
Belfast City Council and Colum Boyle, Deputy Secretary of Work & Health in Department for 
Communities being the convening leads (Senior Responsible Officers) for the Board. 

Partners from the following organisations will support the delivery of agreed actions and outcomes. 
Representation from each organisation should have the authority to agree actions and commit 
resources if agreed appropriate. 

 

ORGANISATION REPRESENTATIVE 

1. Belfast City Council  

2. Department for Communities  

3. Department of Education  

4. Department for Economy  

5. BHSCT  

6. Health & Social Care Board  

7. Education Authority   

8. Invest NI  

9. Libraries NI  

Page 194



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 9 

10. Tourism NI  

11. Belfast Met  

12. Belfast Chamber  

13. Save the Children / VCSE Panel  

14. Migrant Centre NI / VCSE Panel  

15. West Belfast Partnership Board  

16. Eastside Partnership  

17. Greater Shankill Partnership  

18. Forward South  

19. UNESCO Learning City Representative  

20. Queens University Belfast  

21. Ulster University  

22. Belfast Harbour  

23. Social Enterprise NI  

24. Irish Congress of Trade Unions  

 

 

8. Frequency, Timing & Venue of Meetings  

 

Meetings of the Jobs, Skills & Education Board will be held quarterly and take place, where possible, 
at Belfast City Council or community planning partner offices. Meetings of sub-groups will be aligned 
with the timing of the Jobs, Skills & Education Board to allow for the efficient flow of information, 
decisions and issues through the Board to the Community Planning Partnership. When required, 
meetings may be called by the chair on a more regular basis.  

 

During the Covid-19 Pandemic meetings will be held remotely via MS Teams based on available health 
advice and guidance from the government. Remote attendance via MS Teams will also be facilitated 
at other times if required. 

 

9. Chair Responsibilities & Requirements  

 

A co-chairing model has been established for the Jobs & Skills Board, which embeds the ethos of 
partnership working within Community Planning structures. Alistair Reid (Belfast City Council) and 
Colum Boyle (Dept for Communities) have been appointed as co-chairs for the Board with primary 
responsibilities as follows: 

Page 195



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 10 

 Chairing Board meetings and other action planning meetings as required; 

 Setting the agenda for Board meetings and ensuring all items are covered; 

 Leading on the discussion of highlight reports and business items ensuring necessary 
actions are assigned along with consideration of issues, risks and resources; 

 Seeking to ensure that adequate resources are in place to support effective delivery 
across priority areas; 

 Leading on the decision making at Programme Board level if required; 

 Reporting to the Community Planning Partnership. 

 

10. Secretariat  

 

Belfast City Council’s Portfolio Office will provide the secretariat function for the Jobs, Skills & 
Education Board and its sub-groups, providing a co-ordination role for programmes of work as they 
emerge. Key Responsibilities are as follows: 

 

 Ensuring the appropriate scheduling and management of Board and sub-group meetings, 
including logistics and ensuring supporting information is issued in a timely manner; 

 Preparing, in liaison with relevant partners, presentations, highlight reports and other 
updates for submission to the Board as required; 

 Ensuring agreed actions from the Board are assigned to relevant officers and 
implementation follows with progress updates to be submitted to the Chair and Board as 
required; 

 Managing interdependencies across the wider Community Planning portfolio and resolve 
issues and conflicts as they arise; 

 Working with the chair and partners to identify and secure adequate resources to 
support delivery of priority areas; 

 Providing advice and recommendations to the chair and Board to enable informed 
decision making; 

 Working collaboratively with partners and other stakeholders to progress priority areas 
of focus. 

 

11. Board Members Responsibilities   

 

Delivery of the Belfast Agenda priorities is taking place across a wide range of city partners who are 
committed to using community planning to enhance how we work together, challenge organisational 

Page 196



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 11 

silos, find new collaborative solutions that will deliver added value and in creating real impact and 
improvements in well-being and quality of life for people in Belfast.  

 

Members of the Jobs, Skills & Education Board are therefore committed to: 

 Attending and actively participating in Jobs, Skills & Education Board and sub-group 
meetings and if this is not possible nominating a representative with relevant 
authority to attend; 

 Endeavouring to deliver all decisions/actions agreed by the Board and assigned to 
them, taking account of resource implications; 

 Participating in action planning, decision making, outcomes monitoring and in 
shaping the strategic direction of the Jobs & Skills priority areas; 

 Exploring how resources can be secured to successfully deliver the collective 
ambitions outlined in the Belfast Agenda, particularly with respect to the priorities of 
the Jobs & Skills Board; 

 Supporting efforts to engage with citizens, sectoral groups and wider stakeholders 
whose views are fundamental in shaping the development of a long-term action plan 
to improve jobs and skills outcomes and address inequalities in the city; 

 Supporting the statutory review of the Belfast Agenda and associated monitoring and 
reporting requirements against key programmes of work and activity. 

 Raising awareness of the work of the Board and Community Planning, including 
dissemination of relevant information, within their respective organisations and 
wider networks. 

 

12. Quorum Requirements  

 

A minimum of six Board members are required or the meeting to be recognised as an authorised 
meeting for the recommendations or resolutions to be valid. 

Depending on the decisions required, the Chair reserves the right to defer a decision until a wider 
quorum is available 

 

13. Review Timetable  

 

A review of the effectiveness of the Board will be undertaken within 12 months and 
recommendations brought forward for consideration of the Board, alongside any required updates to 
the Programme Brief. 

 

Page 197



 

Page 1 of 5 

Subject: UNESCO – Lifelong Learning: proposed way forward 

To:  Jobs,  Skills and Education Board 

Date: May 2021 

Reporting Officer Alistair Reid 

 

1.0 Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to: 

(i) Update the Board on a recent scoping exercise undertaken with community planning 
partners to identify partner buy-in to maximise the UNESCO designation in Belfast 

(ii) Outline proposals on how the work on UNESCO Learning City is taken forward in the 
context of community planning; driven through the Jobs, Skills and Education Board whilst 
ensuring that synergies across other Boards are maximised.  

2.0 Recommendations  

2.1 The Board members are asked to: 

i) Note the feedback received to date from partners in relation to potential scope and 
opportunities presented by UNESCO Learning City (as set out at para 3.7 and Appendix 2)  

ii) Consider the proposed way forward – set out in sections 3.10-3.12 

iii) Nominate appropriate representation for the Steering Group to support the development 
work as well as considering and inputting, as appropriate, to short-term opportunities; 

iv) Note that the financial resources required to carry out the initial piece of work will be co-
funded through the Council and the shared resource in place within the Belfast Health and 
Development Unit. 

v)  

vi) Note the intention to bring back the report to the next meeting to agree the way forward.   

3.0 Background  

3.1 In 2018, Belfast became a member of UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning Global Network of 
Learning Cities, joining a network of over 200 cities around the world committed to using learning 
to improve the lives of their citizens and tackle inequalities by sharing good practice, creative 
solutions and ideas in addressing key concerns that impact society. 
 

3.2 In Summer 2019, Belfast also signed a Memorandum of Understanding with a number of other 
cities who are part of an all island Network of UNESCO Learning Cities (Cork, Dublin, Limerick and 
Derry).  The purpose of the joint MOU is to further strengthen the cooperation across the 
Network, committing the cities to continue to work together on the Learning City agenda for the 
next three years and share good practice. 
 

Page 198



 

Page 2 of 5 

3.3 The Belfast Agenda recognises that learning has a vital role in empowering citizens and helping 
lay the foundations for sustainable social, economic and environmental development and 
wellbeing within the city. The inclusive growth focus of the Belfast Agenda is about improving 
the economy and ensuring the benefits of this can be felt all across the city and it includes a 
commitment “to develop the city’s status as a learning city by becoming a member of UNESCO 
Institute for Lifelong Learning Global Network of Learning Cities”. While the majority of the work 
is likely to relate to the activities that are the focus of the Jobs, Skills and Education Board, it is 
clear that there is cross-over with the work of other Belfast Agenda Boards.  

3.4 The UNESCO application was originally led by the Lifelong Learning Subgroup of the Belfast 
Strategic Partnership (BSP).  This Partnership pre-dated community planning and was led by 
Belfast City Council, the Public Health Agency and the Belfast Health and Social Care Trust.  Over 
time, governance arrangements have changed (with the BSP itself having since been stood down 
by the three lead agencies in light of the formation of the Belfast Community Planning 
Partnership).  A Learning City Charter for Belfast (attached at Appendix 1) had been previously 
developed which set out a vision for Belfast whereby learning is used as a positive force to expand 
and enhance life changes for all citizens. The Charter recognised the contribution and potential 
benefits presented through learning across a spectrum including: 
 

i. Learning for Life - Learning changes our lives for the better. Mental health and emotional 
resilience; learning to cope and enhancing the quality of life for individuals and communities  

ii. Learning for Education - Learning is the foundation for life. Education and training give us 
opportunities to shape our future. 

iii. Learning for and in Work - Learning creates routes to work. It generates opportunities, 
develops our careers and strengthens our communities and city. 

iv. Learning to Live Together - Learning can promote positive relationships within and across 
communities. 

3.5 Since the publication of the Charter in 2015, the operating environment has changed significantly 
– although many of the challenges remain.  A number of strategic frameworks (e.g. Belfast 
Agenda, Resilience Strategy, inclusive Growth Charter and the emerging new DfE Skills Strategy) 
recognise the important role of lifelong learning in addressing inequalities across a range of 
themes.  It will be important to take account of this changing context in framing any future 
activity aligned to the UNESCO Learning City work.   

3.6 Assessing scale of opportunity  
The Belfast Agenda (BA) Working and Learning Board had previously received a presentation on 
the UNESCO City of Learning designation and the journey and work underway around a Learning 
City. There was a recognition of the linkages and synergies with the priorities and work being taken 
forward by Community Planning partners as well as opportunities to enhance collaboration in this 
context. In order to give structure to the workplan associated with the UNESCO designation, and 
to identify opportunities to collaborate, scale-up or innovate and co-design new initiatives, a 
survey was undertaken across CPP partners. 
 

Page 199



 

Page 3 of 5 

3.7 
 
 

While not all relevant CPP partners responded, a summary of key points from the feedback 
received is set out below (refer to Appendix 2 for detailed responses received): 

1. Continued support for the four thematic areas currently set out within the Learning City 
Charter albeit recognising the potential need to review/refresh in context of changing 
governance arrangements. 

2. A range of programmes, initiatives and events already being delivered by or emerging across 
CPP partners which could potentially contribute to City of Learning work 

3. Opportunity for enhanced collaboration and better alignment across partners to maximise 
synergies, increase impact and effectiveness 

4. Importance of raising awareness of existing programmes being taken forward or developed 
by partners and highlighting the role of partners in signposting/promoting 

5. Recognition of the role of learning in delivering a spectrum of outcomes (e.g. education, 
economic, health and social and emotional wellbeing) 

6. Opportunity to potentially increase the scale and scope of planned programmes and 
initiatives to enable access to other cohorts or areas 

7. Range of initiatives identified reflects a broad range of formal and informal learning 
opportunities; some linked to employment and some less structured.   

8. Community planning presents a strong platform to encourage and enable collaborative 
activity, act as a testbed for innovation and help synergise the collective energy and 
opportunities presented across the Belfast Agenda Boards.  

 

3.8 There may be scope within the context of community planning and emerging focus on area 
planning and interventions to explore the potential to prototype the concept of Learning 
Neighbourhoods, similar to other learning cities such as Cork and Limerick’s interventions in this 
regard.  It is important that we recognise the opportunity presented to address inequalities in 
the city and in neighbourhoods by contributing to inclusive growth and creating sustainable 
communities. 
 

3.9 While the breadth of responses and commentary submitted demonstrated a broad 
interpretation of learning, it is likely that any future workplan may need to place some 
parameters around an agreed scope of work, in order to focus efforts – at least in the first 
instance.  

3.10 Proposed way forward 

While the survey was useful in getting a picture of existing provision that could potentially align 
to the UNESCO designation, responses received are only a partial picture of the learning 
opportunities across the city.  Likewise, it is unclear what level of awareness there is among 
partners of the UNESCO designation and the potential benefits that it offers, and what potential 
resources partners may contribute to the ongoing work aligned to and in support of the 
designation.  Without dedicated staff and financial resources, it will be difficult to develop a 
structured and sustainable programme of activity.  
 

Page 200



 

Page 4 of 5 

3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It is therefore proposed that an independent survey and assessment report is now undertaken 
across CPP (and any other relevant) partners.  The purpose of this piece of work will be to  

 Engage with relevant partners locally to establish: 

o Level of understanding of UNESCO Learning City Model 

o Perspectives on the potential value to be derived from engagement in the 
UNESCO network 

o Consideration of added value and priority areas to be considered as part of the 
ULC plan 

o Potential alignment to existing/planned activity 

o Willingness to engage and indication of resources (£/people) 

o Potential outcomes to be attributed to the work 

 Review previous relevant research reports undertaken;  

 Establish key areas of policy alignment for local organisations 

 Review governance models, nature and level of delivery and associated resource 
commitments across other UNESCO cities of learning in UK and Ireland 

 Input into the in-year progress report to be submitted to UNESCO 

 Make recommendations on: 

o Potential scope of Belfast Learning City plan 

o Indicative resource allocation required to take forward the plan 

o Governance proposals to structure and ensure ownership of agreed activities.  
 
It is proposed that the work is undertaken independently and is overseen and managed by a small 
Steering Group of partner organisations (nominations to be proposed).  It is a focused piece of 
engagement work and, if approved, could be concluded within 2-3 months, with a report back to 
the next meeting to consider next steps.    

3.12 The Jobs, Skills and Education Board will provide leadership and oversight of this work, with the 
linkages, synergies and opportunities across all the BA Boards (e.g. Resilience, Living Here) and 
CPP partners factored into the evolving programme of work.  

3.13 It is clear that this work will not be starting from scratch and the activity undertaken through the 
LLL Group of the Belfast Strategic Partnership, in particular, has provided a sound basis for 
moving forward.  They also continue to provide insights as to potential areas of work and 
examples of good practice.  However, the breadth of the Learning City agenda and the diffuse 
nature of statutory responsibilities for learning across so many organisations means that it is 
essential to have open discussions with partners to consider where the common areas of 
engagement are likely to be in the current context, what added value they perceive in additional 
collaborative engagement around this work and what resources they are willing to commit.   
 

3.14 Coordinating Resources  
To support and coordinate the preliminary piece of work, it is proposed that staff resources are 
assigned by Belfast City Council and Belfast Health Development Unit, with input from a wider 
panel (suggest up to 5 representatives) to steer and drive the independent research work.   

Page 201



 

Page 5 of 5 

Subject to the findings presented in the report, consideration will need to be given to appropriate 
resourcing models for any future work in this area.  
 
A financial resource will be required to cover the costs associated with this work.  This resource 
will be co-funded by the Council and the shared resource in place within the Belfast Health and 
Development Unit. 

4.0 Appendices  

 Appendix 1: Belfast Learning City Charter 

Appendix 2: Feedback received from CPP Partners  

 
 

Page 202



 

 
 

UNESCO Learning City Survey:  
Feedback from Working and Learning Board Members  
 

ORGANISATION     Belfast Health and Social Care Trust 

THEME ACTIVITIES UNDERWAY / PLANNED 
(including partners, timescales )  

OPPORTUNTITIES 
(e.g. collaboration, scale up, new intervention) 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

Learning for Life  

Learning can impact on addressing 
life inequalities. Mental health and 
emotional resilience; learning to cope 
and enhancing the quality of life for 
individuals and communities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

#Doingourbit-NHS –wide initiative promoting 
physical health and well-being through 
collaborative exercise sessions online.  

Range of activities free of charge, hosted 
online for BHSCT staff. There may be the 
opportunity to upscale this and include more 
regular online sessions with a wider range of 
activities  

 

Half day online Resilience course, BHSCT staff 
can book on to attend. 

Actively running online, free of charge of all 
BHSCT staff. 

Course was previously face-to-
face but moved online owing 
to COVID. 

Stress management courses online for all trust 
staff; involves stress management 
interventions. 

Actively running online, free of charge of all 
BHSCT staff. 

 

Half day Emotional Intelligence Course 
delivered online to Trust staff. 

Actively running online, free of charge of all 
BHSCT staff. 

Course was previously face-to-
face but moved online owing 
to COVID. 

Here4U offers an extensive range of free 
activities for staff, to support and enable good 
spiritual, physical, emotional and mental health 
and wellbeing. Pilates, football, choir, zumba, 
boxing, tabata, yoga and spin. Skill based 
activities such as flower arranging, car 
mechanics, photography, guitar lessons and 
dance are also offered. In addition, staff can 
attend taster sessions of furniture up-cycling 
and mindfulness. 

Here4U activities are open to all Belfast Trust 
staff, of all ages, genders, abilities and are 
free of charge. This initiative is facilitated by 
a multidisciplinary staff group from Artscare, 
Bereavement, Chaplaincy, Health 
Improvement, Health & Safety, Human 
Resources, Patient & Client Support Services 
& Staffcare.  

Here 4 U programme was 
suspended due to the Covid-
19 pandemic; however on-line 
classes resumed in October 
2020 highlighting our 
commitment to supporting 
lifelong learning and staff 
health and wellbeing. Over 
800 staff registered for online 
activities Jan-Mar 2021. 

P
age 203



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Art pack & Chaplaincy supplement (with 
colouring pens) compiled by multidisciplinary 
group to be distributed to longer-stay patients 
as part of wellbeing initiative. 
 
 
 
RISE NI virtual/online/e-learning training 
programmes for parents and teachers. A 
number of training programmes are available 
for parents and teachers. These programmes 
cover a range of topics –  Speech and 
Language, Motor and Fine motor skill 
development, Social, emotional, health and 
well-being, Sleep etc 
 
Children with Disability Service which includes 
Learning Disability Nursing Service  and 
Children’s Therapeutic (Behaviour) Service 
have developed a number of virtual workshops 
for parents to support their understanding of a 
range of issues and concerns, this includes 
workshops on sleep, health, personal care, 
communication, behaviour, all focusing on 
families who have a child/young person with a 
learning disability 

Working group includes representatives from 
Chaplaincy, Medical Illustrations, Neurology, 
OT & Elderly Care services. 
 
 
 
 
RISE is a multi-professional service that 
provides advice and support for children, 
families and teachers in mainstream schools 
and pre-school settings. The training is 
provided online via the RISE NI website and is 
updated regularly to ensure that the most up 
to date information and training is available  
 
The Children with Disability Service Nursing 
and behaviour service have recently 
developed their face to face workshops to 
virtual interactive workshops 

300 copies of the Art pack 
were distributed to patients 
during the past year; 2500 
copies of each booklet 
received early March 2021. 
 
 
Training has been adapted to 
virtual and online due to 
COVID 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Workshops have been 
adapted to virtual platform 
due to COVID 

The BHSCT Carers Team provide a programme 
of events and training for unpaid carers.  The 
programme changes in response to carers 
identified priorities. The various programmes 
seek to reduce social isolation, enhance mental 
health and emotional resilience and support 
self-care.  Partners include CarersNI and other 
third sector organisations. 

Opportunities exist to collaborate with other 
statutory agencies and third sector 
organisations to continue to identify hidden 
carers and also identify new interventions to 
provide support in a variety of different 
ways.  For example, men often do not access 
support when in an unpaid caring role.  The 
current social restrictions have also isolated 

 
 

P
age 204



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

A programme of activity is provided on a 
monthly basis to meet a range of different 
identified needs and support requirements.    

carers who are not on-line and creative ways 
are required to support their needs. 

Belfast Recovery College provides a free well-
being and mental health programme for the 
community of Belfast. The Recovery College 
programme delivers its courses in a different 
way. With an informal and welcoming style, all 
our courses are co-produced and co-facilitated 
by two people with knowledge of the subject 
area – a mental health tutor (e.g. a doctor, 
nurse, social worker, counsellor) and a peer 
tutor with lived and caring experience of 
mental ill health. Programmes range from 
mental ill health areas, well-being and 
resilience tools to life and communication / 
social skills. The core principles of hope, 
opportunity and control and a sense of agency 
thread through all courses. 
 
 

New partnerships, collaboration within, and 
external to Belfast HSC Trust are a continuing 
theme. Community and voluntary partners 
such as the Irish Advocacy Network co-
deliver Advocacy Programmes. The Recovery 
College in partnership with East Belfast 
Independent Advice Service (EBAIC) co 
deliver workshops of Personal Independent 
Payments (PIPS) and Employment and 
Support Allowance (ESA). Social Prescribing 
are new partners, particularly for young 
people and mental ill health with a new 
programme - Discover the Recovery College 
for students 16+. This programme will also 
include the area of social anxiety. The 
Recovery College are scaling up tutors to co-
deliver the Webinar Programme. 
Additionally, there are new courses tailored 
specifically to COVD’19 environment such as 
Loneliness and Mindfulness and Compassion 
Self-Care Programme, Staying Safe, Living 
with Anxiety, ESA/ PIP. 
 

Courses are normally face-to-
face, however moved to 
Webinar delivery during 
COVD’19. 
 

BHSCT Health Improvement Team  
Physical Activity Training including: 
-Chair Based Activity Part 1 
-Chi Me  
-Early Movers 
-Boccia 
-Move More Often 
-On your feet Exercise Course 
-Simply Street  

Openly available citywide across 
vol/comm/stat groups  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Training all previously face to 
face but some have moved 
virtually.   
 
Free of charge for Belfast 
Trust staff and Belfast 
community. 

P
age 205



 

-Strictly Active Dance 
-Walk leader Training 
The Health Improvement Team also co-
ordinate the Physical Activity Referral Scheme,  
-Physical Activity Referral Scheme Programme 
-Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase 4 Programme 
-Cancer Rehabilitation Exercise Programme 
-Diabetes Type 2 Exercise programme 

 
 
 
 
 
All Physical Activity Referral programmes 
require a referral from GP/ Health 
Professional 

Sexual Health Training including 
-HIV Awareness training programme as part of 
the Mandatory Training Matrix for identified 
BHSCT staff 
-RSE Teacher Training delivery in primary, post 
primary educational settings as part of teacher 
professional learning. 
-RSE for Foster Carers 
-RSE for School nurses 
 

 Adapted and delivered on 
virtual platform 

Health Improvement Team  
Mental Health Training including: 
-safeTALK 
-Mental Health First Aid  
- ASIST – Applied Suicide Intervention Skills 
-Top Tips for Looking after yourself 
-Roots of Empathy classroom programme 
-Introduction to Mindfulness 
-5 Steps to Wellbeing  
-Compassion Fatigue  
-Respiratory & Immune Support  
-Nurturing Resilience in Children & Young         
People  
-Developing & Nurturing Compassion in Daily 
Life 
-Mood Matters 
 

 Face-Face training on hold 
due to COVID restrictions. 
Virtual delivery of Mental 
Health First Aid/Mood 
Matters/ Compassion Fatigue 
etc. developed to meet 
demand-positive feedback to 
date 
   

P
age 206



 

Oral Health Improvement Training includes; 
Programmes for children in nursery, primary 
and educational needs schools settings aimed 
at reducing the incidence of dental carries.   
-Toothbrush Challenge programme  
-Happy Smiles Programme 
 

 Programmes suspended due 
to COVID-19 restrictions 
however virtual delivery 
planned 

The Health Improvement Team Health and 
Lifestyle facilitators, support a range of weekly 
programmes in community settings including  
-Cook It/I Can Cook It  
-Choose to Lose 
-Good Food Toolkit  
-Food Values Programme. 

Plan to extend this training by offering 
sessions for BHSCT staff online. 

Programmes adapted and 
delivered on virtual platform 

-The Diabetes Prevention Programme is an 
evidence based, NICE compliant, group 
behaviour-change programme, provided for 
those identified as pre-diabetic. Delivered by 
psychology coaches from BHSCT Health 
Improvement Team, this 40 Week programme 
highlights that by making changes to lifestyle; 
people may prevent or postpone a Type 2 
Diabetes diagnosis. 

 Programme adapted and 
delivered on virtual platform. 

-Brief Intervention Training for Smoking 
Cessation delivered by Health Improvement 
Team Stop Smoking Specialists. 

 Training adapted and 
delivered on virtual platform. 

-Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
Awareness Training - Level 1 
-Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
Awareness Training – Level 2 
Designed to increase the understanding of 
trauma and its impact through supporting 
development of skills and knowledge 
throughout the workforce. 

Plan to offer to community and voluntary 
agencies. 

Training adapted and 
delivered on virtual platform 

P
age 207



 

Child Development Interventions 
The Health Improvement Team supports a 
role/funding stream dedicated to building 
capacity, training and resources that will 
support each child to have the best start in life, 
including 
-Five to Thrive Training 
-Solihull Approach Training 
-Incredible Years Training 
-Incredible Years for Parents of a child with an 
Autism Spectrum Disorder 
-Parenting Programmes  

  

BHSCT Health Improvement Team also 
supports the Men’s Health Agenda in 
partnership with the Belfast Men’s Health 
Group and Men’s Health Forum Ireland with -
webinars, podcasts and website.  

  

BHSCT Health Improvement Team supports 
and facilitates the learning and development of 
BHSCT staff in terms of their health & well-
being, in partnership with colleagues across the 
Trust through maintaining the  
-bWell website   

  

As part of the Belfast Area Domestic & Sexual 
Violence Partnership (BADSVP) – BHSCT work 
with Belfast and Lisburn Women’s Aid to 
provide awareness raising sessions on 
domestic abuse. These sessions look at a basic 
understanding of domestic abuse as well as 
enabling attendees to know how to recognise 
and respond to domestic abuse and know 
where to refer. The session is aimed at 
frontline professionals and are offered approx. 
2-3 times per year. A further course on the 
Impact of domestic abuse on Parenting and 

Both courses have been adapted to enable 
online delivery. The link with domestic abuse 
and mental health is significant. In the past 
the BADSVP have run specific awareness 
raising sessions looking at how domestic 
abuse impacts on mental health, physical 
health and addiction. There is potential to 
revisit this work. The BHSCT as part of the 
BADSVP is also involved in awareness raising 
projects across Belfast highlighting the issue 
of domestic abuse among professionals such 

The BADSVP 
(www.belfastdvp.co.uk) is a 
multi-agency partnership 
working together to tackle 
domestic and sexual violence. 
BHSCT are a significant part of 
the BADSVP. The Partnership 
is looking at new ways to raise 
awareness with face to face 
training currently not 
available. 
 

P
age 208

http://www.bwellbelfast.hscni.net/


 

children is also provided. This is looks at how 
domestic abuse impacts on parenting capacity 
and the impact it can have on children. This is 
aimed at frontline professionals and are 
offered 1-2 times per year. 
 

as hairdressers and beauticians and among 
community groups. 
 

One-to-one Training provided to families 
through the Trust Health Visiting team:  
 
Brazelton NBO -Newborn Behavioural 
Observation with parents/babies 
  
Infant massage & yoga 
  
Video interaction guidance (VIG) 
  
We can also offer face to face parenting 
support groups (currently on hold)- 
  
Incredible Babies,   
  
Incredible Years (toddlers) 
  
Solihull Approach with families and potential in 
future to run a Solihull Parenting group, as 
qualified in this also. 
 
‘Sleep Scotland’ Training one-to-one with 
parents so may be in a position to run a  group 
in this in the future. 
 

Potential in future to offer ‘Five to Thrive’ 
when our training is completed. 
 
 
Potential to run a ‘Sleep Scotland’ group in 
the future. 
 
Potential in future to run a Solihull Parenting 
group. 
 
 

 

Infant feeding Workshops 
Monthly 2-hour workshops aimed at providing 
antenatal mothers with information and tools 
to get breastfeeding off to a good start. It 

These Infant Feeding Lead presently provides 
these workshops using the Microsoft Teams 
Platform. Opportunity is given to ask 
questions.  

Course was previously face-to-
face. Workshops have been 
adapted to virtual platform 
due to COVID 

P
age 209



 

covers how breastfeeding works, getting 
started and dealing with challenges when 
establishing breastfeeding. 

Learning for Education 

Learning is the foundation for life. 
Education and training give us 
opportunities to shape our future. 

Essential Skills courses in functional English 
and Maths skills in partnership with Belfast 
Met. 
 
 
RISE NI OCNNI Level 2 Qualification, 
“Understanding and Supporting Child 
Development in the classroom” 

 
 
 
 
 
Currently piloting the virtual 10 week course 
for classroom assistants and early years 
providers. Cost is £35 pp to cover OCNNI fees 

Suspended at present owing 
to COVID restrictions. 
 
 
 
Course was previously face to 
face but now virtual due to 
COVID. This is a regional wide 
course open to all mainstream 
primary schools, nurseries and 
EA funded playgroups 

Belfast Recovery College are offering 
accredited programmes such as OCN Level 2 in 
Advocacy in partnership with the Irish 
Advocacy Network. 
 

The OCN Level 2 in Advocacy looks at the 
skills, knowledge and developing the 
confidence to be your own advocate or for 
others in a range of settings including mental 
health services. It also provides new skills 
that can impact on accessing future 
opportunities relating to career pathways. 
 

The course is free of charge. 
 

Learning for and in Work  

Learning creates routes to work. It 
generates opportunities, develops 
our careers and strengthens our 
communities and city. 

Mandatory Accredited training for band 2-3 
nursing assistants. 

Free and delivered online for nominated 
nursing assistants across the trust. 

 

Online Input by the Vocational learning team 
into the Nursing assistant Academy in 
partnership with Belfast City Council. 

Further input available to future academies 
from the vocational learning team.  

An online session outlining the 
role of a nursing assistant was 
delivered to enhance 
employability skills and 
knowledge. 

HR input into job fairs and school open days 
across Belfast. 

Previously pre-COVID Face-to-face. Representation form 
vocational learning and 
recruitment team to advise 
students considering career 
options in health care. 

P
age 210



 

Coaching for leaders online course for BHSCT 
staff. 

Actively running online, free of charge for 
BHSCT staff. 

 

2 hour mentoring training pending for April 
2021. 

Will run online, free of charge of all BHSCT 
staff nominated to become mentors. 

 

Multifaith/belief e-learning programme, 
launched late 2020 to give greater staff access 
to multifaith/belief information, particularly in 
the absence of normal face-to-face sessions.  

Modules available cover,  
- Multifaith/belief awareness 

+ variety of Faiths/beliefs: 
- Hindu 
- Humanist/Non-religious 
- Jehovah’s Witness 
- Jewish 
- Muslim 

Each module was compiled in partnership 
with our other Faith/belief representatives. 

Since October 2020, over 100 
staff have completed all or 
part of the modules.  

Chaplaincy training sessions for medical 
students & supervising ward visits. 
 
 
 
 

Part of QUB module for 2nd year students. Helps raise awareness of 
importance of 
pastoral/religious/spiritual 
care in healthcare & promotes 
more holistic approach. 

 
A range of Development for training and 
clinical upskilling of staff bands 1-4 funded by 
the DHSSPS 20/21 Support fund. 

Development funded by DHSSPS  in 20/21 
included: 
 
K102 ‘Introducing Health and Social Care’ 
(Open University Course for Band 3 staff 
throughout the trust hoping to progress onto 
nursing/social care higher education) 
 
Mindfulness sessions for Band 3 social care 
support workers.  
 
OCN L2 award in mentoring practice for band 
2 staff in children’s services. 
 

Managers apply for funding 
based on staff 
development/service needs. 
 
Trust staff can apply to Open 
university directly to attend. 
Intake February and October 
annually. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 211



 

L2 NVQ in Pharmacy services for Band 2 
Pharmacy support staff. 
 
Btec L3 for Band 4/2 pharmacy support staff. 
 
Access to higher Education Diploma in 
Biomedical Science for lab staff Bands 2,3,4. 
 
Level 2 certificate in gym instructing, Level 3 
Dip in Exercise Referral Level 4 Award in 
Obesity Control  for Band 4 Physiotherapy 
assistants. 
 
IOSH Health and safety training for Band 3 
supervisors. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Range of bespoke and accredited training 
provided by the HR People and Organisational 
Development Team at BHSCT: 
 
Personal development: 
Be more Confident and Assertive 
Managing Time and workload 
Effective Communication to resolve conflict 
Meeting administration 
Interviewing with Impact 
Customer Care 
Introduction to emotional intelligence 
Designing and Delivering training 
Essential skills (Literacy and Numeracy) 
HSC Values 
Quality 2020 (Level 1 Quality improvement) 
 
Statutory/Mandatory training: 
Manual handling Awareness 

 
 
 
 
 
Free for online access by all trust staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Free for online access by all trust staff. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 212



 

Health and Safety Awareness 
Data protection etc. 
 
Development for teams: 
High Performing teams and Collective 
leadership 
Bespoke Organisational Development Team 
interventions 
 
Management programmes: 
Managing people’s performance 
Staff Development Review training 
New Manager’s toolkit 
Engaging manager 
Recruitment and selection training. 
ILM L2,3,5 Leadership and Management 
courses 
 
Leadership development: 
Coaching skills for leaders 
Leadership and Management Framework 
Nursing and Midwifery leadership programme. 
 
Coaching and mentoring opportunities 

 
 
 
 
Free for online access by all trust staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Free for online for trust supervisors and 
managers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Free for online access by all  suitably 
experienced trust staff. 
Aimed at B6/7 nursing/midwifery staff. 
 
 
 
Self-referral or Nomination by line manager. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Refreshed mentoring strategy 
pending launch in 2021. 

 
Awareness of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
and Developing Trauma sensitive Practice. 
 

2 modules developed by SBNI Trauma 
Informed Practice Project to support the 
development of Trauma Informed 
Organisations by supporting the workforce to 
use a ‘Trauma Lens’ and: realise the 
prevalence of ACEs in people’s lives; 
recognise the signs and symptoms of trauma 
in people’s behaviour ( both services users 

Available to Trust workforce 
and partners through 
introductory eLearning 
modules 
www.hsclearning.com -
‘Awareness of Adverse 
Childhood Experiences’ (level 
1) &‘Developing Trauma 

P
age 213



 

and workforce); commit to resisting 
retraumatising people and respond in a 
trauma sensitive way. 
 

Sensitive Practice’ (level 2). 
Further training available to 
workforce through BHSCT TIP 
Trainers (online and face to 
face -when permissible). 
Other trainers trained in 
Belfast City Council, PSNI, EA, 
Belfast CV Sector and others. 
There is certainly 

scope to deliver this learning 
and for agencies to work 
together to raise awareness of 
ACE and trauma. 

 

 
PPI (Personal & Public Involvement) Training 
We deliver training modules, which are 
designed to develop staff skills in involving 
service users, carers and the wider community 
in designing, planning, reviewing and 
evaluating Trust services.  The following 
modules are run throughout the year: 

 Introduction to PPI 

 Getting People to participate in PPI 
Facilitation Skills for PPI 

 The I in COVID – Service users engagement 
during the pandemic 

The I in COVID was developed specifically in 
response to the need to engage with service 
users and carers virtually. 

 

 
Problem Gambling Awareness Training.  OCN 
Level 1 certificate on completion. 

 Delivered virtually by 
Dunlewey Addiction 
Services/Open College 
Network. 

Learning to Live Together 
Equality for all staff -Mandatory training. Actively running online for all staff to book 

on to attend. 
 

P
age 214



 

Learning can promote positive 
relationships within and across 
communities.  

Equality training for Managers. Actively running online for trust managers.  

Values workshops allows staff to develop their 
understanding of a positive and inclusive 
working environment with one of the core 
values being Working Together. 

Actively running online for all staff to book 
on to attend. 

 

BAME working group established within the 
Trust to help provide greater representation, 
build awareness and enhance the learning of 
different cultures. 

  

Emotional Intelligence in the workplace 
workshop helps build a greater understand and 
awareness of emotions which present on a 
daily basis in the work place. This course allows 
for a more informed approach to 
understanding and providing support based 
upon how people are feeling at a point in time 
therefore promoting a positive working 
environment and safe place. 

Actively running online for all staff to book 
on to attend. 

 

 The Carers Team programme of events seeks 
to provide a range of activities for unpaid 
carers to meet to share stories and experiences 
and create space to discuss their concerns.  
Other social activities provide a collective of 
people who live within very different 
circumstances across Belfast but who have a 
shared experience of caring for a relative, 
partner or friend which brings together a 
community of carers. 

  

 

 

 

 

P
age 215



 

 

 

UNESCO Learning City Survey:  
Feedback from Working and Learning Board Members  
 

ORGANISATION – Department for Communities – Work and Wellbeing Division 
 

THEME ACTIVITIES UNDERWAY / PLANNED (including 
partners, timescales )  

OPPORTUNTITIES 
(e.g. collaboration, scale up, new intervention) 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS 

Learning for Life  

Learning can impact on addressing 
life inequalities. Mental health and 
emotional resilience; learning to 
cope and enhancing the quality of 
life for individuals and 
communities  

   

   

   

   

   

Learning for Education 

Learning is the foundation for life. 
Education and training give us 
opportunities to shape our future. 

    

   

   

   

   

Learning for and in Work  

Learning creates routes to work. It 
generates opportunities, develops 
our careers and strengthens our 
communities and city. 

Partnership Working – Work is already underway 
through the ‘Local Works’ programme and the 
developing ‘Labour Market Partnership’ model.  Both 
utilise the Community Planning structures already in 
place and build upon the experience and expertise of 
local Community Planning partners to identify common 
goals and objectives to assist people into work, to retain 
employment or to progress their careers. 
 

Collaboration is key to any partnership working model.  
With both ‘Local Works’ and ‘Labour Market 
Partnerships’ there is a strong emphasis on working 
together to meet common objectives.  This not only 
helps to avoid duplication of provision but also unlocks 
the potential to scale up similar projects or initiatives 
with a common goal, increasing their impact and 
effectiveness.  It also increases the clarity of the message 
being received as all partners are working together to 

 

P
age 216



 

A specific example of learning activity being delivered via 
partnership working is Belfast City Council’s Enterprise 
Pathway initiative. In this programme, collective 
expertise is drawn from Belfast City Council, local 
training organisations, and Jobs and Benefits Offices in 
the city. Participants on the programme receive training 
and mentoring to support them into self-employment. 

promote a single programme or at a minimum referring 
to the range of programmes/initiatives available. 
The Labour Market Partnership, once established, offers 
the potential to develop a range of interventions which 
can harness the power of learning in pursuit of 
employability outcomes. 

Employability Events – A range of activities are already 
underway in partnership with Belfast City Council, 
employers operating within the city and other local 
stakeholders.  Given the remit of the Department these 
are largely focused upon employability focused 
outcomes through events such as Jobs Fairs, redundancy 
clinics, Employment Academies etc. 

Collaborative working is again key in delivering these 
existing employability events, and simply their 
effectiveness is normally increased by working in 
partnership with stakeholders.   There is always the 
opportunity for further collaboration to increase the 
scale or scope of the planned events as appropriate, and 
dependent upon the nature, scope or desired outcome 
of the activity.  

 

Front Line Engagement – Engaging effectively with those 
who already use our services is very important to the 
Department.  Whilst the focus of the Department is on 
employability outcomes it is recognised that many other 
factors can result in unemployment or be a result of 
unemployment.  The benefit of working with local 
partners to promote existing services has been 
recognised as helping the citizens were serve and also by 
helping to signpost to services unrelated to employment 
and help improve employment prospective.  An example 
of this was ‘Health and Wellbeing Hubs’ based in Jobs 
and Benefits Offices, this was successfully piloted in 
southern area and was scheduled to be rolled out within 
Belfast, but was paused due to social distancing 
restrictions. 

Potential to work with a range of professionals and help 
to signpost people to health services, interest groups, 
support organisations etc.  Progression of this will be 
dependent upon lifting of social distancing restrictions 
and reopening of Jobs and Benefits Offices to the public.  
There is also potential to work in collaboration with 
partners at alternative venues and promote the 
Departmental services and support that is available at 
local Jobs and Benefits Offices. 

 

  

  

Learning to Live Together 
   

   

   

   

P
age 217



 

Learning can promote positive 
relationships within and across 
communities.  

   

 

 

UNESCO Learning City Survey:  
Feedback from Working and Learning Board Members  
 

ORGANISATION: Department of Education NI 

THEME ACTIVITIES UNDERWAY / PLANNED                                     (including 
partners, timescales )  

OPPORTUNTITIES 
(e.g. collaboration, scale up, new 
intervention) 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS 

Learning for Life  

Learning can impact on addressing life 
inequalities. Mental health and 
emotional resilience; learning to cope 
and enhancing the quality of life for 
individuals and communities  

Minister of Education NI (Peter Weir)  appointed an Expert Panel on 
educational underachievement in September 2020 “to examine and 
address links between persistent educational underachievement and 
socio-economic background”. This is a New Decade new Approach 
commitment. A costed Action Plan is to be submitted to Minister Weir 
by 31 May 2021. This is likely to examine and consider actions needed 
to address educational underachievement including emotional health 
and wellbeing as well as ways in which to support children and young 
people’s education and learning. 

This work may offer the 
opportunity for central and local 
government (North and South) to 
work together more closely on 
common issues in the interest of 
children and young people. 

 

Learning for Education 

Learning is the foundation for life. 
Education and training give us 
opportunities to shape our future. 

As above. As above.  

P
age 218



 

Learning for and in Work  

Learning creates routes to work. It 
generates opportunities, develops our 
careers and strengthens our 
communities and city. 

N/A   

Learning to Live Together       
Learning can promote positive 
relationships within and across 
communities.  

N/A   

 
 

UNESCO Learning City Survey:  
Feedback from Working and Learning Board Members  
ORGANISATION – Belfast City Council (initial response and not exhaustive at this stage) 
 

THEME ACTIVITIES UNDERWAY / PLANNED (including 
partners, timescales )  

OPPORTUNTITIES 
(e.g. collaboration, scale up, new intervention) 

ADDITIONAL 
COMMENTS 

Learning for Life  

Learning can impact on 
addressing life inequalities. 
Mental health and emotional 
resilience; learning to cope and 
enhancing the quality of life for 
individuals and communities  

Belfast Resilience Strategy e.g. "addressing ongoing 
‘stresses’ such as fragile aspects of the city’s economy, 
economic exclusion, segregation, health inequalities".  

 Opportunities to improve health and emotional 
resilience of people and communities and address 
health inequalities. 

 Building resilience and improving wellbeing of people 
and communities. 

 

Learning for Education 

Learning is the foundation for life. 
Education and training give us 
opportunities to shape our future. 

GCSE Support Programme: delivery mechanism in place 
to increase number of young people achieving GCSE 
English/Mathematics who would not otherwise achieve 
at least a Grade C. 

Plans in place for E&S Team to directly engage with Area 
Learning Communities with opportunity to extend the 
scope of this programme to tackling wider educational 
attainment issues. 

 

Belfast Youth Support Programme: delivery mechanism 
in place supporting young people at risk of dropping out 

Plans in place for E&S Team to directly engage with 
Youth Service to enable direct referrals from youth clubs 

 

P
age 219



 

of formal education (Educational Welfare main referral 
point) and those who are at risk/have dropped out of 
training. 

and other youth services operating at a local level as well 
as targeted engagement with careers services within 
schools to layer in BCC employers engagement delivered 
through E&S areas of work such as Employment 
Academies, Social Value, Developer Contributions and 
Inclusive Growth City Charter (e.g. bring employers to 
schools/youth provision on career options, site visits, 
work experience, employability skills etc.) 

Educational Inequalities Subgroup: working together 
with DE, EA and BCC as well as BAPs, considerations over 
the past year have included ensuring that children and 
young people in formal education have access to digital 
devices and connectivity required to continue with their 
education.  This has also included working with BAPs to 
identify educational needs in different parts of the city 
that can be delivered through existing contracts within 
the E&S Team, such as delivery of a digital device bank in 
East Belfast, emotional resilience programmes in North 
& West Belfast etc. 

Working towards localised action plan resulting from the 
Expert Panel on educational under-achievement, “to 
examine and address links between persistent 
educational underachievement and socio-economic 
background”.  Expected mid-2021 and likely to examine 
and consider actions needed to address educational 
underachievement including emotional health and 
wellbeing as well as ways in which to support children 
and young people’s education and learning.  This work 
may offer the opportunity for central and local 
government (DE, EA and BCC as well as BAPs) to work 
together more closely on common issues in the interest 
of children and young people. 

 

Learning for and in Work  

Learning creates routes to work. It 
generates opportunities, develops 
our careers and strengthens our 
communities and city. 

Belfast LMP:  Work is already underway to establish an 
Inclusive Labour Market Partnership which utilises the 
Community Planning structures already in place and 
build upon the experience and expertise of LMP partners 
to identify common goals and objectives to assist people 
into work, to retain employment or to progress their 
careers. 
 
A specific example of learning activity being delivered via 
partnership working is Belfast City Council’s Enterprise 
Pathway initiative. In this programme, collective 
expertise is drawn from Belfast City Council, local 
training organisations, and Jobs and Benefits Offices in 

Collaboration is key to the Belfast Inclusive Labour 
Market Partnership, there is a strong emphasis on 
working together to meet common objectives  Chaired 
by BCC, members include DfE, DfC, Invest NI, Belfast 
Met, Advice Sector, VCSE Panel, CBI People & Skills 
Forum, Belfast Chamber of Commerce.  This not only 
helps to avoid duplication of provision but also unlocks 
the potential to scale up similar projects or initiatives 
with a common goal, increasing their impact and 
effectiveness.  It also increases the clarity of the message 
being received as all partners are working together to 
promote a single programme or at a minimum referring 
to the range of programmes/initiatives available. 
 

 

P
age 220



 

the city. Participants on the programme receive training 
and mentoring to support them into self-employment. 

The Labour Market Partnership, once established, offers 
the potential to develop a range of interventions which 
can harness the power of learning in pursuit of 
employability outcomes.  While the Strategic Assessment 
and Action Plan is due to be submitted to DfC for 
approval in June 2021, emerging priorities to date 
include establishing a Belfast Labour Market Observatory 
which provides real-time information on key supply and 
demand issues which enables the LMP and the city to 
have an intelligence-led approach that underpins E&S 
interventions in the city.  The emerging themes of focus 
for considerations are: 
- Quickly Back to Work: Reducing the impact of 

Covid-19 
- Reducing Barriers: LTU & economic inactivity 
- No-one Left Behind: Disadvantaged people and 

communities 
- Catching Up: Improving skills and qualifications 

Sectoral Employer Engagement & Employment 
Academies: work underway to engage employers in a 
range of targeted sectors to support employers with 
workforce needs and ensuring bespoke pathways are 
delivered for those who a further back in the labour 
market.   
 
Delivery will be underpinned by LMP priorities, take a 
sector-wide approach and layer in current provision in 
the E&S landscape across: 
- Care sectors including health, social care and 

childcare/playwork  
- Customer service including hospitality, leisure, retail 
- Practical sectors including logistics, transport, 

construction and green economy 
- Professional services including digital, financial and 

administration 

Engagement across all E&S provision is key – ensuring 
that all E&S and community providers have access to 
opportunities for their participants and undertake 
engagement and initial matching of people in local 
communities for the jobs and pathways on offer.  These 
are designed to layer in to opportunities identified 
through: 

- Belfast LMP 
- Inclusive Growth City Charter 
- Social Value with BCC contracts 
- Developer Contributions  
- Buy Social job requirements with government 

contracts 

 

P
age 221



 

 
This work is driven by workforce demand, co-designed 
and delivered with CPP partners (e.g. Translink, BCC, EA, 
BHSCT) and with key sectoral bodies (Logistics UK, RHA, 
NISCC, NIFH, Hospitality Ulster, HATS, CEF, CITB, 
Childcare Employer Forum, Playboard etc.). 

Inclusive Growth City Charter: Working with BCC 
Strategic Hub, extensive engagement undertaken across 
the business community in Belfast as well as BCC 
members and key E&S providers on the development of 
an Inclusive Growth City Charter which acts as a 
mechanism to deliver Inclusive Growth across the city 
with emerging pledges within the City Charter:  

Targeted engagement continues with public consultation 
planned in advance of the launch of the Inclusive Growth 
City Charter.   

 

Developer Contributions: working with Planning Service 
to ensure E&S considerations form part of the planning 
process on major developments within the city and 
provision of support for developers in engaging with 
local communities in identifying and delivery these E&S 
considerations including jobs, bespoke vocational 
training and career pathways. 
 
 

E&S currently scoping and creating a policy and guidance 
on these E&S considerations within Developer 
Contributions. 

 

Social Value: E&S provide internal advice and guidance 
on the Social Value requirements within BCC contracts 
and thereafter provide support to contractors/suppliers 
to fulfil the jobs, wider E&S and business-related SV 
requirements.  
 

Working with CPS and Strategic Hub to establish a Social 
Value policy and provide advice/support to contractors 
in the city to achieve SV requirements 
 

 

P
age 222



 

Employability Events  
A range of activities underway – driven by employment 
demand - in partnership with DfC, employers operating 
within the city and other local stakeholders: Jobs Fairs, 
redundancy clinics etc. 

Collaborative working as above is again key in delivering 
these existing employability events, and simply their 
effectiveness is normally increased by working in 
partnership with stakeholders.   There is always the 
opportunity for further collaboration to increase the 
scale or scope of the planned events as appropriate, and 
dependent upon the nature, scope or desired outcome 
of the activity.  

 

Learning to Live Together 

Learning can promote positive 
relationships within and across 
communities.  

Good Relations and shared city ambitions and outcomes 
 
 

Ambition to create a.. 
"21st Century Learning City that is driven by our young 
people, encouraging them to be innovative and break 
down the current physical and psychological barriers that 
hamper their engagement with one another" 

 

Integrated area planning  & delivery – supporting 
communities and improving local outcomes 

Opportunity presented to strengthen communities and 
support learning to live with one another, showing 
tolerance and understanding for others (Good Relations / 
Shared City); It is about communities and people building 
emotional wellbeing and positive coping mechanisms / 
behaviors for the unique challenges they face (positive 
psychology / positive emotional wellbeing) and it is about 
growing the value of education and employment within 
communities that may traditionally not hold these in high 
regard (generational cycles of unemployment / low levels 
of educational attainment), by working with people on 
what they want to learn, rather than on attaining 
qualifications and/or employment. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 223



 

Refining Focus and Maximising Impact  

Planning for delivery 

Background 

In March 2021, the Community Planning Partnership (CPP) agreed to combine the Growing the Economy and 

Working & Learning strands of the Belfast Agenda within a recalibrated Jobs & Skills Board, whilst at the same 

time creating a standalone City Development Board. The objective of this is to produce a set of boards, which 

are agile and focused on common priorities with cross-cutting interdependencies being effectively managed.  

 

The Jobs & Skills Board will provide strategic oversight with respect to the delivery of programmes and 

projects that fall under the Growing the Economy and Working & Learning strands of the Belfast Agenda, 

managing and monitoring progress against the relevant outcomes, indicators and priorities. 

 

The key areas of focus previously discussed with Community Planning Partners in October 2020 are set out 

in the table below. The next step in the recalibration of the Board is for partners to examine and further 

define the priority areas within the context of identifying where community planning can add value and 

enhance the potential for collaborative gain. This will be done through a process of co-design facilitated 

engagement, which will inform the development of an 6-12 months+ action plan. 

 

As part of the first stage in this process, in order to scope and identify potential collaborative opportunities it 

is proposed that a short research piece be undertaken to capture (at high-level) partners’ ambitions and 

existing work and/or commitments around the four priority areas, which have been identified. To complete 

this research, we would kindly ask if you could review and populate the attached Proforma, which seeks to 

identify: 

 

(i) Activities underway/planned which may be linked to the themes (including timescales and partners) 

(ii) Potential opportunities for enhanced collaboration, scaling up or developing new 
interventions/actions which would add value to core activities 

(iii) Any additional comments or themes which should be considered when developing a composite 
action plan  

 
THANK YOU FOR YOUR SUPPORT & INPUT  

 

Page 224



ORGANISATION _________________________________________________ 
 

THEME ACTIVITIES UNDERWAY / PLANNED 
(including partners, timescales )  

OPPORTUNTITIES 
(e.g. collaboration, scale up, new intervention, 
adding value) 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

Enterprise & Business Growth 

Working to bring forward an 
integrated approach to supporting 
businesses, sustaining jobs and 
creating new employment 
opportunities in the city including 
arterial routes and key economic hubs  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Tourism, Culture, Arts, 
Entertainment & Hospitality 

Acknowledging the devastating impact 
upon the vitality and functionality of 
these sectors and seeking to protect 
and rebuild during our recovery from 
the pandemic. 

    

   

   

   

   

   

   

Employability & Skills 

Working across partners to ensure local 
people gain the necessary skills to 
remain in or enter the local workforce. 
We will also work with employers to 
better match demand with supply of 
skills and provide a responsive and 
targeted approach to providing 
employability support for those 
furthest removed from the labour 
market.  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

P
age 225



Educational Inequalities 

Acknowledging the impact of Covid-19 
in widening many of the inequalities, 
which already existed across the city 
and the adverse impact this has had 
upon vulnerable people and families. 
Seeking to alleviate educational 
inequalities within the city will continue 
to shape our plans and delivery over 
the coming years.  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Other Priority Areas  
 
Please state any other priority 
areas/themes you feel should be 
reflected within the action plan here. 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   
 

P
age 226



Alistair Reid

19/05/2021

Strategic Director Place and Economy

Chair of Jobs, Skills and Education Board

P
age 227



AGENDA

1. Reconfiguration of Boards and Programme Brief

2. Belfast Labour Market Partnership

3. UNESCO Learning City

4. Educational Inequalities

5. Bringing Focus to Collaborative Action 

6. Refresh of the Belfast Agenda 

P
age 228



The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

• Covid-19 Pandemic and need to reassess

• Widening inequalities across the city 

• Scheduled refresh of the Belfast Agenda 

• Ensure better alignment 

• Desire to synergise across Boards

• Effectively utilise Partner’s energy and time

Context.. Drivers for change

P
age 229



Reconfiguration of Boards

Alignment and synergies across boards

Living Here Board

Resilience Board

Growing the Economy & 
City Development Board

Working and Learning 
Board

City Development

Jobs, Skills & 
Education Board

1. Enterprise & Business Growth

2. Supporting tourism, culture, arts, entertainment & hospitality

3. Skills and Employability 

4. Educational Underachievement (to be further discussed)

1. City Regeneration and Investment 

2. Housing led Regeneration 

3. Future City Centre Programme 

4. Access, Travel and Connectivity

The Belfast Agenda

City Development BoardReconfiguration of Boards…

P
age 230



Challenges & Opportunities

Educational Underachievement

(NB. to be discussed further)

Skills & Employability 

The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

Supporting Tourism, Culture, Arts, 

Entertainment & Hospitality  

Enterprise and Business GrowthP
age 231



Role of Delivery Board (RECAP)

The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

• Community Planning ‘owned’ by the Partnership

• Collective Leadership Model

• Build consensus for priorities for collaborative action

• Create opportunities for innovation & testing new 

approaches

• Collective responsibility for delivery and improving 

outcomes.

• Unlock potential blockages impacting delivery.

• Support the city recovery ambitions in response to the 

Covid-19 Pandemic

Programme Brief

P
age 232



Labour Market 
Partnership

19/05/2021

John Greer, Director of Economic Development  

P
age 233



Overview

• Background to ENI and role of LMP

• Programme governance

• Challenges for Belfast’s labour market

• Next steps and timeframe

P
age 234



Background

• The Employability NI Programme was set up in November 
2018 within DfC’s Work and Wellbeing Division

• It was established in recognition of the fact that there 
were a number of existing interventions coming to an end 
between 2020 and 2022

• It is a cross-government initiative (both regional and local 
government level) aimed at co-designing and co-
commissioning a sustainable employability offer providing 
a tailored level of support commensurate with need

• The Programme Board is made up of the government 
departments, Invest NI, Belfast City Council, Derry City 
and Strabane District Council and SOLACE 

P
age 235



Background - LMP

• LMPs are a key element of the governance 
structure for the delivery of Employability NI

• A new way of working for all levels of 
government

• The aim of the Partnership is to:
“help improve employability outcomes and labour market 
conditions locally by working through coordinated, collaborative, 
multi-agency partnerships, achieving regional objectives whilst 
being flexible to meet the needs presented by localised 
conditions and helping to connect employers with employees”

P
age 236



The model

Employability NI

• Analyses data
• Prioritises need

• Agile procurement
• Localised provision

• Gateways for citizens and 
employers

• All provision accessible in one 
place

P
age 237



Key drivers

• Local Community Plan (Belfast Agenda)
– Commitment to create 66,000 new jobs
– Focus on inclusive economic growth
– Every young person leaving school has a destination 

that fulfils their potential
– Reducing inequalities

• Programme for Government
– Draft outcomes include:

• Everyone can reach their potential
• Our economy is globally competitive, regionally balanced 

and carbon neutral
• Our children and young people have the best start in life 

P
age 238



Programme governance

Council level

– Link through existing Community Planning 
structures (Jobs, Skills and Education Board)

– Political endorsement through council

Regional level

– DfC-led regional partnership structures – ensures 
engagement across government

P
age 239



Belfast Labour Market Partnership

• Membership broadly based on formula established by DfC

• Members include:

 Belfast Chamber

 CBI

 VCSE rep

 FE College 

 Invest NI

 Advice Sector

 Health Trust (CMP rep)

 DfC

 DfE

• Two meetings have already taken place

• Proposed submission date for Action Plan – June 2021

• Membership may be revised, taking account of issues arising through strategic assessment 
process

P
age 240



What does the LMP need to do?

Undertake a Strategic Assessment

Consult on a regular basis with local communities, 
the statutory and voluntary sectors, and other 
relevant organisations on the basis of the strategic 
assessment;  

Confirm priority issues of concern

Produce a 3 year Strategic Plan: initial focus on a one 
year (tbc) interim plan

Develop and implement an action plan using OBA 
performance management principles

P
age 241



Strategic Assessment

• Snapshot of the labour market in Belfast

• Key issues; challenges; opportunities – unique 
to the city and its neighbourhoods

• Strategic oversight – but through a local lens

• Working off published data but with some 
ability to drill down to a local area – what is 
really going on there?

• Looking forward, what should we prioritise; 
who should we focus on, what opportunities 
should we seek to maximise?

P
age 242



Key challenges for the labour market

• Furloughed in Belfast
• Around 20,000 on full or partial furlough (end Jan ’21)
• 7,200 on full or partial furlough for over 6 months
• 2,000 have been on full furlough for over 6 months

• Belfast unemployed forecast to increase in 2021 but not as high 
as originally feared
• Belfast claimant count could be between 17,500 to 25,000 – up from 

7,500 pre-covid
• Unemployed could hit 10,000 to 14,500 – almost double pre-covid
• Long-term unemployed peaks in early 2022 at between 3,700 and 

6,500. Highest in last recession was 7,000 in 2011.

• Young people (16-24) hit the hardest by unemployment 
• Unemployment rate for YP is 12.1% (NI, Dec ‘20) compared to 2.6% 

for over 25s

• At same time persistent structural problems remain ….

P
age 243



Structural challenges

1. A persistent skills mismatch: 
• too many low skilled people, growth in high skilled jobs

2. Much higher levels of long-term unemployment 
compared to other regions:
• an employability mismatch

3. Highest level of economic inactivity in the UK
• too many people detached from the labour market
• disability, physical and mental health conditions

4. Levelling up across the City 
• imbalances in opportunities, jobs, and income

5. Poor planning and co-ordination of services
• Not people-centred, too many funding silos 

P
age 244



Next steps and timeframe

• Awaiting budget clarity from DfC

• Two further meetings of partnership planned for 
May/June

• Proposed submission of report to DfC in June 
2021

• Operational activity from summer 2021

• New DfC programmes already underway (Job 
Start etc.) – exploring linkages with these to 
maximise Belfast uptake

P
age 245



19/05/2021

Close

P
age 246



UNESCO Learning City

19/05/2021

Alistair Reid
Chair of Jobs, Skills and Education Board

P
age 247



Recommended Approach

• Initial feedback from partners (survey) – positive

• Anchor programme in JS&E Board but reach across BA Boards

• Context & city governance  changed since original designation 

• Collective Leadership Model through Board and CPP

• Commission dedicated support to engage with partners to inform

 Potential scope of Belfast Learning City plan

 Indicative resource allocation required to take forward the plan

 Governance proposals to structure and ensure ownership of agreed activities. 

• Establish core Steering Group – seek nominations

P
age 248



Educational Inequalities

19/05/2021

John Unsworth
Education Authority 

P
age 249



Educational Inequalities Group
• Work of this group has been significantly delayed in 2020-21, due to prioritisation of Covid response activity

• Substantial activity has continued, to support continuity of learning 

• Ministerial Expert Panel on Educational Achievement has undertaken significant work during this period

• Expert Panel Interim report published March 2021, with final report due shortly

Areas of Focus for BCPP Educational Inequalities Group:

• Detailed consideration of Expert Panel Report

• Continuation of data development and research work, to inform action planning

• Building communication and collaboration with schools and other education partners, in relation to The Belfast 
Agenda

• Collaborative identification of opportunities for shared action, to address educational underachievement and 
inequality

P
age 250



Collaborative Action

19/05/2021

Alistair Reid
Chair of Jobs, Skills and Education Board

P
age 251



Refining our focus for ACTION
The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

Partners Insights

April - May 2021

Completion of Pro-forma 
by Board Members

Review & 
Alignment  

previous Action 
Plan(s)

April - May 2021

Inaugural Board 
Meetings

April - May 2021

Boards to agree ToR
and action planning 

approach

Co-design 
Workshops

June – July 2021

Facilitated co-design 
sessions with Boards, 
sub-groups to inform 

action plans

Agreed Priorities 
& Actions

Sept – Oct 2021

Consideration of draft 
Action Plans by respective 

Boards & CPP

Feeding into 
Review of BA 

Oct 2021 - Early 2022 

Supporting the refresh of 
the Belfast Agenda and 

future focus of the boards

• Short-Term – Refining the focus and priority areas for action over the next 6-12 months

• Medium/Long Term – Informing and shaping Refresh of the Belfast Agenda and sustaining action

Refining our focus for ACTION 

P
age 252



Belfast Agenda Review

19/05/2021

John Tully
Director of City and Organisational Strategy

P
age 253



Drivers for Change..

• Legislation - LG Act specifies a statutory duty for CPP to review 
community plan 4 years from the first community plan (by Nov 2021)

• DfC letter (circulated to partners in advance) indicates the Department is 
not specifying a form the review should take, but rather they’re content 
the review is ongoing. Requesting a more formal review by Apr 2022, to 
align with PfG.

• COVID Recovery - As the effects of the pandemic emerge, we need to 
ensure our city economy and communities are able to rebuild in the coming 
months and years.

• Continuous Improvement – challenging ourselves to improve how we 
work better together to deliver more meaningful impact (or outcomes) for all 
Belfast residents.  What is the quality, quantity, and impact of our work?

P
age 254



Defining Scope of the Review

• By end March 2022, produce an updated Belfast Agenda ‘city strategy’ 
document underpinned by separate Delivery Action Plans.

A. The city strategy document contains the long-term vision and 
outcomes, population indicators and 4-year priorities.

B. New CPP Delivery Action Plans will highlight actions to deliver the 4 
year priorities and will be based on a number of criteria such as: 

 Partnership activity providing collaborative gain / not business as 
usual activity; 

 Designed to contribute to the Belfast Agenda outcomes; and 

 Include ‘area specific’ elements making the ‘Belfast Agenda’ 
more meaningful to communities

P
age 255



Planning Assumptions

• Our collective role is to improve outcomes for local people.

• A positive and asset based approach to action planning. 

• Co-design approach to development and delivery, including a bottom-
up approach, to ensure that people have more of a stake in the 
community planning process.

• Build upon evidence and data, using local insights and knowledge. 

• Partners provide resources for the review process and align resources 
to the agreed Delivery Action Plans.

• Partners engage in continuous improvement.

P
age 256



Values and Principles – VCSE Panel

• Partnership  - equal voice and influence, processes that reflect and 
enable this 

• Connected  - to people and communities across the city 

• Continuous improvement  - apply learning from our experience and 
that of other places to improve what we do and how we do it

• Accountability  - ensure we are all accountable for delivering what we 
have agreed

• Additionality – its not business as usual

P
age 257



The Refresh Journey

S
T
A
G
E
S

TIMELINE

P
age 258



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 1 

 

 

Note of Board Meeting 

Date: Thursday 6 May, 2021, 2pm-4pm 

Attendance:  

 

Item Discussion  Action & 
Lead(s) 

1. Reconfiguration of Belfast Agenda Boards and Programme Brief   

1.1 

 

 

1.2 

 

1.3 

 

 

1.4 

A.Reid provided updated on recent discussions and agreement at the Community Planning 
Partnership in March 2021, to reconfiguration of the Working and Learning Board and the 
Growing the Economy and City Development Board. Highlighted the key drivers for this 
change and noted the CPP agreement to create a Jobs, Skills and Education Board and a 
standalone City Development Board.  

Referred to the Programme Brief (including Terms of Reference for the Jobs, Skills and 
Education Board) previously circulated.  Board agreed Programme Brief.  

Noted the current Board name ‘Jobs, Skills and Education’ is a working title and highlighted 
the ongoing discussions in relation to which Board the priority of ‘addressing education 
inequalities’ best aligns. ACTION - to be discussed further at the next meeting of the 
established working group and report back to CPP on recommendations. 

ACTION - Feedback sought from Board re: alignment of Educational Inequalities priority. 

Note 

 

 

Note 

 

Noted  

J. Unsworth 

 

All 

Belfast City Council Alistair Reid Forward South Patricia McNeill 

DfC Deirdre Ward Belfast Harbour Mike Boyd 

NI Chamber Simon Hamilton Social Enterprise NI Colin Jess 

Department of Education Dale Heaney DfC Martin Boyd 

Education Authority John Unsworth Belfast City Council John Tully 

Libraries NI Jennifer Stafford Belfast City Council John Greer 

Health & Social Care Board Iain Deboys Belfast City Council Lisa Toland 

Invest NI Susan O’Kane Belfast City Council Kevin Heaney 

West Belfast Partnership Board Joe Duffy Belfast City Council Kelly Gilliland 

Eastside Partnership Maggie Andrews Belfast City Council Sinead O’Regan 

Queens University Belfast Alistair Stewart Belfast City Council Naomi Doak 

VCSE Panel Rep Laura Feeney Belfast City Council Jamie Uprichard 

VCSE Panel Rep Kendall Bousquet Belfast City Council Brian Carr 

Page 259



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 2 

1.5 It was noted that Deirdre Ward will replace Colum Boyle as the Co-Chair of the Jobs, Skills 
& Education Board 

Noted 

2. Local Inclusive Labour Market Partnership  

2.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2 

 

J. Greer outlined the current operating environment: 

  

 Major concerns in relation to the impact of pandemic on jobs and job opportunities for 
the city going forward.  

 Clear relationship between economic prosperity, ambition and education.  

 Technology sector has seen growth 

 Some sectors significantly impacted upon (e.g. retail and hospitality)  

 Pandemic has contributed to widening existing inequalities  

 Long-term impact of pandemic is unknown.  

 

J. Greer provided a short presentation on the emerging Employability NI Programme and 
the governance arrangements in place, the emerging challenges facing the NI Labour 
market as well as the planned next steps and timescales.  Key points covered within the 
presentation as follows: 
 

 Highlighted the benefit and opportunities presented by the Employability NI 
Programme and the role of the Labour Market Partnership as a key tool to respond to 
recovery. 

 Cross-departmental and sectoral model with a strong partnership between central and 
local government. 

 Focus is to co-design and co-commissioned sustainable employability programmes. 

 Collaborative approach to understanding the challenges on the employability and skills 
landscape and developing interventions to address these.  

 Maximising digital innovation to improve awareness and access to support. 

 Greater ability to respond to local challenges and needs.  

 Highlighted the ambitions set out within the Belfast Agenda and the need to bring 
focus to a collaborative and holistic approach to delivering these.  

 Noted Belfast Labour Market Partnership will report into Jobs, Skills and Education 
Board and Community Planning Partnership 

 Outline initial findings from a strategic assessment undertaken to identify the key 
challenges (including structural challenges) facing the local labour market,   

 Data driven approach to development and implementation of programmes and 
interventions.  Greater understanding of labour market supply and demand.  

 Need to level-up across the city.  

 Commitment to submit action plan to DFC in June 2021, with operational activity 
ongoing.  

Note 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 260



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 3 

 Previous interventions may not have been people centered and a multitude of funding 
streams. 

 Important that we consider how we utilize the Board and wider CPP partnership to 
drive this forward and maximise opportunities. 

 

Discussion Points: 

 A. Stewart - Consideration of when the best point to input the academic perspective 
into the discussions/thinking. Is there an appetite to consider what interventions and 
programmes that hasn’t worked?  Generational challenges faced. 

 J. Greer – recognition of the level of investment to date and the limited impact of this. 
Through LMP real opportunity to challenge and bring new perspectives. 

 J. Greer highlighted we are bringing the data together at present which will help shape 
the medium-longer-term approach and action plan.  Important that we connect with 
the universities to support this. 

 CVSE sector supportive of the emerging approach and the need to streamline and align 
funding and support. 

 

ACTION – consider how the academia perspective supports this work going forward. 

ACTION – consider to potential role of Belfast Area Partnerships going forward. 

ACTION -  bring emerging Action Plan to Board at its next meeting in July 2021 alongside 
the data for further discussions, input and to identify opportunities and seek involvement 
and action from key strategic partners. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BCC 

BCC 

BCC/DfC 

 

 

3. UNESCO Learning City  

3.1 L.Toland provided a short overview of the UNESCO report circulated in advance of the 
meeting and proposed next steps in terms of bringing forward a Learning City Plan.  

 Commission independent support to enable a direct conversation with Partners to help 
identify collaborative activities and opportunities. 

 Partners willingness to commit resources will be important 

 Examine previous work and jurisdictions  

 Bring forward an indicative Learning City Plan, with Indicative resource allocation 
identified and associated governance and delivery arrangements set out.  

 The Board agreed the approach as set out within the report 

 

 ACTION - Steering Group of 4-5 partners. Seek nominations from partners. 

 ACTION - Consideration how existing experience and resources are brought across into 
Steering Group and to inform emerging work.  

 ACTION - Discussion with QUB  (Alistair Stewart) on proposal 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Noted 

 

All 

BCC 

BCC 

Page 261



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 4 

4.  Educational Inequalities  

4.1 

 

4.2 

 

4.3 

 

4.4 

 J. Unsworth outlined the impact of pandemic on planned programme of work of the 
Educational Inequalities Working Group, albeit highlighted the significant work 
underway at community level to provide support during Covid-19. 

 Highlighted the work being progressed by the DE Ministerial established ‘Expert Panel’. 
An interim set of findings has been published with a full report due to follow shortly. 
Noted that this will inform the work of the Working Group.  

 Outlined key areas of focus going forward including data development and research to 
inform action planning, engagement with schools and other education partners to 
raise awareness of the Belfast Agenda and opportunities for collaborative action. 

 ACTION – Educational Inequalities Task Group to consider alignment of this priority 
within community planning and develop an agreed programme of work with partners 

Note 

 

Note 

 

Note 

 

EA  

5. Bringing Focus to Collaborative Actions  

5.1 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

5.3 

 Alistair Reid outlined the process to be brought forward to collectively examine and 
identify those priority areas for collaborative focus for the Board going forward. Three 
staged approach including a review of previous actions plan and identify those elements 
which remain relevant; seek direct input and engagement with Board members to 
shape emerging action plan & workshop session to further refine and focus the action 
plan. 

 Highlighted the need to engage with and secure the involvement and input from 
private sector in the work of this Board and the refresh of the Belfast Agenda going 
forward.  

 ACTION – Partners are asked to complete a pro-forma circulated in advance of the 
meeting which seeks to identify activities underway against priority areas and 
opportunities for collaboration, adding value and scaling up 

 

 

 

 

BCC 

 

All 

6. Refresh of the Belfast Agenda (and role of the Board)  

6.1 

 

 

6.2 

 

6.3 

 

 John Tully (BCC) presented detail of the requirement for, proposed process and 
timescales for the refresh of the Belfast Agenda. Highlighted the work being taken 
forward by the Board to realign and refocus its priorities for action will input into and 
align with the refresh process.   

 

 Highlighted the focus on identifying and delivering collaborative gain, improving 
outcomes and better connection to local communities. 

 

 Highlighted the co-design work already underway and the establishment of a cross-
sectoral steering group. 

 

Note 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 262



 

Belfast City Council 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Jobs, Skills and Education Board 5 

6.4 

 

6.5 

 ACTION – discussion with QUB (Alistair Stewart) on linkages and support towards the 
refresh. 

 ACTION – partners to raise awareness and importance of the Belfast Agenda refresh for 
the city, citizens and communities - through existing networks and channels.  

J.Tully / 
A.Stewart 

All 

7. Schedule of Board Meetings  

7.1 Noted that the next Board meeting will be convened in July with the forward schedule of 
meetings to be circulated.  

BCC 

8. A.O.B  

8.1 N/A  

 

 

Page 263



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Belfast Agenda 
 

 

City Development Board 
 

 

 

Programme Brief  
April 2021 
 
 Page 265



1 

Document History 

Document Owner: The owner of this document is: The City Development Board on behalf of 
Belfast’s Community Planning Partnership 

Document Status The current status for this document is DRAFT 

Revision History Date of next revision: 

Version 
number 

Revision date Previous 
revision date 

Summary of 
changes 

Changes 
marked 

1.0 16-04-21 N/A Full draft N/A 

Distribution This document has been distributed as follows 

Name Responsibility Date of 
issue 

Version 

City Development Board K. Heaney 16-04-21 V1.0 

Contents 

Topic See Page 
Background 2 

Our Shared Vision, Ambition & Outcomes 2 

Governance 3 

Purpose of the City Development Board 3-4 
Principles & Shared Values 5 

Functions of the City Development Board 6 

Membership 5-6 

Frequency, Timing & Venue of Meetings 6 

Chair Responsibilities & Requirements 7 

Secretariat 7 

Board Members Responsibilities 7 

Quorum 8 

Review Timeline 8 

Page 266



2  

1. Background 
 

The Belfast Agenda, the city’s first community plan, was published in November 2017, and 
provides a long-term framework for how community planning partners will work collaboratively to 
deliver an ambitious and inclusive vision that will create a better quality of life for all citizens in 
Belfast. 

 
2. Our Shared Vision, Ambitions & Outcomes 

 
Our vision for Belfast in 2035 is: 

 
“Belfast will be a city re-imagined. A great place to live for everyone. It will energise and drive a 
successful economy where everyone can reach their potential. Beautiful, well connected and 
culturally vibrant, it will be a city shared and loved by its people and admired around the world. It 
will be a producer of and magnet for talent, investment, innovation and creativity – a 
compassionate place where people create value and are valued.” 

 
Residents and city partners identified five key outcomes they want to achieve working together: 

 

 
 

Through the Belfast Agenda we want to deliver the following bold ambitions 
 

 

Page 267



3 

3. Governance – A City Leadership Model

The Community Planning Partnership (Partnership) was established in February 2018, under the 
auspices of the Local Government (NI) Act 2015, and the associated guidance issues in 2015 for 
the operation of Community Planning in Northern Ireland. The aim of the partnership is to improve 
the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the district through encouraging and enabling 
joined up planning and collaborative delivery across partners. 

The Partnership has adopted a City Leadership approach to the governance and management of 
the Belfast Agenda with a focus on building support for the shared vision and outcomes, facilitating 
collaborative delivery based on data/intelligence, analytics and agreeing priorities as well as 
promoting and enabling innovation and sharing good practice. We have established four ‘delivery 
focused boards’ to drive collaboration across partners and deliver the agreed priority areas for focus. 

As a partnership, we are responsive and adaptive to change. For example, we have established a 
resilience and sustainability board to drive activity in this area and more recently have acknowledged 
that there is a greater alignment between the growing the economy and working & learning strands 
of the Belfast Agenda, and have established a new City Development Board to focus on these 
priorities. 

Each delivery board will have the ability to form Task and Finish Sub-Groups to give focus and drive 
forward specific priority areas, seek to problem solve, innovate and develop a focused action plan. 

These boards meet on a quarterly basis and are supported by sub groups as required, to drive action 
and impact for priority areas of focus. 

4. Purpose of the City Development Board

The City Development Board will provide strategic oversight with respect to the delivery of
programmes and projects that fall under the City Development strand of the Belfast Agenda,
reporting on outcomes related issues and the capacity of Community Planning Partners to deliver
agreed actions, projects and outcomes aligned with community planning aspirations.

Page 268



4 

The purpose of the City Development Delivery Board is to manage and monitor progress against the 
relevant outcomes and priorities of the Belfast Agenda. The Board will oversee the delivery of 
programmes and projects that seek to ‘turn the curve’ on a number of population indicators (outlined 
below) which measure the progress of our outcomes over the long-term. 

Belfast Agenda Outcome Population Indicator 
Everyone in Belfast benefits from a 
thriving and prosperous economy 

 City productivity levels
 Investment into Belfast
 City competitiveness
 Total spend by external visitors
 Supply of Housing

Everyone in Belfast experiences 
good health and wellbeing 

 Number of population living in decent homes
 Number of households in housing stress

Belfast is a vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable city 

 Air quality
 Percentage of all journeys which
 are made by walking, cycling or public transport
 Number of miles of cycle lanes, footways and

footpaths
 Proportion of homes that are energy efficient
 Satisfaction with Belfast as a place to live

The Community Planning priority areas relating to the City Development Board will be defined in 
collaboration with partners and may focus initially across the following themes: 

i. City Regeneration & Investment
ii. Housing Led Regeneration
iii. Future City Centre Programme
iv. Active Travel & Connectivity

The City Development Board will be required to examine these priority areas further, explore the 
key challenges and/or opportunities which may exist, define potential scope and identify those key 
actions and interventions that deliver collaborative gain and improved outcomes through a 
partnership approach. Consideration will also be given to the resource implications attached to 
proposed areas for action. 

5. Principles and Shared Values
The shared values underpinning the Belfast Agenda (as set out within the Community Plan and
terms of reference for the Community Planning Partnership) are as follows, and will apply to the City
Development Board and its sub-groups:

 ‘A focus on outcomes for people – ensuring investment in services, programmes and projects
delivers positive impacts on people’s wellbeing.

 Partnership for collaborative gain - ensuring partnerships achieve more by working better
together.

 Equality and good relations – ensuring equality of opportunity and diversity are valued, and
ensuring promotion of good relations.

 Inclusiveness, care and compassion – ensuring no-one is left behind: focusing on inclusive
growth and ensuring the needs of the vulnerable are met.

 Sustainable development and respect for our environment – taking a balanced approach to
improvements in economic, social and environmental wellbeing to protect our city and its
environment for future generations.

 Resilience for the future.
 Innovative people centred design and delivery.
 Decisions driven by evidence – ensuring that strategies, plans and programmes for and

relating to the city are informed by robust, shared in intelligence and analysis.’

Page 269



5 

6. Functions of the City Development Board

Within the scope of the Co-chairs mandate, the functions of the Programme Board are:

i. To hold  Community Planning Partners to account for the delivery of the outcomes, benefits
and projects within the programme;

ii. To be accountable (through the Co-chairs) to the Community Planning Partnership Board;
iii. To build and secure consensus on priorities for collaborative action;
iv. To create opportunities and an environment for innovation and testing of new approaches
v. To assure the overall health of the delivery activity and programmes of work;
vi. To establish a framework for collective responsibility for the delivery of outcomes, including

the development of common frameworks for monitoring and reporting progress
vii. To recognise the risks and issues affecting the delivery, including monitoring current and

forecast use of funding and resources against agreed budgets, and ensure appropriate
mitigations are in place;

viii. To escalate issues that cannot be managed within this Programme Board with recommended
action to the Community Planning Partnership;

ix. To raise issues with recommended action to the Community Planning Partnership where
delivery activity has, or is predicted to, go outside of approved tolerances;

x. To align the communication of programme delivery and success with the wider Belfast Agenda
portfolio;

xi. To receive, consider and assess the impact of new change requirements from the Belfast
Agenda portfolio or from within the programme;

xii. To specify requirements for resources and programme support from the portfolio or
Community Planning Partnership;

xiii. To celebrate success and encourage sharing learning and good practice;
xiv. To support the city recovery ambitions in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and the

recovery plans
xv. To support the Community Planning Partnership by identifying potential funding and

resource requirements, and assessing the relative priorities for committed and potential
change activities;

7. Membership

The Board has adopted a co-chair model with Alistair Reid, Strategic Director of Place & 
Economy in Belfast City Council and (a nomination to be confirmed by the Board ) being the 
convening leads (Senior Responsible Officers) for the Board. 

Partners from the following organisations will support the delivery of agreed actions and 
outcomes. Representation from each organisation should have the authority to agree actions and 
commit resources if agreed appropriate. 

Page 270



ORGANISATION Nomination (TBC) Position 

1. Belfast City Council Alistair Reid Strategic Director Place & 
Economy  

2. Belfast City Council Cathy Reynolds Director City Regeneration & 
Development 

3. Department for Communities Ciaran Donnelly Director of Belfast Regeneration 

4. Department for Infrastructure Liz Loughran Director of Transport Policy 

5. NI Housing Executive Grainne Long/ Elma 
Newberry 

Chief Executive 

6. Belfast Chamber of Trade and
Commerce

Simon Hamilton Chief Executive 

7. Belfast Harbour Graeme Johnson Director 

8. VCSE Panel Nomination
Craig Mc Guicken 

Chief Executive       
(NI Environment Link) 

9. VCSE Panel Nomination Joan Devlin CX Belfast Healthy Cities 

10. Eastside Partnership Maurice Kinkead Chief Executive 

11. West Belfast Partnership Board Geraldine McAteer Chief Executive 

12. Forward South Partnership Briege Arthurs Chief Executive 

13. Greater Shankill Partnership Jackie Redpath Chief Executive 

14. Queens University Belfast Alistair Stewart Acting Head of Public 
Engagement 

15. Ulster University Rafaella Folli Provost 

16. Sustrans Anne Madden Policy Manager 

17. Titanic Quarter James Eyre Commercial Director 

18. Tourism NI Martin Graham Regional Development Manager 

19. Visit Belfast Gerry Lennon Chief Executive 

20. Urban Villages Stephen McGowen 

21. NI Federation of Housing Associations Ben Collins Chief Executive 

22. Translink Damian Bannon Belfast Area Manager 

22. Developers / Private Sector (x 4) TBC Confirmed 

10. Frequency, Timing and Venue of Meetings
Meetings of the City Development Board will be held quarterly and take place, where possible, at
Belfast City Council or community planning partner offices. Meetings of sub-groups will be aligned
with the timing of the City Development Board to allow for the efficient flow of information, decisions
and issues through the Board to the Community Planning Partnership. When required, meetings
may be called by the chair on a more regular basis.

6
Page 271



During the Covid-19 Pandemic meetings will be held remotely via MS Teams based on available 
health advice and guidance from the government. Remote attendance via MS Teams will also be 
facilitated at other times if required. 

11. Chair Responsibilities & Requirements
A co-chairing model has been established for the City Development Board, which embeds the ethos
of partnership working within Community Planning structures. Alistair Reid (Belfast City Council) and
(TBC) have been appointed as co-chairs for the Board with primary responsibilities as follows:

 Chairing Board meetings and other action planning meetings as required;
 Setting the agenda for Board meetings and ensuring all items are covered;
 Leading on the discussion of highlight reports and business items ensuring necessary

actions are assigned along with consideration of issues, risks and resources;
 Seeking to ensure that adequate resources are in place to support effective delivery

across priority areas;
 Leading on the decision making at Programme Board level if required;
 Reporting to the Community Planning Partnership.

12. Secretariat
Belfast City Council’s Portfolio Office will provide the secretariat function for the City Development
Board and its sub-groups, providing a co-ordination role for programmes of work as they emerge.
Key Responsibilities are as follows:

 Ensuring the appropriate scheduling and management of Board and sub-group meetings,
including logistics and ensuring supporting information is issued in a timely manner;

 Preparing, in liaison with relevant partners, presentations, highlight reports and other
updates for submission to the Board as required;

 Ensuring agreed actions from the Board are assigned to relevant officers and
implementation follows with progress updates to be submitted to the Chair and Board as
required;

 Managing interdependencies across the wider Community Planning portfolio and resolve
issues and conflicts as they arise;

 Working with the chair and partners to identify and secure adequate resources to support
delivery of priority areas;

 Providing advice and recommendations to the chair and Board to enable informed decision
making;

 Working collaboratively with partners and other stakeholders to progress priority areas of
focus.

13. Board Members Responsibilities

Delivery of the Belfast Agenda priorities is taking place across a wide range of city partners who
are committed to using community planning to enhance how we work together, challenge
organisational silos, find new collaborative solutions that will deliver added value and in creating
real impact and improvements in well-being and quality of life for people in Belfast.

Members of the City Development Board are therefore committed to:

 Attending and actively participating in City Development Board and sub-group meetings and
if this is not possible nominating a representative with relevant authority to attend;

 Endeavoring to deliver all decisions/actions agreed by the Board and assigned to them,
taking account of resource implications;

7

Page 272



 Participating in action planning, decision making, outcomes monitoring and in shaping the
strategic direction of the City Development priority areas;

 Exploring how resources can be secured to successfully deliver the collective ambitions
outlined in the Belfast Agenda, particularly with respect to the priorities of the City
Development Board;

 Supporting efforts to engage with citizens, sectoral groups and wider stakeholders whose
views are fundamental in shaping the development of a long-term action plan to improve
City Regeneration and development in the city;

 Supporting the statutory review of the Belfast Agenda and associated monitoring and
reporting requirements against key programmes of work and activity.

 Raising awareness of the work of the Board and Community Planning, including
dissemination of relevant information, within their respective organisations & wider
networks.

14. Quorum Requirements
A minimum of six Board members are required or the meeting to be recognised as an 
authorised meeting for the recommendations or resolutions to be valid. 

Depending on the decisions required, the Chair reserves the right to defer a decision until a wider 
quorum is available 

15. Review Timetable

A review of the effectiveness of the Board will be undertaken within 12 months and recommendations 
brought forward for consideration of the Board, alongside any required updates to the Programme 
Brief. 

8Page 273



The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

Alistair Reid
26 April 2021

Reconfiguration of Board

P
age 274



The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

• Covid-19 Pandemic and need to reassess

• Widening inequalities across the city 

• Scheduled refresh of the Belfast Agenda 

• Ensure better alignment 

• Desire to synergise across Boards

• Effectively utilise Partner’s energy and time

Context.. Drivers for change

P
age 275



Reconfiguration of Boards

Alignment and synergies across boards

Living Here Board

Resilience Board

Growing the Economy & 
City Development Board

Working and Learning 
Board

City Development

Jobs & Skills Board

1. Enterprise & Business Growth

2. Supporting tourism, culture, arts, entertainment & hospitality

3. Skills and Employability 

4. Educational Underachievement (to be further discussed)

1. City Regeneration and Investment 

2. Housing led Regeneration 

3. Future City Centre Programme 

4. Access, Travel and Connectivity

The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

P
age 276



Housing Lead Regeneration 

Challenges & Opportunities

City Regeneration & Investment 

Access, Travel & Connectivity 

Future City Centre Programme

The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

P
age 277



Role of Delivery Board (RECAP)
The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

• Community Planning ‘owned’ by the Partnership

• Collective Leadership Model

• Build consensus for priorities for collaborative action

• Create opportunities for innovation & testing new 

approaches

• Collective responsibility for delivery and improving 

outcomes.

• Unlock potential blockages impacting delivery.

• Support the city recovery ambitions in response to the 

Covid-19 Pandemic

Programme Brief

P
age 278



Refining our focus for ACTION
The Belfast Agenda

City Development Board

Partners Insights

April - May 2021

Completion of Pro-forma 
by Board Members

Review & 
Alignment  

previous Action 
Plan(s)

April - May 2021

Inaugural Board 
Meetings

April - May 2021

Boards to agree ToR
and action planning 

approach

Co-design 
Workshops

June – July 2021

Facilitated co-design 
sessions with Boards, 
sub-groups to inform 

action plans

Agreed Priorities 
& Actions

Sept – Oct 2021

Consideration of draft 
Action Plans by respective 

Boards & CPP

Feeding into 
Review of BA 

Oct 2021 - Early 2022 

Supporting the refresh of 
the Belfast Agenda and 

future focus of the boards

• Short-Term – Refining the focus and priority areas for action over the next 6-12 months

• Medium/Long Term – Informing and shaping Refresh of the Belfast Agenda and sustaining action

P
age 279



What is considered Community Planning activity?  What should be driven/owned by the CPP and delivery Boards?

 Outcomes focussed

 Partnership & collaboration

 Creating added value

 Impact oriented

 Community involvement

 Resourcing

 Evidence informed

Delivery should make a contribution to delivering the Belfast Agenda’s long term outcomes -

turning curves on our population indicators. 

Delivery requires collaboration of more than one Community Planning Partner organisation.

Delivery shouldn’t be considered business as usual activity. Actions should be new initiatives, or 

enhance existing activity through greater collaboration, joint resourcing and focusing on impact. 

May also include actions where partnership focus is need to ‘unblock the system’.

Emphasis of delivery should be on practical interventions that deliver impact (as opposed to 

creating new plans and strategies). Partners involved will need to monitor impact by measuring 

contribution of actions through performance measures. 

Community stakeholders should be engaged to help shape the understanding of what actions are 

needed, or to identify opportunities for other stakeholders to contribute to delivery?

Delivery should require joint resourcing and effort – this could be staff time, services or investment 

(Ultimate aim should be pooled budgets, but not necessarily a pre-requisite).

Data, research and evidence should support the rationale for the priorities/actions to deliver the 

impact required.

Determining Community Planning Focus

P
age 280



Belfast Agenda Review 

John Tully, Belfast City Council 

City Development Board

Monday 26 April 2021

P
age 281



Belfast Agenda Review: 
Drivers for change

• Legislation - LG Act specifies a statutory duty for CPP to review 
community plan 4 years from the first community plan (by Nov 2021)

• DfC letter (circulated to partners in advance) indicates the Department is not 
specifying a form the review should take, but rather they’re content the review is 
ongoing. Requesting a more formal review by Apr 2022, to align with PfG.

• COVID Recovery - As the effects of the pandemic emerge, we need to 
ensure our city economy and communities are able to rebuild in the 
coming months and years.

• Continuous Improvement – challenging ourselves to improve how 
we work better together to deliver more meaningful impact (or 
outcomes) for all Belfast residents.  What is the quality, quantity, and 
impact of our work?

P
age 282



Defining Scope of the Review

• By end March 2022, produce an updated Belfast Agenda ‘city strategy’ 
document underpinned by separate Delivery Action Plans.

A. The city strategy document contains the long-term vision and outcomes, 
population indicators and 4-year priorities.

B. New CPP Delivery Action Plans will highlight actions to deliver the 4 year 
priorities and will be based on a number of criteria such as: 

Partnership activity providing collaborative gain / not business as usual activity; 

Designed to contribute to the Belfast Agenda outcomes; and 

 Include ‘area specific’ elements making the ‘Belfast Agenda’ more meaningful to communities.

P
age 283



Planning Assumptions

• Our collective role is to improve outcomes for local people.

• A positive and asset based approach to action planning. 

• Co-design approach to development and delivery, including a bottom-
up approach, to ensure that people have more of a stake in the 
community planning process.

• Build upon evidence and data, using local insights and knowledge. 

• Partners provide resources for the review process and align 
resources to the agreed Delivery Action Plans.

• Partners engage in continuous improvement.

P
age 284



Values and Principles 

• Partnership  - equal voice and influence, processes that reflect and 
enable this 

• Connected  - to people and communities across the city 

• Continuous improvement  - apply learning from our experience and 
that of other places to improve what we do and how we do it

• Accountability  - ensure we are all accountable for delivering what we 
have agreed

• Additionality – its not business as usual

P
age 285



The Refresh Journey -Timelines

S
T
A
G
E
S

TIMELINE

P
age 286



Future City Centre

Cathy Reynolds
Director of City Regeneration & Development 

P
age 287



A M B I T I O N S  &  
V I S I O N

P
age 288



1) Increase Employment Population

2) Increase Residential Population

3) Manage Retail Offer

4) Maximise Tourism Opportunity

5) Create Learning and Innovation 
Centres

6) Create a Green, Walkable, Cyclable 
centre

7) Connect to city around

8) A Shared Space and Social Impact

Special Action Areas created and 
Regeneration Taskforce established.

Belfast City Centre 
Regeneration & 
Investment Strategy

A M B I T I O N S  &  
V I S I O N

P
age 289



• To support and sustain 

existing and new 

businesses, and attract 

new businesses.

• Examples:

• Business Support 

Programmes

• City Investment Service

• Creating the physical 
built environment to 
create vibrancy; 
sustain our economic 
recovery and support 
an inclusive, accessible  
and connected city 
centre. 

• Examples:

• Major Regeneration 
Developments

• City Centre Living

• Connected Spaces & 
Places

• Lighting & Tactical 
Regeneration

• Connectivity & Active 
Travel

• Culture & Built 
Heritage

• To encourage vitality, 
vibrancy and increased 
footfall; maximising 
our cultural and 
tourism offering, 
building on the ten 
year cultural strategy, 
A City Imagining

• Examples:

• 2023 Year of Culture 
projects

• Animation & events, 
pop up activities.

• Enhanced use of public 
realm & environmental 
improvements to 
encourage footfall and 
increased dwell time

• Meanwhile use

• To build on our 
reputation as a unique 
destination for 
investment, tourism 
and development.

• Examples: 

• Renewed Ambition –
public private 
partnership

• Vacancy interventions

• Maximising and 
deploying digital 
technology and 
innovation solutions to 
position the city as a 
key location for 
innovation and 
support indigenous 
and new businesses to 
thrive and grow.

• Examples:

• Smart District

• 5G and Wireless 
opportunities

• To enhance the city centre 
experience through a clean, 
accessible, safe and 
pleasant environment.

• Examples:

• Providing enhanced city 
cleansing regimes

• Imaginative use of open & 
civic spaces particularly to 
support retail / hospitality 
sectors

• Support the provision of 
parklets and greening the 
city initiatives

Regeneration & 
Connectivity

Business & 
Investment

City Centre 
Vibrancy

Position the City 
to Compete

Digital
Innovation

Clean, Green & Safe 
(Multi-Agency)

Policy, Legislation & Market Intelligence: Reform of Licensing; Ensuring best practice through IPM; Footfall monitor; Research examples of best practice from other towns and cities; 
Market intelligence including housing, retail, development tracker etc

Future City Centre Programme

P
age 290



Future City Centre 
Programme Housing led regeneration

P
age 291



Inclusive City Centre Living

Private Rental
Affordable 

Social rented 
from NIHE

Co-Ownership
Affordable 

Intermediate

Shared 
Housing 
(PBMSA)

Affordable 
Social rented 
from Housing 
Association

Build to Rent

Assisted Living / 
Sheltered 
Housing

Shared 
Housing (HMO)

Owner-Occupied

Accommodating

all Housing Needs

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 292



City Centre Living Vision

Work Stream 1 

Opportunities and challenges

• Review existing Policy and 
Plans and identify key issues 
or gaps. 

• Social and Physical 
Infrastructure

• Repurposing existing Buildings

• Existing planning consents

• Impact of Covid/Brexit

Work Stream 2

Understanding market demand 
and supporting new and 

existing communities

• Understanding market driven 
demand

• Existing communities and 
engagement

• Future City Centre Innovation

Work Stream 3

Investor demand and Council 
intervention

• Investor Demand

• Funding 

• Obstacles to Delivery 

• Site Viability 

• Options appraisal 

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 293



Housing Led Regeneration
Major Residential Led Opportunities

Corporation 
Street

Ormeau
Avenue

Dunbar
Street

Smithfield Gloucester 
Street

Linen Quarter Inner North West Greater Clarendon Cathedral Quarter Victoria Square

“Belfast City Council is committed to working collaboratively with public and private 
sector partners to deliver a once in a generation opportunity to deliver up to 1,600 
city centre homes; contributing to the Belfast Agenda’s ambition to attract 66,000 
new residents to the city by 2035”

Gasworks

Gasworks

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 294



City wide public sector lands: 
opportunities?

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 295



City Centre Development Tracker 2015-2020

City Regeneration & Development

OFFICE

1,500,000ft2 
completed

1,000,000ft2 
under 

construction

PBMSA

3,200 beds 
completed

4,500 beds 
construction

RESIDENTIAL

300 units 
completed

Over 4,000 at 
various stages 

of planning

HOTEL

1,500 beds 
completed

0 beds under 
construction

P
age 296



WATERSIDETRIBECA WEAVERS CROSS

Destination Hub THE SIXTHCITY QUAYS 3 SMITHFIELD YARD

Major Developments 

TITANIC QUARTER

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 297



City Centre as an 

Inclusive Place to Live, 

Work and Visit

Vibrant and Safe 

Streets

Remove Reliance 

on Car Travel

Community Focused 

Regeneration 

Active and Inclusive 

Public Realm and Green 

Spaces

Prioritise Walking, 

Cycling & Public 

Transport

Overcoming Severance 

with Surrounding 

Communities

Embracing our 

Rivers

Bolder Vision - Themes for ChangeFuture City Centre 
Programme

P
age 298



Bolder Vision - Indicative timelines

• Phase 2: April – September 21 – baseline and vision review; scenario 
development/options with potential interventions. Note - opportunity for pilot 
projects being brought forward in tandem with progression of final strategy and 
delivery plan. Thematic workshops and targeted stakeholder engagement and 
analysis, and draft strategy report for consultation in Phase 3.

• Phase 3: September 21 – April 22 – 12 week public consultation on Draft Strategy 
report and Delivery Plan, Strategic Outline Business Case, and Monitoring 
Strategy.

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 299



Future City Centre 
Programme

Reimagining 
Public Realm / 
Connected 
Spaces and 
Places

P
age 300



Future City Centre 
Programme

Reimagining Public Space

Linenhall Street

Adelaide StreetCastle Place

Castle PlaceUnion Street

Warehouse Lane

P
age 301



Portview Trade Centre

Maritime Belfast

Ballynafeigh Community
Development Association Bedford Street Parklet

Roar & Explore

Reimagining Public Space  -
Business Cluster & Community  Grants

Funded via DfC Covid-19 Revitalisation Fund

P
age 302



CLEANER CLEAN & GREEN

60+ NEW PLANTERS7 ENTRIES REFRESHED

WAYFINDING

24 NEW INTERPRETIVE & BUSINESS PANELS

A LUMINOUS CITY

12 NEW LED LIGHTING INTERVENTIONS

Reimagining
Public Space 
– Belfast 
Entries

A CITY IMAGINING

33 STREET ART COMMISSIONS

A LUMINOUS CITY

CITY WIDE PROGRAMMING

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 303



Addressing Vacancies Future City Centre 
Programme

High Street Stores with a presence in Belfast CC – Closed

Cath Kidston

Oasis & Warehouse

Easons
Laura Ashley

Tesco Metro (Royal Ave)
Carphone Warehouse

D W Sports
T. M. Lewin

Victoria’s Secret
LK Bennett

Hawkins Bazaar
Topshop and Topman (VS)

Miss Selfridge
Debenhams (CC)

Burton
Dorothy Perkins

Wallis
Argos (Rosses Court)

Thorntons
Flying Tiger

P
age 304



Building 
foundations 
and 
supporting 
longer-term 
recovery 

P
age 305



P
age 306



Engagement & 

Advocacy

Programme: 

Let’s Talk Belfast

Media & 

Communications

Research

Renewed Ambition

Real Estate Social Impact Piece:

Wider economic, social and environmental impact of Real Estate Investment in the Belfast City Region

3 lenses:
• Local and Direct Economic impacts 
• Social impacts 
• Environmental impacts

P
age 307



Clean, Green and Safe
• Enhancing the city centre experience through a clean, accessible, safe and pleasant 

environment. 

• Strategic Stakeholder Engagement Study and Action Plan for a Belfast City Centre Clean, 
Green, Inclusive and Safe Initiative. 

• Includes online survey that will offer the opportunity to feedback on ideas and priorities 
to help enhance the city centre, with a framework developed to engage with a range of 
key stakeholders. 

• It is intended that this work will inform the development of an action plan that will be 
embedded within an overall approach to the re-opening and future of the city centre and 
the longer-term priorities within the overall FCC programme.

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 308



Connecting the City

• Connect city centre to city neighbourhoods

• Create a green, walkable, cycable centre

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 309



Business and Investments

• Key priority: supporting and sustaining existing and new businesses, and attracting new investment

• A number of sectors that have remained more resilient eg tech based

• Holistic approach of the FCC work – not only looking at the city centre as a business location but also a tourism 
destination, a leisure space and a place where people live – will be critical for its long-term economic success. 
Place-based approach

• While the tech and digital sectors are likely to drive the city’s economic growth in the coming years, it is 
essential that we retain a focus on inclusive economic growth in order to ensure that our residents can benefit 
from the developments in the city.

• Taking account of planned investments such as the Innovation District, we will work with employers to develop 
targeted interventions to support those furthest from the labour market or with specific challenges to access 
employment and skills development support and find a job.

• A key focus of our work will be to support the revival of tourism and hospitality in the city centre, as well as a 
restructured retail offer focused on the uniqueness of Belfast and building on the wider work to reimagine and 
reshape the city core. Alongside this, we will be working with businesses outside the city centre to support 
business recovery in a drive to enhance their future resilience and sustainability. 

Future City Centre 
Programme

P
age 310



City VibrancyFuture City Centre 
Programme

Belfast Canvas 

Window Dressing

P
age 311



City Vibrancy
Future City Centre 
Programme

UNESCO City of Music 

2023 year of culture – Urban Forest

P
age 312



Future City Centre
Programme

Reimagining 
Public Realm / 
Connected 
Spaces and 
Places

1. Are there other priorities and/or opportunities we should pursue?

2. Scale of challenge will require enhanced and sustained partnership 

3. Maximising opportunities and benefits for city and local communities

4. Consider through multiple lens – investment, employment, social value

Considerations

P
age 313



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
NOTE OF BOARD MEETING 

Date: Monday 26 April 2021, 2pm-4pm 

Venue: via MS TEAMS 
 

Attendance:          Apologies: 

Belfast City Council  Alistair Reid (CHAIR)  Sustrans  Anne Madden 

DfC Ciaran Donnelly  Ulster University  Rafaella Folli 

NI Housing Executive  Grainia Long  WB Partnership Board Geraldine McAteer 

NI Housing Executive Ailbhe Hickey  FS Partnership Briege Arthurs 

Belfast Chamber of Trade 
and Commerce 

Simon Hamilton   DfI Liz Loughran 

Belfast Harbour Graeme Johnson    

VCSE Panel Nomination Craig Mc Guicken    

VCSE Panel Nomination Joan Devlin     

Eastside Partnership Chris Armstrong    

Greater Shankill Partnership Nicola Verner    

Queen’s University Alistair Stewart    

Titanic Quarter James Eyre    

Tourism NI  Martin Graham    

Visit Belfast  Gerry Lennon    

Urban Villages  Stephen McGowan    

NI Federation of Housing 
Associations 

Tracey Ellis    

Translink  Damian Bannon    

West Belfast Partnership  Joe Duffy    

Department for 
Infrastructure 

Simon Wells    

Belfast City Council Cathy Reynolds    

Belfast City Council Kevin Heaney    

Belfast City Council John Tully    

Belfast City Council Claire Patterson    

Belfast City Council Michelle Bagnall    

Belfast City Council Jamie Uprichard    

Belfast City Council Naomi Doak    

 

Item Discussion  Action & Lead(s) 

1. Reconfiguration of Belfast Agenda Boards and Programme Brief   

1.1 

 
Alistair Reid welcomed partners to the meeting. An update presentation was given 
on the reconfiguration of the Belfast Agenda boards and the Programme Brief 
which had been circulated to partners. Kevin Heaney advised that we would not 
be starting the process of action planning with a blank sheet but with a legacy of 
the work that had been carried out by the previous boards. 

Note 

2. Discussion on impact of Covid pandemic on city growth  

Page 314



 

2 
 

2.1 

 
During discussions the following key points had been highlighted by partners: 

 

 

 Ciaran Donnelly (DFC) 
 

 A significant programme of work had been carried out to date 

 Revitalisation Programme - £4.5m investment in this period 

 Housing led regeneration – work on-going in a cluster of sites 

 Ongoing engagement with Belfast CC on the Inner North West development 

 Car parking - comprehensive regeneration scheme / some interest from 
institutional investors  

 Writers Square - seeking Ministerial approval to move to development brief 

 Queens Quay - housing led scheme - planning approval for next year 

  

Follow-up discussion to be arranged on Writers Square development. 
 

Gerry Lennon (Visit Belfast) 

 Tourism massively impacted upon by pandemic 

 Vaccination critical and creating a new sense of positivity 

 Huge pent up demand for travel / significant personal disposable income 

 Oven ready campaigns to secure visitors  

 Tourism NI – implementing campaign in GB promoting NI as destination 

 Huge number of leads for potential conference events. Awaiting 
confirmation of release date to further pursue. 
  

James (Titanic Quarter) 

 Footfall has doubled over last year along maritime walkway and use of open 
space for recreational purposes. 

 Significant investment planned to enhance site infrastructure and access. 

 Key developments - Amazon distribution centre and sold to Pension Fund 
Investment | Olympic House and employment space for 1500 people.  

 Emerging projects aquarium / hotel / new infrastructure investment / 
emerging residential scheme 800 units  

 Crucial to work collaboratively to relaunch the city and enable projects to 
happen 

 Need to accelerate through processes - planning, site, construction and 
occupation. 

 

Alistair Reid (Belfast City Council)  

 Provided an update on the ongoing work being delivered through the 
Revitalisation Programme in terms of environmental and physical 
enhancements, enhancing cleanliness and safety of city centre, introducing 
social distancing and safety measures (e.g. signage, hand sanitisers, Covid 
aware scheme)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C.Donnelly / A.Reid 

3. Future City Centre Programme  

3.1 
 
 
 
 

3.2 

Cathy Reynolds (BCC) provided a presentation outlining the priorities and focus 
of the Future City Centre programme and alignment with the themes of 
identified for the reconfigured City Development board. It was emphasised that 
scenario planning was needed to see how partners can work together and make 
sure we are on the right track. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Alistair Reid (BCC) emphasised the huge task for the city centre but also the need 
to connect into wider city regeneration. During discussions the following key 
points had been highlighted by a number of partners: 

Simon Hamilton (Chamber of Trade and Commerce) 

 Difficult time to be judging the state of the city centre due to pandemic 

 Hospitality and retail will be in different positions coming out of the 
pandemic and need for focused attention 

 Tale of two cities with areas such as FinTech booming. People who rely on 
footfall are challenged 

 How do we attract and retain talent within the city important 

 Pandemic has exposed, and in many cases enhanced, weaknesses that are 
already existing within the city 

 Highlighted the need that to identify opportunities to repurpose 
development opportunities / space for the post-pandemic world 

 Time is right for reimaging and enhancing the connectivity between the city 
centre and the surrounding communities and neighbourhoods 

 Important that we diversify the offering within the city centre and make a 
destination of choice – how can we use streets / open / public spaces in a 
reimagined way 

 More acute focus needed on addressing the underlying issues facing the city 
and impacting upon its viability and functionality, eg market failure to bring 
forward housing 

  

Ailbhe Hickey (NIHE) 

 Keen to explore and maximise the role of housing in supporting recovery 
and supporting growth 

 Important that consideration is given to how all forms of housing can be 
brought forward across the city including e.g. social and affordable and 
integrated rent capacity 

 How can the NIHE link into the wider regeneration proposals within the city 
and seen as a key priority of our work going forward.  

  

Joan Devlin (VCSE Panel) 

 How do we share the prosperity within the city and across the city 

 Digital technology - how we improve the community and social outreach 
and support those who may be suffering digital poverty. 

 Highlighted the Belfast Agenda ambition to ‘reduce health inequalities by 
33%’ and the impact of Covid-19 on widening inequalities and need across 
communities and among vulnerable people (e.g. jobs loses and 
unemployment, mental health and emotional wellbeing, isolation and 
vulnerability etc).    

  

Alistair Reid thanked partners for their contributions and said that the roots of 
community planning were a balance of the three circles of economy, society and 
environment. 
 

ACTION – BCC to ensure that the Board is a platform for partners to bring 
forward and identify priority issues, challenges and/or opportunities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A.Reid / BCC 

4. Bringing Focus to Collaborative Actions  

4.1 

 
Alistair Reid outlined the process to be brought forward to collectively examine 
and identify those priority areas for collaborative focus for the Board going 
forward. Three staged approach including a review of previous actions plan and 

 

Page 316



 

4 
 

identify those elements which remain relevant | seek direct input and 
engagement with Board members to shape emerging action plan |workshop 
session to further refine and focus the action plan. 

4.2 During discussion the following points had been raised: 
 

Damian Bannon (Translink) 

 Important that we explore how we can lock-in some of the benefits resulting 
from the restrictions introduced in response to Covid-19 (e.g. less car use,  
improved air quality) 

 Statistics has shown a a growth in traffic and road based travel alongside 
easing of restrictions  

 Need to prioritise climate - avoid car led recovery and impact on air quality 

 Need to look at the impact of the pandemic on the future viability of office 
space in City Centre with the likely move to blended working approaches. Is 
there scope to consider alternative use including housing options. 

 Need to consider the city centre as a destination as a destination may be 
less retail orientated. We should focus on events spaces and experiences 
particularly for the evening and night time economy 

 Translink Plans - new network of services focusing on evening and weekend 
(new markets) | opportunities from Sunday trading. New ticketing systems 
to remove barriers from travel | new zero omissions fleet  | new shelters 
(living Shelters - e.g. green roofs -  with real time information | Glider Phase 
2 and Weavers Cross schemes coming forward. 

 

Chris Armstrong (Eastside Partnership) 

 Positives and negatives across the city 

 Neighbourhoods have responded well. We can learn and share knowledge 
across the city. Identify what works and scale it out. 

 Need to examine why people want to go into the city centre and make it a 
destination of choice.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.3 
 
 
 
 
4.4 

Alistair Reid advised that he would like to see the planning workshop pushed to 
late June/ July with the hope that status of restrictions and guidance would 
allow for partners to potentially meet in a physical setting safely.  
 

ACTIONS 

(i) Circulate the presentation slide-deck from Board meeting 

(ii) Pro forma to be re-circulate to board for consideration and completion  

(iii) Return of Pro forma by partners by Friday 7th May 2021 

(iv) Further consideration & confirmation provided on proposed workshop 

(v) BCC to consider how the Board is utilised to identify and share good 
practice and how this informs future action. 

 
 
 
 
 

N.Doak (BCC) 

N.Doak (BCC) 

ALL partners 

 

A.Reid / K.Heaney 

BCC 

5. Refresh of Belfast Agenda  

5.1 John Tully (BCC) presented detail of the requirement for, proposed process and 
timescales for the refresh of the Belfast Agenda. Highlighted the work being 
taken forward to realign and refocus its priorities for action will input into and 
align with the refresh process.  

Noted 

6.  A.O.B  

6.1 Alistair Reid advised that it was discussed and approved by the Community 
Planning Partnership the need for representation and input from the private 

Noted 

Page 317



 

5 
 

sector/developer would be seeking nominations for developers through the 
Renewed Ambition group and other forums. 

 

Page 318


	Agenda
	2a Translink, Belfast Transport Hub - Weavers Cross update
	3a DfC Housing Supply Strategy: Call for Evidence
	3b A Bolder Vision Update
	3c DfI - Roads Presentation to Special Committee
	Appendix 1 - Letter re. Cathedral Gardens Public Realm defects Condition Survey

	4a Sunday Opening Hours
	4b Just Eat Belfast Bikes Strategic Review
	APPENDIX A Just Eat Belfast Bikes Strategic Review
	APPENDIX B PROPOSAL TABLE
	APPENDIX C CONSULTATION RESPONSE
	8b Draft Belfast Bicycle Network 2017 Consultation
	Appendix 1


	APPENDIX D HISTORIC PERFORMANCE
	APPENDIX E BELFAST BIKES VANDALISMv2

	4c Employability NI Update
	5a Conference Support Scheme
	5b Update on City Events Programme
	Appendix 1 Updated 2021 Events Programme and costings

	5c Update on Dublin-Belfast Economic Corridor
	5d Economic Strategy Approach
	5e Renewed Ambition Programme and Social, Economic and Environmental Impact of Real Estate and Regeneration Investment.
	6a Committee Plan 21-22
	Appendix 1 Draft Committee plan 21-22

	6b Community Planning Update: City Development and Job, Skills and Economic Development Boards
	Appendix 1_JSE Board_Pack - 060521
	Appendix 2_City Deveopment Board_26-04-21_Pack_docx




